Assessment and impact of frailty and comorbidity in older cancer patients

Thesis by Lene Kirkhus 2020

Research Centre for Age-related Functional Decline and Disease Innlandet Hospital Trust Hamar, Norway

> Institute of Clinical Medicine Faculty of Medicine UNIVERSITY OF OSLO

© Lene Kirkhus, 2020

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-8377-698-0

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: Hanne Baadsgaard Utigard. Print production: Reprosentralen, University of Oslo.

Table of contents

Acknowledgement	. 5
SUMMARY	.7
List of papers	.9
Abbreviations 1	10
Essential definitions 1	12
Preface1	12
Introduction 1	14
Cancer - general aspects 1	14
Types of cancer 1	14
Epidemiology1	14
Staging of cancer1	16
Cancer treatment 1	16
Predictive and prognostic factors in cancer 1	19
Outcomes in cancer and cancer research	20
Quality of life2	20
Comorbidity and cancer	21
Definition, prevalence and impact2	21
Assessment of comorbidity2	22
Lung cancer: a model disease for comorbidity assessment?	23
The older cancer patient	24
Aging - general aspects	26
Common specific problems2	27
Summary	30
Frailty	31
Comprehensive geriatric assessment	33
Geriatric assessment in geriatric oncology and research	34
Assessment tools	34
GA to identify frailty	37
Knowledge base 2012 on GA and on frailty in cancer patients	37
Benefits of performing GA	37
The impact of frailty	38
Clinical judgment versus systematic registrations in oncology4	40
Objectives4	12
Materials and methods4	13
Study design4	13

The randomized clinical trial (PEG-study)	43
The prospective observational study	.44
Study population	.44
Paper I	.44
Papers II and III	45
Assessments	46
Paper I	.46
Papers II and III	.47
Handling of missing data	50
Analyses and statistical considerations	50
Paper I	50
Paper II	51
Paper III	51
Statistical analyses and significance	. 52
Ethical considerations	. 52
Paper I	. 52
Papers II and III	. 52
Results	53
Paper I. Comparing comorbidity ratings by the patients' oncologist/pulmonologist and trained researches in patients with advanced lung cancer	. 53
Paper II. Comparing frailty ratings by the patients' oncologists and a systematic modified geriatric assessment.	ł 53
Paper III. Long-term quality of life according to frailty status in older medical cancer patients	.54
Discussion	56
Methodological considerations	56
Study design	56
The study populations	56
Baseline assessments	58
Analyses and results, including follow-up data	63
Discussion of main results	65
Comorbidity as a prognostic factor in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer	65
Frailty in older cancer patients	66
Clinicians' assessments versus systematic registrations of comorbidity and frailty	. 69
Future directions	.71
Conclusions	.73
	~ 4

Acknowledgement

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all our patients for their willingness to participate in our study despite being in the vulnerable situation of having a newly diagnosed cancer or cancer relapse. Without them, this work would be impossible.

To my main supervisor Marit Slaaen; thank you for introducing me to geriatric oncology and for willingly sharing your immense knowledge both as a researcher and as a clinician. Thank you for helping me to see the big picture and for supervising me with such dedication and kindness.

I am also grateful for having a group of dedicated co-supervisors with immense knowledge in their respective fields. Thank you all for sharing your knowledge and always giving me constructive and helpful feed-back. To Bjørn Henning Grønberg: thanks for always giving me concrete feed-back and helping me communicate my message more clearly. Thank you, Siri Rostoft, for helping me put our results into the context of current knowledge in the geriatric oncology field, and thank you to Marianne Jensen Hjermstad for your extraordinarily keen eye for detail. Thank you, Geir Selbæk, for helping me make the message clearer for our readers and to Torgeir Bruun Wyller for helping me see our research from a geriatrician's point of view.

I was fortunate to share this study with Magnus Harneshaug, who is also writing his thesis on the project. It has been a privilege working alongside you. I hope this is not the last time I have you as a colleague.

To the study nurses Anne Mari, Gunvor, Signe, Torild, Bjørg, Gunhild, Anne, Stine, Marte, Astrid, Eva-Iren, Marit, Katrine, and Unn-Cathrin: thank you for seeing the importance of this study and helping me include and follow up on patients with such engagement and effort all these years.

Thank you, Birger Lillesveen and all the other colleagues at the Research Centre for Age Related Functional Decline and Disease, for welcoming me into your research group at Sanderud. To Jurate Saltyte Benth; thank you for helping me with the analytical work and explaining advanced statistical models in such an understandable way. Also, thank you to Knut Fjæstad and Cathrine Herzeth at Hamar cancer clinic for their flexibility in helping me be a PhD student alongside clinical work.

A warm thank you to all my family and friends for their support along the way: to Bente, for encouraging me to move to Hamar and apply for this PhD position in the first place, although you were not able to see me finish. Thank you, Naomi, for lending me an ear day and night whenever I needed to vent as I struggled along the way. To my wonderful parents for all their love, support, and encouragement that made me dare to take on this challenge, and to my siblings, Marie and Alise for always being there, rooting for me along the way.

Finally, to the two loves of my life, Espen and Astrid, for their love and patience in giving me the time and opportunity to finish this thesis.

SUMMARY

Background

Cancer is most commonly diagnosed in older individuals, and approximately half of patients are 70 years or older when diagnosed. Older cancer patients represent a heterogeneous group regarding their overall health, comorbidity, and cognitive and physical functioning. The term 'frailty' is used to describe patients with increased vulnerability to stressors, and in clinical practice geriatricians determine patients' levels of frailty by performing geriatric assessments. Geriatric assessment is a systematic approach assessing areas such as functional and nutritional status, physical and cognitive functioning, as well as a systematic assessment of comorbidity. However, such assessments are rarely applied in clinical oncology practice, and how well oncologists identify frailty and comorbidity in their older cancer patients has scarcely been investigated.

Overall survival is the traditional outcome in oncology research and is also highly relevant for the older cancer patient. However, other outcomes such as quality of life and physical functioning are highly prioritized in this patient group. Still, little knowledge exists on how frailty affects older cancer patients' quality of life and physical functioning during treatment and follow-up.

Aims

In a cohort of advanced NSCLC (non-small-cell lung cancer) patients, we aim to investigate clinicians' ability to identify comorbidity in comparison to a systematic assessment as well as the prognostic impact of comorbidity on survival. Furthermore, in a cohort of cancer patients \geq 70 years of age referred for systemic cancer treatment, we aim to investigate clinicians' ability to identify frailty in comparison to systematic assessment, the prognostic impact of frailty on survival, and the predictive ability of systematic frailty assessments on the course of quality of life and physical function at the first year of follow-up.

Methods

Two cohorts of cancer patients were studied in this thesis. In the first study (paper I), data from a randomized chemotherapy trial on advanced NSCLC were analysed. We compared an assessment by the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G) performed by three trained oncologists using hospital records and the extensive CIRS-G manual (CIRS-G scores), to a simpler assessment based on the original CIRS, performed by the patients' local oncologists/pulmonologists using a brief set of instructions (local investigators = LI-score). By both methods, the severity of comorbidity in 14 organ systems was graded 0 (no problem) to 4 (extremely severe). The agreement between methods was assessed using Bland-Altman analysis and weighted kappa statistics. The impact of comorbidity on survival was analysed by Cox regression.

In the second study (papers II and III), data from a prospective, observational study including patients \geq 70 years referred for medical cancer treatment were used. Patients were classified as frail or non-frail at baseline by a modified geriatric assessment; quality of life was measured using the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality-of-Life Questionnaire, administered at inclusion and again at 2, 4, 6 and 12 months. In paper II we compared oncologists' classification of frailty (onc-frail) based on clinical judgement with a

modified geriatric assessment (mGA). The agreement between the two frailty methods was assessed using kappa statistics and the impact of frailty on survival by Cox regression models. In paper III, focusing on physical functioning and global quality of life, we investigated whether frailty identified by a geriatric assessment was associated with higher risk of quality-of-life deterioration during cancer treatment and follow-up using linear mixed models.

Results

In paper I 375 patients were analyzed; the median age was 65 years, and 36% of the included patients were \geq 70 years. More comorbidities and higher severity were registered by the CIRS-G compared to the LI-score. Severe comorbidity was registered for 184 (49%) and 94 (25%) patients according to the CIRS-G and LI-scores, respectively, and the agreement was slight (weighted kappa value 0.18 [95% CI 0.10; 0.25]). Mean total score was 7.0 (0–17) (CIRS-G) versus 4.2 (0–16) (LI-score), and the mean severity index (total score/number of categories with score >0) was 1.73 (SD 0.46) versus 1.43 (SD 0.78). Neither the CIRS-G scores nor the LI-scores were prognostic for survival.

In papers II and III 288 patients were included; the median age was 77, and most patients had good performance status (PS) (PS 0–1, n = 244, 85%). Overall, 104/286 (36%) were onc-frail and 140/288 (49%) mGA-frail; the agreement was fair (kappa value 0.30 [95% CI 0.19; 0.41]), and 67 mGA-frail patients who frequently had localised disease, good PS and were receiving curative treatment were missed by the oncologists. Only mGA frailty was independently prognostic for survival (HR 1.61, 95% CI 1.14; 2.27; P:0.007). Furthermore, mGA-frail patients consistently reported poorer scores on all functioning and symptom scales. Independent of age, gender, and major cancer-related factors, frail patients had significantly poorer physical functioning and global quality of life during follow-up, and opposed to non-frail patients they had both a clinically and statistically significant decline in physical functioning from baseline to 12 months.

Conclusion

We found that the CIRS-G scores and LI-scores had poor agreement, indicating that assessment method affects the registration and reported prevalence of comorbidity. Thorough descriptions of how comorbidity is rated in trials are paramount due to lack of a standardized assessment.

Introducing a systematic assessment of geriatric domains can aid oncologists in identifying frail patients with poor survival. Furthermore, geriatric assessment identifies frail patients with increased risk of physical decline, poor functioning, and high symptom burden during and following cancer treatment. These patients may need early symptomatic treatment and introduction of early palliative care in parallel with their oncological treatment.

List of papers

Ι

Kirkhus L, Jordhøy M, Šaltytė Benth J, Rostoft S, Selbæk G, Hjermstad MJ, Grønberg BH. Comparing comorbidity scales: Attending physician score versus the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics. *Journal of Geriatric Oncology 7, 90-98, 2016*

II

Kirkhus L, Šaltytė Benth J, Rostoft S, Grønberg BH, Hjermstad MJ, Selbæk G, Wyller TB, Harneshaug M, Jordhøy MS. Geriatric assessment is superior to oncologists' clinical judgement in identifying frailty. *Br J Cancer 117, 470–477, 2017*

III

Kirkhus L, Šaltytė Benth J, Grønberg BH, Hjermstad MJ, Rostoft S, Harneshaug M, Selbæk G, Wyller TB, Jordhøy MS. Frailty identified by geriatric assessment is associated with poor functioning, high symptom burden and increased risk of physical decline in older cancer patients: Prospective observational study. *Palliat Med. 2019 Mar;33(3):312-322. doi:* 10.1177/0269216319825972. Epub 2019 Feb 4.

Abbreviations

aCGA: Abbreviated Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment

ADL: Activities of Daily Living

ALK: Anaplastic lymphoma Kinase

ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System

CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index

CGA: Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment

CIRS-G: Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for geriatrics

EBRT: External Beam Radiotherapy

ECOG-PS: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status

EGFR: Epidermal growth factor receptor

EORTC QLQ C30: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire C30

FACT-G: Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy General

GA: Geriatric Assessment

GDS-15: 15 item Geriatric Depression Scale

GFI: Groningen Frailty Indicator

Gy: Gray

HRQoL: Health related Quality of life

IADL: Instrumental Activities of Daily Living

ICD: International Classification of Diseases

KPS: Karnofsky Performance Status

mGA: Modified Geriatric Assessment

MCI: Mild Cognitive Impairment

MMSE: Mini Mental State Examination

MNA: Mini Nutritional Assessment

MoCA: The Montreal Cognitive Assessment

NBCG: Norwegian Breast Cancer Group

NLCG: Norwegian Lung Cancer Group

NSCLC: Non-small cell lung cancer

OS: Overall Survival

PG-SGA: The Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment

OARS: Physical Health Section, a subscale of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire

ORR: Overall response rate

PRO(M): Patient Reported Outcome (Measure)

PFS: Progression free survival

PS: Performance status

RCT: Randomized Controlled Trial

SCLC: Small cell lung cancer

SIOG: The International Society of Geriatric Oncology

SPPB: Short Physical Performance Battery

TTP: Time to progression

TUG: Timed up-and-go

VES-13: Vulnerable Elders Survey 13

QoL: Health Related Quality of Life

Essential definitions

<u>Older cancer patients:</u> In this study, cancer patients 70 years or older are defined as older.

<u>Comorbidity</u> is defined as a patient's coexisting diseases and conditions in addition to the index disease, which in this thesis is cancer.

<u>Geriatric assessment</u> is a systematic approach assessing areas such as functional- and nutritional status, comorbidity, medication use, as well as physical, cognitive, social and emotional function.

<u>Frailty</u> is widely recognized as a syndrome of increased vulnerability to adverse changes in health status [1]. The consensus definition for the term 'physical frailty' is 'a medical syndrome with multiple causes and contributors that is characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function that increases an individual's vulnerability for developing increased dependency and/or death' [2].

<u>Geriatric oncology</u>: A clinical and research field focusing on diagnosis and treatment of older cancer patients. Some countries have developed geriatric oncology clinics and established fellow training programs in geriatric oncology.

<u>Type of cancer</u>: In this thesis, 'type of cancer' is used as a synonym for cancer diagnosis according to organ of origin in accordance with ICD classification.

Preface

The number of older cancer patients is increasing due to a growing and aging population as well as a higher cancer incidence. Approximately half of patients are 70 years or older when diagnosed with cancer. Older cancer patients represent a heterogeneous group with respect to general health, comorbidity, and physical and cognitive functioning that can affect the course and outcomes of cancer treatment. Compared to their younger counterparts, it is more common for older patients to have additional problems, i.e., severe comorbidity, poor physical function, and reduced cognitive function. Due to an underrepresentation of older participants in clinical studies, problems related to age are seldom systematically registered.

Few guidelines exist on how to treat older cancer patients with their additional problems. These patients represent a daily challenge for the treating physician. In most cases it is up to the physician's individual judgement whether a patient should receive standard treatment or if a more tailored approach and/or reduced treatment intensity is more appropriate. Geriatric assessment is a cornerstone of diagnostic workups and treatment in geriatric medicine as well as a recommended appraisal when evaluating older cancer patients. Most countries have yet to implement this assessment into routine clinical practice. Knowledge of whether the physicians who treat cancer patients are able to precisely estimate and identify the patients' vulnerabilities without any systematic approach is lacking.

Furthermore, how age-related problems influence the course and prognosis of cancer has scarcely been investigated. In particular, this applies to outcomes highly prioritized by older patients like physical function and quality of life. Studies including systematic assessment of

age-related problems are needed to increase knowledge about older cancer patients. However, research in this field is challenging for several reasons, amongst them the lack of consensus as to which scales to include in a geriatric assessment. For instance, several comorbidity scales have been used in different studies, and we need knowledge of how the use of different scales may impact reported prevalence of comorbidity and also of what different physicians might emphasize and identify when rating comorbidity.

By studying two patient cohorts in this thesis some of the abovementioned challenges are addressed.

Introduction

Cancer - general aspects

Types of cancer

The term 'cancer' comprises a variety of malignant diseases with varying biological and clinical expressions as well as vastly different prognoses. These diseases can also be categorized in several ways, of which the broadest is to differentiate between solid and non-solid tumors. Generally, a solid tumor forms an abnormal mass, in contrast to leukemia, a systemic disease in which solid tumors are not generally formed [3]. Only patients with solid tumors were included in the studies in this thesis, and non-solid tumors are therefore not further discussed.

Solid tumors are categorized according to organ of origin and histological subtype as confirmed by histological or cytological examination. Carcinomas are most prevalent, developing from epithelial cells lining organs or skin. Common subtypes are squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma [4]. Some organs can have several histological subtypes depending on organ composition; in the lungs, for instance, squamous cell carcinomas develop from bronchial squamous epithelia and adenocarcinomas from glandular cells typically localized more peripherally in the lung [5].

In the last decade more detailed knowledge of tumor cell gene mutations, as well as their expression of surface receptors, has provided a tool for further sub-classification of tumors [6]. One example of this is BRAF-gene mutation in 10–20% of patients with colorectal cancer, indicating an especially poor prognosis [7]. In time, with detailed knowledge of the tumor cells, the traditional organ-based classification of cancer is likely to be less important. However, in this work, we have applied the traditional cancer classification based on primary organ.

Epidemiology

Cancer is a prevalent disease: in 2018, 18,078,957 new cases of cancer were estimated worldwide [8]. In Norway one in three persons will be diagnosed with cancer before the age of 75, and in 2018, a total of 34,190 new patients received the diagnosis [9]. Approximately half of new cancer patients will be diagnosed with one of the five most common solid tumors in Norway (Table 1) [9].

Table 1 Most common cancer diagnosis in Norway		
2018, all ages		
	No of patients	
Prostate cancer	4848	
Breast cancer	3596	
Lung cancer	3351	
Colon cancer	3068	
Malignant melanoma	2325	

Cancer survival is known to be improving [10]. Still, worldwide, 9.6 million cancer deaths are estimated for 2018. In Norway 11,016 cancer deaths were registered in 2017, and cancer is now the most frequent cause of death [9, 11]. The cancer types with the highest mortality rates are listed in Table 2.

Table 2 Cancer types with most frequently		
cancer deaths in Norway, all ages (2017)		
	No of patients	
Lung cancer	2138	
Colon cancer	1198	
Prostate cancer	934	
Pancreas cancer	787	
Breast cancer	594	

With the exception of a few cancer types (e.g., stomach cancer), the incidence of cancer has increased over the last 60 years [9]. The incidence is predicted to further increase from 12.8 million new cancer cases globally in 2008 to 22.2 million new cases in 2030 [12].

Most commonly, cancer is a diagnosis of older age (Figure 1). In Norway, about 46% of women and 50% of men are at least 70 years old at the time of diagnosis. This is reflected by the median age of diagnosis for most of the common cancers, being 66 for malignant melanoma, 69 for prostate cancer, 71 for lung cancer, and 73 for colon cancer [9]. Patients with breast cancer differ somewhat from the other most common cancer types with a median age at time of diagnosis of only 62 years [9].

Figure 1. Percentage distribution of cancer incidence by age in males and females (2014-2018) Source: The Norwegian Cancer Registry, Cancer in Norway 2018 [9]



The most common cancer types also vary according to age and gender, and the most common types in patients 70 years or older are listed in Table 3 [9].

Table 3 Most frequent cancer types in patients 70 years + (2014-2018)			
Male	Female		
Prostate cancer (27%)	Colon cancer (14%)		
Lung cancer (11%)	Breast cancer (14%)		
Skin, non-melanoma (10%)	Lung cancer (12%)		
Colon (9%)	Skin, non-melanoma (11%)		
Cancer of the urinary tract (9%)	Malignant melanoma (5%)		

Staging of cancer

At time of diagnosis, the extent of disease is staged according to the TNM classification [13]. The TNM classification can be based on exact tumor measurement by the pathologist if the patient is undergoing surgery (pathological TNM) or on imaging techniques, blood samples, and clinical examination (clinical TNM). T indicates the primary tumor, N the lymph node involvement, and M distant metastasis. A separate and detailed TNM classification exists for most solid tumors, and a simplified overview is given in Table 4. The classification has been updated several times and is currently in the eighth edition.

Table 4: The TNM classification system, schematically		
	Tx Cannot be evaluated	
	T0 No primary tumor	
Primary tumor (T)	Tis Carcinoma in situ	
	T1-4 Larger number indicates larger size /	
	extension into surrounding tissue	
	Nx Cannot be evaluated	
Pagional lymph nodes (N)	N0 No regional lymph nodes	
Regional lymph nodes (N)	N1-3 A higher number indicates more severe	
	lymph node involvement	
Distant metastasis (M)	M0 No distant metastasis	
	M1 Distant metastases present	

It has also been a tradition to classify the extent of disease into four overall stages (I–IV) based on the TNM classification [14], and this staging has been used to guide cancer treatment. Stage I represents a localized tumor with no lymph node involvement, stages II/III larger tumors with lymph-node involvement, and stage IV distant metastasis. Furthermore, when presenting incidence and prevalence according to stage, even simpler classifications are in use, e.g., the threefold classification—local, regional and metastatic—used in the annual report by the Norwegian cancer registry [9].

Cancer treatment

In general, all treatment of cancer is based on evidence from international clinical trials as well as on which treatment is accepted by health authorities. In Norway this evidence is summarized by national tumor groups, mainly organized according to organ of cancer origin, e.g., the Norwegian Breast cancer Group (NBCG) [15] and the Norwegian Lung Cancer Group (NLCG) [16]. Each group consists of national frontline experts appointed by the Norwegian Directorate of Health, and national treatment guidelines have been made for all types of cancers. These are regularly updated and easily available through the Norwegian

Directorate of Health web pages [17]. This helps to ensure equality of cancer treatment independent of hospital or localization.

The basic medical information needed for treatment planning is tumor origin, stage of disease, and histopathological results including morphology, immunohistochemistry, and, more lately, molecular biological investigations [6]. Based on this information, the primary decision on treatment can be made as to whether the disease may be cured (*curative treatment*) or the treatment will be *palliative*, i.e., aiming to prolong life, maintain quality of life, and reduce symptom burden [18]. For solid tumors this is largely dependent on stage of disease. Stage I-II disease generally is regarded as curable. With stage III, which is a locally advanced disease, treatment with curative intent may or may not be possible depending on tumor origin/localization. In stage IV cure is most likely not an option, except for possibly some cases with solitary metastasis or metastasis within one organ only (liver) and possibly patients in advanced stages who are treated with immunotherapy; however, longer follow-up data is needed to reach a conclusion. Curative treatment will often represent intensive treatment with considerable risk of side effects. Thus, for the final treatment decision, the patient's overall health status and relevant patient-related prognostic factors (see pages 19-20) should be considered. If curative treatment is not possible, intolerable, or even life threatening due to coexisting strong, negative prognostic factors, co-existing diseases, or functional impairments, palliative treatment is the option. When planning palliative treatment, it is important to carefully weigh the patient's prognosis, current quality of life, and benefits of treatment against side effects of treatment as well as the patient's goals for care.

Treatment modalities

Regardless of whether the cancer treatment will have a curative or a palliative intent, there are three main treatment modalities, or combinations of these, to be considered: surgery, radiotherapy, and systemic medical treatment.

Surgery is the cornerstone of the curative treatment of solid tumours, the aim being to radically remove the primary tumour tissue with appropriate margins. It has also emerged as having a prominent role in the treatment of metastases for certain cancer types such as liver or lung metastasis in colon cancer. Surgical removal of metastases in such situations has a well-documented life-prolonging impact [7]. Palliative surgery is often indicated to relieve or prevent symptoms, for instance, symptoms caused by urethral, gastrointestinal, or medullary obstructions.

Radiotherapy may be used in both palliative and curative settings and is most commonly administered by an external source of radiation, i.e., external beam radiation therapy (EBRT) [19]. Normally, curative EBRT is given in smaller daily doses (fraction) of 1.8-2 Gray (Gy) five days a week until the planned total dose is reached, which may be up to 78 Gy [20]. In a palliative situation, it is common to deliver hypofractionated treatment with higher daily fractions (3-8Gy) over a shorter time frame and with lower total doses [21]. Indication for palliative radiotherapy is to relieve pain and reduce neurologic symptoms caused by the tumour as well as symptoms of tumour obstruction or bleeding [21]. Side effects of radiotherapy are mostly localized to the target organ or adjacent structures; however, general side effects such as nausea, reduced physical capacity, and fatigue are common.

Stereotactic radiation represents a specific type of EBRT in which the radiation beam is precisely targeted to a smaller tumour volume and given in a few fractions (1-5) with much higher doses (6-24Gy) than in conventional radiotherapy [21].

Systemic treatment

Whereas surgery and radiation therapy represent localised treatment of tumour of origin, metastases, or symptoms, systemic treatment is medication that targets cancer cells irrespective of localisation.

Endocrine therapy is a highly relevant treatment in hormone sensitive cancers, e.g., breast and prostate cancer, due to favourable side effects compared to chemotherapy. Endocrine treatment can be recommended as adjuvant treatment in addition to surgery and/or radiotherapy and/or chemotherapy as well as in a palliative setting. Antioestrogens and aromatase inhibitors are commonly used in breast cancer and androgen-deprivation therapy in prostate cancer. Side effects of treatment include arthralgia, hot flashes, increased risk of thromboembolism, cerebrovascular events, and reduced bone density [22].

Chemotherapy is used in both palliative and curative settings. Most of the drugs favour dividing cells and typically work by direct or indirect damage of DNA or by affecting the cell division process, thus causing cell death. The most common mode of administration is intravenous. Different substances as well as combination regimens are used according to cancer type as recommended in the national treatment guidelines. Common side effects of chemotherapy include hematologic toxicity, nausea/vomiting, cardiotoxicity, and neurotoxicity. However, different chemotherapy regimens have different toxicity profiles [14].

In the last decade, introduction of **kinase inhibitors** as well as **monoclonal antibodies** has contributed to improved outcome in several cancer types [23]. These drugs affect specific molecular structures in the tumour cells and thus the tumours' ability to grow and metastasize. Choice of treatment is guided by examining whether the tumour cells produce specific mutated proteins or overexpress certain proteins targeted by the drug. Side effects from treatment are different from chemotherapy and dependent on the drug [6]. For instance, trastuzumab increases the risk of heart failure, and tyrosine kinase inhibitors' potential side effects include diarrhoea, cutaneous side effects, and increased liver enzymes.

Immunotherapy is a treatment that activates the patient's own immune system to kill cancer cells. This fairly new treatment is now being used as standard treatment for several cancer types, e.g., lung cancer and malignant melanoma, and has dramatically improved patient prognosis [24, 25]. Severe side effects of treatment include autoimmune diseases, e.g., colitis, hepatitis and dermatitis. When including patients in our study, immunotherapy was not part of the standard treatment offered.

Combination of modalities is often necessary for treatment with curative intent [14]. Prior to surgery/radiotherapy, *neoadjuvant treatment* may, for instance, be administered to shrink large tumors. After surgery or radiotherapy involving high risk tumors, *adjuvant treatment* is administered to reduce risk of cancer relapse, e.g., postoperative radiotherapy or postoperative adjuvant chemotherapy. Parallel to radiation therapy, *concomitant systemic treatment* can be administered to increase the treatment effect, e.g., chemotherapy in NSCLC patients. For patients with a palliative treatment intent, systemic cancer treatment is the cornerstone. A

combination with surgery or radiotherapy might, however, be indicated to achieve local control or help relieve symptoms.

Predictive and prognostic factors in cancer

A **predictive factor** can be used to select patients who are expected to benefit from a specific treatment [26]. In current guidelines, predictive factors are thus used to guide treatment decisions, e.g., only patients having breast tumours expressing a hormone receptor are treated with endocrine therapy [22], and only patients with mutations in the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), BRAF or anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK) are treated with their specific inhibitors [5, 27].

A **prognostic factor** is measured prior to treatment, providing information on patient outcome independent of received treatment [26], and it may be related to either the cancer disease per se or the individual patient's characteristics.

Major prognostic factors related to the cancer itself are type of cancer, stage of disease, and differentiation of tumour cells. Type of cancer significantly affects prognosis, independently of stage. For instance, the five-year relative survival rate for men with localized disease was 91.0% in melanoma of the skin compared with 59.0% for lung cancer (data from 2014–2018) [9]. Advanced stage and poorly differentiated tumours cells with few similarities to the normal organ cells indicate poorer prognosis compared to localized disease and well-differentiated cells, respectively [7, 28, 29]. Prognosis may also be affected by other histopathological and molecular pathological characteristics of the tumor cells such as microsatellite instability (MSI) and the Ki-67 protein [7, 22].

The most important prognostic patient characteristic that is actively used in guidelines and clinical practice is patients' performance status (PS) [7]. PS is a subjective measure of the patient's daily life function and capability of self-care, and it is most commonly assessed by the Karnofsky PS (KPS) [30] or the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) PS [31] scales. KPS is a scale ranging from 100 (normal, no complaints) to 0 (dead), whereas ECOG PS is a six-point scale worsening from 0 to 5 (Table 5). ECOG PS \geq 2 is generally regarded as a poor PS, and poor performance status (PS) is a strong negative prognostic factor [28, 32].

Grade	Definition
0	Fully active, able to carry on all pre-disease performance without restriction
1	Restricted in physically strenuous activity but ambulatory and able to carry out
	work of a light or sedentary nature, e.g. light housework, office work
2	Ambulatory and capable of all selfcare but unable to carry out any work
	activities. Up and about more than 50% of waking hours
3	Capable of only limited selfcare, confined to bed or chair more than 50% of
	waking hours
4	Completely disabled. Cannot carry on any selfcare. Totally confined to bed or
	chair
5	Dead

 Table 5. ECOG performance status [31]

Other well-established patient-related negative prognostic factors are weight loss and the presence of active systemic inflammation (measured in terms of inflammatory markers such

as C-reactive protein) [33, 34]. Males generally have poorer prognosis than females [28, 29], and patient-reported perceptions of symptoms, functioning and well-being, e.g., pain, appetite loss, physical functioning, and global quality of life, have also been found to be prognostic [29, 35]. Furthermore, higher age is a negative prognostic factor [29], and problems that are frequent in higher age may also influence prognosis. These issues are further elaborated in the paragraph 'Common specific problems' on page 27.

Outcomes in cancer and cancer research

In all cancer treatment, the main aim is to provide benefits that are relevant for the patients, i.e., improved survival, reduced morbidity, and/or improvement of symptoms or quality of life.

Traditionally, overall survival (OS) has been the gold standard endpoint when testing new cancer treatments [36]. During the last decades, however, and in particular for the evaluation of new drugs, surrogate endpoints such as progression free survival (PFS), time to progression (TTP), and overall response rate (ORR) are increasingly being used [36]. These endpoints are all based on measurements of tumor size and changes.

To evaluate treatment effect on patients' experience of symptoms and quality of life, reports from the patients themselves are needed. Such endpoints are referred to as patient reported outcomes (PRO), and they encompass information retrieved directly from the patient, without being filtered through clinicians or anyone else [37]. PRO measures (PROMs) are developed and used for this purpose. Focusing on person-centred care, the use of PRO and PROMs is increasingly advocated in clinical research as well as in clinical practice [37].

PRO and PROMs cover a range of aspects including quality of life.

Quality of life

The World Health Organization (WHO) defines quality of life as 'an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards, and concerns. It is a broad ranging concept affected in a complex way by the person's physical health, physiological state, personal beliefs, social relationships and their relationships to salient features of their environment.' [38]. In clinical practice and research the narrower term 'health-related quality of life' (HRQoL) is used to include aspects of quality of life affected by a disease or its treatment [39]. The shortened QoL is used for HRQoL in this thesis.

Older individuals in the general population report poorer QoL compared to their younger counterparts [40]. Aspects of QoL also vary within the cancer population: a study found that older patients reported poorer functional status and more constipation but better social functioning and less insomnia compared with younger patients [41].

Measurement of QoL

Several instruments have been developed for the assessment of QoL; some are general and may be used independently of patient population characteristics, whereas others are specific to a certain disease or condition. Two commonly used QoL questionnaires have been developed for cancer patients in general, irrespective of cancer diagnosis. These are the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy General (FACT-G) and the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire (QLQ-C30) [42, 43]. None of the questionnaires have been proven to have better psychometric properties than the

others [44]. The FACT-G is mostly used in studies in the US, and the EORTC QLQ-C30 is mostly used in European studies such as the two studies on which this thesis is based.

The content of the EORTC QLQ-C30 reflects the multidimensionality of QoL, hence, the questionnaire includes scales and items covering the global dimension 'global QoL' as well as several specified subdimensions like physical function, and various symptoms [42]. EORTC QLQ-C30 is validated and widely applied in different populations of cancer patients as a method for measuring QoL [44, 45].

Comorbidity and cancer

Definition, prevalence and impact

Comorbidity can be defined as any co-existing ailment other than the disease of interest [46]. Thus, in this thesis, comorbidity refers to any disease or disorder the patient has in addition to cancer.

Comorbidity in cancer patients is common, and the number of comorbidities increases with advancing age [47, 48]. A large cross-sectional study reported that patients between 65 and 84 years had a mean of 2.6 diseases, and those 85 years or older had 3.6 [48]. Data on Medicare beneficiaries in the United States have indicated that about 40% of cancer patients aged > 65 years have at least one comorbidity, and 15% have two or more [49]. However, reported prevalence varies largely across studies, e.g., 14–68% in colorectal cancer patients, 20–35% in breast cancer patients, and 26–81% in lung cancer patients [50]. The prevalence is influenced by the characteristics of the target population as well as the methods used for comorbidity assessment [51]. Besides being related to older age, the prevalence of comorbidity is associated with socioeconomic status and increases with higher levels of deprivation or poverty [51]. Moreover, some types of cancers such as lung cancer are associated with more comorbidities than others [49, 51, 52]. This may be attributed to shared risk factors between type of cancer and the co-existing disorders. Typical examples are smoking being a risk factor for lung cancer as well as for vascular diseases and COPD, as well as the association between hepatitis and hepatocellular carcinomas.

The presence of comorbidities in cancer patients is associated with poorer QoL, increased health care needs [51, 53], and poorer OS, the latter being a consistent finding in a range of studies [49-51]. Although more sparsely documented, comorbidity is also found to adversely affect cancer-specific survival, but results from existing studies are not entirely consistent [50, 51]. The reported impact of comorbidity on cancer patients' survival is, however, variable and seems to depend on several factors including characteristics of the target population, the severity of the comorbid disorders, type and stage of cancer, and which treatments are received [51].

Obviously, comorbidities can represent a competing risk of death. A patient may for instance die from heart failure long before death would be expected if the cancer prognosis is good, whereas the heart condition may be of more minor relevance if the cancer prognosis is poor. In accordance with this, there is evidence that the impact of comorbidity on survival is greater in early stage cancer or cancers with good prognoses than when the prognosis is poor [50, 51, 53]. Comorbidity may also influence choice of treatment and thereby survival. It is well documented that comorbidity is associated with the receipt of less cancer treatment. As summarised by three review papers, patients with comorbidities are less likely to receive curative surgery and adjuvant chemotherapy, and they more often receive chemotherapy with reduced doses or dose delays [50, 51, 54]. There may be good clinical reasons for this. In

some cases, a patient's comorbid condition or disease can be a contraindication for standard cancer therapy. For instance, poor kidney function might exclude patients from having chemotherapy eliminated primarily by the kidneys, and heart disease can exclude patients from potential cardiotoxic treatment that might worsen heart function. Furthermore, patients with comorbidities are in general more vulnerable. In surgery there is an increased risk of morbidity and mortality [50, 51], and a review addressing the tolerance of chemotherapy in patients with comorbidities found a higher incidence of grade III–IV toxicities in these patients [54]. When toxicities occur, the consequences may be more serious. In comparison to patients without severe comorbidities, those who have such conditions may, for instance, be more likely to experience neutropenic fever or death when being neutropenic and to be hospitalised due to chemotherapy-related side effects [53, 55]. Overall, these considerations may result in treatment that is inferior in terms of cancer control, especially in older cancer patients in whom comorbidities are more frequent.

Decisions on withholding or modifying standard treatment regimens for cancer patients with comorbidities are, however, not consistent [56], and they may not always be justified. There is a significant knowledge gap on how comorbidities, cancer, and cancer therapies interact and how outcomes of various cancer therapies for various types and stages of cancer are affected [51]. Patients with comorbid conditions are often excluded from participation in randomised controlled trials (RCTs) [57], and, when included, comorbidity is often not systematically assessed or is assessed by summary measures that provide little information on the impact of individual comorbidities [54]. Consequently, treatment guidelines are often vague, and decisions are left to the individual physician's judgment. Thus, further research is highly needed, and one basic requirement is that assessment of comorbidity among cancer patients is improved.

Assessment of comorbidity.

Several methods for measuring comorbidity have been developed; a review reported 21 different methods had been applied in studies of cancer patients [58]. The most commonly used approaches may be classified as either counts of individual conditions, indices weighting conditions in accordance with their relative impact on key outcomes, and organ- and system-based approaches. The wide range in reported prevalence, as cited in the foregoing chapter, may partly be explained by the variety of methods used for measurement. As the different measures may capture a patient's comorbidity burden in different ways due to differences in construct, content, and complexity [58], the measure being used may also affect study results regarding the impact of comorbidities on survival.

Most comorbidity measures are accomplished by physicians or researchers based on clinical notes or administrative data such as registration of diagnosis according to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) [58], but patient reports have also been used. An example is the Physical Health Section, a subscale of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire (OARS), developed by Fillenbaum et al. and used in studies of older cancer patients by Hurria et al. [59, 60]. The OARS consists of a list of diseases/conditions as well as a grading of how these conditions affect patients' daily activities.

Amongst the most commonly used scales are the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) and the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G) [61]. The CCI is an example of a weighted index. It consists of 19 categories of conditions and diseases [62]. Each category is registered as being present or not and has a predefined weighting from 1 to 6, based on the adjusted risk of mortality. The sum of all the weights results in a single comorbidity score for the patient. The CCI was developed with hospitalized medical patients and can be scored from

hospital charts or by using the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes for diagnoses [63].

CIRS-G is an example of an organ- or system-based approach and was originally developed by Linn et al. [64]. Comorbidities are classified according to 14 organ systems graded on a scale from 0 (no problem) to 4 (extremely severe) (Table 6). Miller et al. modified the CIRS to better reflect the geriatric patient [65], developed a scoring manual [66], and renamed the scale 'CIRS-G'. The CIRS-G manual was later updated according to changes in diagnostic criteria and treatment of common diseases [67].

Table 6:		
Grading CIRS-G in individual organ systems		
"0" Indicating no problem		
"1" current mild problem or past significant problem		
"2" a moderate disability or morbidity requiring "first-line" therapy		
"3" a severe/constant significant disability or an "uncontrollable" chronic problem		
"4" an extremely severe/immediate treatment required /end organ failure/severe		
impairment in function		
Rating CIRS-G		
Total score = the sum of scores in all organ systems		
Severity index = total score divided on the number of categories with a score >0		
Number of categories with level 3 severity		
Number of categories with level 4 severity		

According to the CIRS-G scoring manual, it is standard procedure to calculate total score, severity index, as well as number of categories with level 3 and level 4 comorbidity (Table 6) [68].

In comparison to the CCI, the CIRS-G is more sensitive since all coexisting diseases are registered [69], and in comparative studies, it appears to provide more prognostic information [70]. Thus, the CIRS-G is considered by many to be the gold standard for measuring comorbidity. It is, however, more time-consuming and less feasible for multicentre studies since assessment by specifically trained personnel is recommended [69]. For the same reasons and despite its advantages, the CIRS-G is also difficult to apply as part of routine clinical practice where, optimally, comorbidity should be systematically rated in all cancer patients. To facilitate an implementation process in busy oncology clinics, brief ratings without the need for a manual or training would be preferred.

Lung cancer: a model disease for comorbidity assessment?

The main risk factor and cause of lung cancer is smoking, which also explains 80–90% of cases [5]. Smoking is also associated with cardiovascular disease and chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases, and comorbidity is particularly prevalent in lung cancer patients [52]. Overall, lung cancer patients also represent an older cancer cohort. Median age at diagnosis is about 71 years. Thus, to study the impact and assessment of comorbidity in this patient population is particularly relevant.

In 2018 3,351 patients were diagnosed with lung cancer in Norway, representing approximately 10% of all new cancer patients in that year [9]. At time of diagnosis, 45%

presented with metastatic disease. Although treatment and survival have improved during the last decade, lung cancer is a highly lethal disease with a five-year relative survival rate of 19% in men and 26% in women [9]. A total of 2,138 patients died of lung cancer in 2017, thus making this the cancer type with the highest mortality rate (Table 2).

The overarching classification of lung cancer is between small cell (SCLC) and non-smallcell lung cancer (NSCLC). The majority of patients have NSCLC, representing 85% of lung cancer patients. As for other solid tumours, NSCLC is staged into I–IV based on the TNM classification. Stages I–II are eligible for curative treatment, which is also the case for some patients in stage III. In cases with the largest tumour size and/or most extensive lymph node involvements (stages III, B–C) [5], however, the patients are offered palliative treatment as are patients with stage IV disease. Most NSCLC patients (\approx 70 %) undergo palliative treatment [5].

First-line palliative treatment in NSCLC has evolved considerably during the last decade. Ten to fifteen years ago, the standard treatment was palliative chemotherapy with a carboplatinbased doublet regimen, regardless of histological subtype. The regimens used included carboplatin plus either vinorelbine, gemcitabine, or pemetrexed [71]. Currently, however, choice of treatment is more complex and guided by morphology (squamous versus nonsquamous histology) and further investigation of the tumour cells to detect EGFR mutations, ALK mutations, and cancer cell expression of programmed cell death-L1 (PD-L1). In case of EGFR mutations (\approx 7.5%), ALK-mutations (2-5%), or ROS1-mutations (1–2% of adenocarcinomas), targeted therapy with specific tyrosine kinase inhibitors is recommended. For patients with non-squamous histology without these mutations as well as for patients with squamous histology with PD-L1 expression >50%, immunotherapy is the first-line treatment of choice. For patients with non-squamous histology without any of these molecular markers present, chemotherapy still is the standard first-line treatment option [5]. As a result of introducing targeted therapy and immunotherapy these last few years, the treatment for NSCLC patients has changed considerably, and this new therapy represents a dramatic improvement in the prognosis for advanced NSCLC patients [24, 72].

The older cancer patient

Age is the most important single risk factor for cancer, as reflected by a steep increase in cancer incidence with increasing age (Figure 1, page 15) [9]. Because of an aging population as well as increasing cancer incidence, the number of older cancer patients is predicted to rapidly increase [73]. In Norway, the number of cancer patients ≥ 65 years more than doubled from 1975 to 2009, and those ≥ 80 years had a threefold increase from approximately 2,100 to 6,600 patients [74]. According to future estimations, it is expected that by the year 2040 almost 16,000 patients ≥ 80 years will be diagnosed with cancer annually [74].

Due to their increasing number, but also for several other reasons, older cancer patients represent a challenge for our health care systems as well as for the individual treating oncologist. First, they are a heterogenous group in terms of health status. This implies a considerable variation in life expectancy within the same age group (Figure 2), which should be considered when cancer treatment is selected [75]. For instance, if a 75-year-old woman belongs to the fittest 25th percentile of the population, she is expected to live another 17 years, whereas if she belongs to the 25th percentile with the poorest health status, her life expectancy may come down to 6.8 years. In any case, most cancer diseases, if poorly controlled, are likely to shorten life spans, making survival an outcome just as important among older cancer patients as among those who are younger.

Figure 2. Upper, Middle and Lower Quartiles of Life Expectancy for Women and Men at Selected Ages.





Data from the Life Tables of the United States.9

Differences in health status are also highly relevant in relation to treatment tolerance. In general, older patients are regarded as more vulnerable than their younger counterparts, with increased risk of chemotoxicity, side effects of radiation therapy, and increased morbidity and mortality after cancer surgery [76-78]. However, selected subgroups of fit older patients are known to tolerate and benefit from standard treatment equally to younger patients [79], whereas a large group will have increased risk of treatment complications [80]. Chronological age alone does not capture this heterogeneity.

Second, treatment preferences in older patients might differ from those of their younger counterparts. According to a systematic review, a range of factors can influence older patients' decisions about accepting or declining cancer treatment, amongst them risk of side effects from treatment and current quality of life [81]. Older patients may be less willing to exchange current QoL for smaller survival benefits [82]. It is thus crucial to ensure that the side effects of treatment, which might severely affect QoL do not exceed the potential treatment benefits, especially when planning palliative treatment, and to include the patient in the decision-making process. Knowledge about how treatment affects patients' QoL is thus highly relevant. Additionally, ability to maintain independent living is highly prioritized, and older patients have been found to prefer dying over severe impairment and dependence [83, 84]. As independence and physical function are closely interconnected, physical function is an additional outcome of cancer treatment that is highly important.

Thirdly, and probably most importantly, a proper knowledge base on how to treat older cancer patients is lacking [85]. Older patients are consistently underrepresented in clinical trials due to strict inclusion criteria [86], and co-existing health problems have seldom been systematically assessed and reported [61]. Thus, information about treatment effect is mostly based on younger patients and a group of highly selected older cancer patients. Furthermore, outcomes of particular relevance to older people, such as QoL and physical function, have received little attention [87]. Consequently, translation of research results into a benefit for the everyday older cancer patient is challenging, and as guidelines rarely address how to handle patients with health problems that are frequent in older age [88], choice of treatment is subjected to the judgement of individual physicians, and thereby risks of both under and overtreatment exist.

Undertreatment is reported in several studies [89-92] and may also be reflected by an increased difference in survival between older and younger patients [93, 94]. The largest difference in survival is found within the first year after cancer treatment, indicating inferior treatment. The potential risk of overtreatment has received less attention. It is, however, documented for older patients with localized prostate cancer [95], and, obviously, if results from a younger, healthier population are transferred to older patients with poorer health, there is a risk that the adverse effects may be larger than the benefits.

In summary, health status of older cancer patients varies substantially; their preferences may differ from younger patients, and there is a lack of knowledge on how to select the appropriate treatment for each patient. For treatment decisions in older patients, aging as well as common health problems related to aging have to be considered as all these may affect the cancer trajectory as well as tolerance for cancer treatment.

Aging - general aspects

The process of aging is complex, and it is yet to be sufficiently explained. The dominating theory, however, explains aging as a consequence of gradual accumulation of cellular damage during life.

Figure 3. Damage and aging "Reprinted from Cell, Vol 120/4, Kirkwood, Understanding the odd science of aging, 437-447, Copyright (2020), with permission from Elsevier [96]



As visualized in Figure 3, we accumulate molecular damage throughout life [96]. A constant threat of different forms of stressors affects the rate at which this molecular damage occurs.

Genetic factors mostly affect our ability for maintenance and repair, and environmental factors can either increase or decrease this rate of molecular damage. In Figure 3 red colors represent environmental stressors that increase the rate of molecular damage, green colors factors that could counter this accumulation of molecular damage. In the long run, age-related frailty and disability occur when active maintenance fails.

The cellular damage accumulating in an organ over time leads to a reduction in physiological and functional reserves, affecting vital systems, i.e., the immune, endocrine, cardiovascular and respiratory systems, as well as skeletal muscle, kidney, and brain [1]. For instance, increased stiffness of the heart muscle as well as fibrosis of the conduction system increase the risk of developing heart failure. In the lungs decline of elastic recoil as well as stiffening of the chest wall lead to reduction in vital capacity, and mucus clearance is less efficient due to poorer mucociliary function, increasing the risk of lung infections [97]. This reduction in physiological and functional reserves leads to increased vulnerability for stressors like cancer and cancer treatment. Furthermore, body composition changes with age: muscle mass and strength diminish (sarcopenia), and the ratio of body fat increases [98]. Because of these changes, older patients have increased risk of adverse effects due to alterations in the pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of drugs, and sarcopenia is associated with increased risk of chemotoxicity and poorer survival [99]. Still, the rate of the aging process is highly individual. Patients of the same chronological age therefore present with marked differences in health status and reserves.

The terms 'biological age' and 'functional age' have been introduced to indicate a patient's health status and reserve capacity. A biologically or functionally old patient has more deficits and less reserve capacity compared to the average person of the same chronological age [100]. To be able to estimate a patient's biological age, there is a general need for assessing vulnerabilities and reserves in a systematic manner.

Common specific problems

Comorbidity

Comorbidity becomes more common with increasing age and may significantly affect cancer treatment and outcomes as already elaborated (see Comorbidity and cancer, pages 21–22)

Polypharmacy

The term 'polypharmacy' covers the use of multiple concurrent medications, but a range of definitions has been used [101]. The most frequent is to count the number of regular medications. Five or more medications is a commonly applied cut-off point [101, 102], which also indicates a need for reviewing patients' medical charts [103].

Since the number of chronic diseases increases with age, older people regularly use a correspondingly high number of medications. In 2017 92% of Norwegian home-dwelling persons \geq 65 years had at least one prescription drug; 58% of drug users \geq 65 years used >5 drugs [104]. Polypharmacy is also common in cancer patients. Reported frequencies range from 26 to 68% using a cut-off of five or more medications [105-108]. The large difference between studies is probably caused by differences in study populations with respect to treatment, stage, and location of assessment (inpatient/outpatient).

Although several regular medications may be needed to control a patient's symptoms and chronic conditions, polypharmacy may lead to poor compliance and adherence as well as

increased risk of drug-to-drug interactions and adverse events, and this is associated with increased morbidity and mortality [109, 110]. In cancer patients, polypharmacy is reported to increase the risk of postoperative complications, frailty, and chemotoxicity [102].

Impaired physical function

'Physical function' is a broad term that encompasses body structures and function as well as activities and participation [111]. The term is, however, inconsistently used and defined [112], and it may refer to mobility, strength, and endurance in the performance of simple tasks such as walking and sit-to-stand as well as the ability to perform more complex daily life activities, usually referred to as 'functional status'. The latter includes *basic* activities of daily living (ADL) that are required for self-maintenance, i.e., eating, dressing, going to the toilet and maintaining personal hygiene as well as more advanced *instrumental* activities of daily living (IADL), i.e., paying bills, doing laundry, grocery shopping, cooking, and taking medications. A patient's ability to perform ADL and IADL are closely related to strength and mobility [113].

As the aging process is highly individualized, the reduction in strength, endurance and mobility varies considerably among older individuals. In general, however, the reduction increases with advancing age. Chronic conditions or disorders may further contribute to this deterioration. Thus, impairment in functional status is common in older adults. A large American study of community-dwelling adults \geq 65 years reported one in four having disability in either ADL or IADL [114]. In another study 17% of those aged 65–69 reported ADL/IADL disability, but this increased to half of those \geq 85 years. For older patients with cancer, studies report varying prevalence of impairment in functional status: in surgical colorectal cancer patients, 15% of patients had ADL dependence and 17% IADL dependency, while in patients with various types of cancer scheduled for first-line chemotherapy, 32% had abnormal ADL scores and 73% abnormal IADL scores [106, 115].

Impairments in physical function and the association to adverse health outcomes and poorer survival in older adults is a consistent finding across studies and settings [116-119]. In cancer patients impairment in physical function measured using objective mobility tests is a significant predictor of poorer survival and may also predict physical decline and treatment complications [120]. IADL impairment in older patients has been reported as predictive for survival, chemotherapy toxicity, complications after cancer surgery [35, 106, 121, 122], and PS, which is the traditional measure of functional status and general health in oncology and is established as an important prognostic factor in cancer patients in general (see 'Predictive and prognostic factors in cancer', pages 19-20). Finally, impairment in functional status may also negatively and profoundly affect QoL [123].

Overall, impairment in physical function has a major impact on the older cancer patients' disease trajectories. Thus, assessment of physical function is of substantial importance for several reasons: for evaluation of the older patients' vulnerability, for prognostication, for treatment decisions, and to evaluate outcomes of cancer treatment.

Geriatric syndromes

'Geriatric syndrome' is a term used for common clinical conditions in older patients with a multifactorial aetiology that typically involves more than one organ system. Examples of conditions commonly included under geriatric syndromes are malnutrition, falls, dementia, and depression.

Malnutrition

Malnutrition is a state caused by reduced intake or uptake of nutrition leading to altered body composition (decreased fat free mass) and body cell mass [124] and is considered a geriatric syndrome with several contributing factors [125]. Being at nutritional risk or malnourished are common in old age and in patients with chronic conditions like cancer. The prevalence of malnutrition depends on the population investigated. Hospitalized patients have a much higher prevalence than home-dwelling elderly [126]. In a recent publication addressing Norwegian hospitalized patients, 40% of patients 80 years or older were at nutritional risk, as were 44% of cancer patients of all ages. Among cancer patients 80 years or older, more than half were at nutritional risk [127]. The prevalence of malnutrition in cancer patients varies according to stage of cancer as well as tumor type. A study of 1,952 treatment-naive cancer patients of all ages reported 40% of patients with non-metastatic and 62% of patients with metastatic disease to be malnourished or at risk for malnutrition, and patients with gastroesophageal, pancreas, and lung cancer had an especially high risk [128].

In cancer patients, side effects from treatment, e.g., nausea, stomatitis, and obstipation, can worsen malnutrition. Experiencing weight loss is a poor prognostic factors for survival in a range of studies, and weight loss is inversely correlated with quality of life [99, 129]. Being malnourished increases the length of hospitalizations and is associated with increased mortality and a lower completion rate of chemotherapy [105, 106, 130, 131]. Despite the importance of assessment of nutritional status in older cancer patients, recent reviews have shown that it was only included in 24% and 55% of studies [132, 133].

Falls

Falls are common in the geriatric population: one or more falls during the past year were reported in 19–44% of persons \geq 65 years in systematic reviews [134]. In cancer patients, the reported frequency of falls varies, as does the time frame for which falls have been reported [135]. However, according to a systematic review, most studies have reported an incidence of 20–30% in cancer outpatients within the last 3 to 12 months [135].

The multifactorial etiology of falls can make it difficult to determine which factors led to the patient falling. Common risk factors are weakness, balance and gait disorders, poor eyesight and cognitive impairment, which are all common with old age [136]. The severity of falls can be increased by coexisting disorders. For instance, patients with osteoporosis who fall have an increased fracture risk, and patients with conditions requiring anticoagulants have a higher risk of bleeding. Overall, falls are an indication of increased vulnerability, and they are generally associated with increased morbidity and mortality [137].

Hurria et al. developed a predictive model of severe chemotherapy toxicity for cancer patients and found that falls during the past six months was a predictive factor [121]. Furthermore, side effects of cancer treatment can increase the patient's risk of falls. Such side effects may be general such as fatigue and physical decline that may influence balance and strength. More specific side effects of cancer treatment may also increase the risk of falls. For instance, patients with symptoms of chemotherapy-induced peripheral neuropathy were found to be 2.5 times more likely to fall/nearly fall in a prospective study [138], and neurotoxic chemotherapy was associated with fall-related incidents (mainly fractures) in a retrospective study [139]. Knowledge about falls in older cancer patients prior to treatment is therefore important both for treatment planning and to initiate interventions to prevent future falls. Special attention to patients receiving neurotoxic chemotherapy may be indicated.

Cognitive impairments

With normal aging a gradual decline in certain cognitive abilities is usual; however, these agerelated changes are subtle and do not impact functioning [140]. Some comorbidities, e.g., previous cerebral infarcts or haemorrhages, can affect a patient's cognitive function. Furthermore, mild cognitive impairment (MCI) and dementia both become more frequent with age [141, 142]. MCI is defined as objectively reduced cognitive function not severe enough to affect a patient's ability to perform daily activities [141]. Dementia is a syndrome caused by a variety of brain disorders, defined by a decline in memory and at least one other cognitive function which interferes with daily life activities and preserved awareness and precipitates changed social behaviour or a decline in emotional control or motivation [143]. Dementia is divided into different subtypes, and patients' levels of functioning depends on the severity of disease, ranging from mild to severe. Patients might have symptoms years before being diagnosed; cognitive decline is suggested to start from 3–7 years before MCI diagnosis and from 1–11 years before dementia diagnosis [144].

MCI is reported in 10–20% of patients at 65 years of age [141]. The prevalence of dementia increases with increasing age; estimated prevalence is 4.3% among 70-year-old persons and 43.1% in 90-year-old persons [142]. In cancer patients, the reported prevalence of cognitive dysfunction varies considerably, from 6% to 42% using the Mini Mental State Examination [145]. The heterogeneity in study populations with respect to diagnosis, stage, as well as age groups, however, makes direct comparisons between trials challenging.

Having MCI or dementia may affect a patient's understanding and ability to adhere to a medicine regimen, and as dementia progresses, the risk of non-adherence or hospitalization due to errors in medication use increase [146]. Patients with a dementia diagnosis have increased risk of several negative health outcomes, amongst them being hospitalized [147]. Furthermore, when patients are hospitalized, having a dementia diagnosis increases the complication rates, e.g., of having delirium and infection [148]. In cancer patients a dementia diagnosis is reported to delay the diagnosis of cancer, and in a surgical cancer cohort those having cognitive impairment had up to a six times higher hazard ratio for dying during the first two years of follow-up [149, 150]. Furthermore, in the course of cancer treatment, subgroups of patients experience cognitive decline [151, 152]. Knowledge of patients' cognitive function is thus highly relevant for oncologists when planning treatment.

Depression

Depression in cancer patients is common: prevalences from 5.6–13.1% have been reported in patients with solid tumors; lung cancer patients had the highest prevalence [153]. In older cancer patients, depressive symptoms were reported ranging from 10 to 65% [145] and from 13 to 61% [154] according to two systematic reviews of geriatric assessment. Older cancer patients are less likely to receive treatment for depression compared with their younger counterparts [153]. Depression is associated with increased mortality risk in non-cancer populations [155]. In cancer patients, being depressed has been associated with poorer quality of life, more self-reported pain [156], increased toxicity of treatment, as well as increased mortality [157]. Having depression might also impact a patient's motivation for undergoing cancer treatment [158]. Identifying previously unknown depression is thus highly relevant for optimizing treatment in older cancer patients.

Summary

Many specific problems affect older patients' tolerance for cancer treatment. However, the largest impact on treatment tolerance may be patients' overall burden of problems as well as

the systematic assessment of a patient's overall level of functioning and whether he or she is fit or frail.

Frailty

Frailty is widely recognized as a syndrome of increased vulnerability to adverse changes in health status [1]. The consensus definition for the term 'physical frailty' is 'A medical syndrome with multiple causes and contributors that is characterized by diminished strength, endurance, and reduced physiologic function that increases an individual's vulnerability for developing increased dependency and/or death' [2]. Frailty is separate from having multiple comorbidities, although having comorbidity can contribute to a patient's frailty level [159]. Although higher age is associated with a higher prevalence of frailty, being old is not equivalent to being frail, and some older individuals remain robust even in advanced age. Furthermore, when patients are frail, it is not necessarily obvious from their physical appearance.

As mentioned earlier (Aging - general aspects, pages 26-27), aging is thought to result from accumulation of cellular damage. It is questioned whether a threshold of cellular damage exists in organ systems beyond which frailty becomes evident [1]. However, frailty is a multidimensional concept, and the condition develops due to age-related impairments in multiple physiological systems [160]. The four best-studied organ systems in the development of frailty are skeletal muscle, the endocrine system, the immune system and the brain, although abnormal function of several other system has been associated with frailty [1]. Loss of skeletal muscle mass, changes in hormone production (reduced insulin-like growth hormone, estradiol and testosterone; increased release of cortisol), abnormal low-grade inflammatory response of the immune system, and structural and physiological changes in brain cells are all components in the process of frailty.

Figure 4. "Vulnerability of frail elderly people to a sudden-change in health status after a minor illness"

"Reprinted from The Lancet, 381, Clegg A et al, Frailty in elderly people, 752-762, Copyright (2020), with permission from Elsevier."



In clinical practice, as illustrated in Figure 4, when a fit older person (green line) is exposed to a minor stressor, a small reduction in function occurs before the individual again returns to homeostasis. A frail individual (red line in Figure 4) exposed to the same stressor experiences a larger reduction and may become dependent. Furthermore, the frail individual is unable to reach baseline homeostasis and after experiencing the stressor is closer to the limit between being dependent and independent (dashed line).

The prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older (\geq 65 years) persons has been reported to vary considerably, from 4 to 59% according to a systematic review [161]. Differing criteria for being defined as frail is probably one explanation for this wide range in prevalence. The prevalence of frailty increases with advancing age and is estimated to be present in one in four of persons >85 years [1]. In older cancer patients, a systematic review reported a median prevalence of 42% (range 6–86%) [80]. Being frail increases the risk of negative outcomes. Frail patients have a higher risk of falls and fractures, and frailty increases the likelihood of developing deficiencies in daily activities, hospitalization and death [162, 163].

There is not general agreement on how to assess frailty and a systematic review reported the use of 20 different frailty instruments in the identified studies [164]. Most methods are, however, based on two models for frailty: the physical frailty phenotype model and the cumulative deficit model. *The physical frailty phenotype* was developed by Fried et. al based on community-dwelling participants \geq 65 years included in the Cardiovascular Health study [165]. It included five components: unintentional weight loss, exhaustion, low physical activity, slow gait speed, and weak grip strength. Frail participants had three or more of these components; pre-frail had one to two, and robust participants had none [165]. Being frail according to the phenotype model is predictive of worsening mobility, hospitalization and

death. *The cumulative deficit model and the frailty index* were developed by Rockwood and colleagues based on data from the Canadian Study of Health and Aging [166]. This frailty model considers the aging process as an accumulation of deficits (symptoms, signs, abnormal lab results), and the more deficits accumulated, the frailer the patient [167].

In clinical practice, the comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) is the preferred approach to assessing frailty. By using the CGA to assess frailty, multiple geriatric domains are taken into consideration and thus the principle is similar to the abovementioned cumulative deficit frailty model.

Comprehensive geriatric assessment

The comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) is defined as 'a multidimensional, interdisciplinary, diagnostic process to identify care needs, plan care, and improve outcomes in frail older people' [168]. The CGA is a cornerstone in diagnostic work and treatment in geriatric medicine [169]. It is a systematic assessment of areas where deficits are common in older patients, often divided into four categories: physical health, functional status, psychological health, and socio-environmental parameters (Figure 5) [168].





By systematically uncovering patients' vulnerabilities, specific interventions can be planned to improve patient outcomes. Performing CGAs on geriatric patients has been shown to improve several health outcomes: mortality, risk of institutionalization, as well as functional status and cognitive function [170-172]. The setting in which the CGA is performed can, however, modify its effectiveness: CGA performed on inpatients in geriatric units as well as home CGA programs have consistently shown positive effects in several health outcomes, while results are more conflicting in the outpatient settings [170]. How to choose which patients will undergo CGA has also varied in published papers as no universal selection process for administering the CGA exists.

Geriatric assessment in geriatric oncology and research

During the last decades, a modified approach to the CGA has been adapted to oncology and is recommended by the International Society of Geriatric Oncology (SIOG) [173, 174]. The term geriatric assessment (GA) has commonly been used in geriatric oncology publications, referring to an assessment without intervention [174]. Previous publications regarding GA in cancer patients have included a different number of geriatric domains; some domains that are commonly included are summarized in Table 7. Some have suggested that the term GA should be avoided and suggested the term 'geriatric screening' for less comprehensive assessments than CGA; however, others disagree and argue for keeping the term [169, 175].

Assessment tools

The GA includes well-known and validated scales adopted from general geriatrics to assess each domain. A range of different scales has been used for each domain. Table 7 includes some examples of commonly used scales.

Table 7: GA domains and examples of assessment methods			
Domain	Assessment tool	Short form	
Comorbidity	Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics Charlson Comorbidity Index	CIRS-G CCI	
Polypharmacy	Number of medications		
Physical function and functional status	Performance Status	PS	
	Katz index of independence in Activities of Daily Living	ADL	
	The Lawton Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Scale	IADL	
	Gait speed		
	Short Physical Performance Battery	SPPB	
	Timed up and Go test	TUG	
Nutritional status	Mini Nutritional Assessment	MNA	
	The Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment	PG-SGA	
Falls	Number of falls within last 3-12 months		
Cognitive function	Mini Mental State Examination	MMSE	
	The Montreal Cognitive Assessment	MoCA	
Emotional function	Geriatric Depression Scale	GDS	

Comorbidity Common comorbidity scales are described on pages 22–23.

Physical function and functional status

Two commonly used scales for measuring ADL and IADL are the six-item *Katz index (ADL)* and the eight-item *Lawton (IADL)* [176, 177]. These scales are filled out by health care professionals based on interviews and observation. In oncology the traditional measure of functional status is performance status; however, this is a less sensitive measure compared with IADL in older patients [178]. Objective measures of mobility are gait speed, *the Short Physical Performance Battery (SPPB)*, and the *Timed up and Go test (TUG)* [120, 179, 180]. Gait speed is calculated after timing a specific walking distance. SPPB includes repeated chair stands, timing of a short walking distance, and balance tests. TUG registers the time it takes to rise from an arm chair, walk three metres, turn, walk back and sit down, and it has been reported to be a sensitive and specific measure of frailty [181].

Nutritional status

Two frequently used scales for assessing nutritional status in geriatrics are the *Mini Nutritional Assessment* (MNA) and the *Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment* (PG-SGA) [182, 183]. The original MNA was developed for assessing nutritional status in older individuals and included 18 items with a maximum score of 30; scores <24 indicate risk for malnutrition and scores <17 indicate malnutrition. Later, a MNA short-form was developed (MNA-SF) consisting of six graded questions covering weight loss, appetite loss, severe depression, dementia and mobility [184]. The PG-SGA consists of two parts: a patient questionnaire about weight loss and nutritional symptoms, and a questionnaire filled in by health professionals including information about metabolic stress, physical assessment and a categorization of the patient's overall nutritional status into a) well-nourished, b) moderately malnourished, and c) severely malnourished. Severely malnourished patients are defined as having severe weight loss and visible loss of subcutaneous fat tissue and muscle mass, with or without the presence of oedema.

Cognitive impairment

The *Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE)* is the most frequently used screening test for cognitive impairment in geriatric oncology [132, 174, 185]. The MMSE consist of 20 questions testing orientation, attention, recall, language, calculation, and visuospatial function; the maximum score is 30. A revised Norwegian version of the MMSE with a manual has been developed [186]. Some studies have used an MMSE score <24 as a threshold indicating the need for further diagnostic testing; however, the MMSE score depends on a person's age and level of education. A disadvantage of the MMSE scale is poor sensitivity for detecting mild cognitive impairment. The Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) might be better for differentiating between normal cognition and mild cognitive impairment as it includes more cognitive domains [187].

Emotional function

The Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) is frequently used to screen for depression in geriatric oncology research [188]. The GDS was developed specifically for the geriatric population and does not include questions about somatic symptoms. The original GDS includes 30 items with a total score of 30; the higher the score, the more depressive symptoms exist. Several short forms of the GDS have been developed, amongst them a 15-item version, GDS-15.

Consensus on assessment tools

In 2015, approximately half-way through our study, experts in the geriatric oncology field reached consensus on a first choice of assessment for older cancer patients [189]. CCI for
comorbidity and a combination of ADL and IADL were preferred to assess functional status, TUG for physical performance, MNA short form for nutrition, MMSE for cognitive function, GDS short form for depressive symptoms, and patient history for assessing social support status and anxiety.

GA to identify frailty

GA has been extensively recommended for identifying frailty. Due to a lack of consensus in defining GA frailty in cancer patients, studies have included both different domains and thresholds to categorize frailty [80]. Comparing the results of existing studies is therefore challenging. A well-known frailty classification is the Balducci criteria, which categorizes patients as fit, intermediate, or frail based on GA results [190]. This categorization was suggested to be used to guide treatment intensity. Table 8 present the criteria for being categorized as frail according to the Balducci criteria. Although age is included as a frailty criteria, this may be considered merely a red flag and not an absolute criteria [191]. Balducci based his categorization on the more inclusive Winograd criteria from 1991, which also incorporates polypharmacy, sensory impairment, and malnutrition [192]. Several geriatric oncology studies have published results using the Balducci criteria or a modification of these to categorize frailty [193-196].

Table 8: Frailty according to the Balducci criteria (one or more)			
Age	\geq 85 years		
Comorbidity	\geq 3		
Activities of daily living	\geq 1 dependency		
Geriatric syndrome	≥ 1		

Several frailty screening methods have also been developed; however, none of them have sufficient sensitivity or specificity to reliably identify all frail patients compared with GA [197].

Knowledge base 2012 on GA and on frailty in cancer patients

Although some papers about older patients chemotherapy tolerance were published in the eighties [198, 199], most geriatric oncology papers have been published from the midnineties, and SIOG was first founded in 2000 [200]. The geriatric oncology field was thus still young when one of the studies this thesis is based upon started inclusion in January 2013, and there have been a large number of publications in this area over the last six years. In the following subsections, the knowledge available by the end of December 2012 is presented.

Benefits of performing GA

Two well-known systematic reviews by Hamaker et al. (including 37 studies) and Puts et al. (including 73 studies) were published in 2012, summarizing the knowledge of GA in geriatric oncology patients up until then [132, 133]. Several studies concluded that performing a GA in cancer patients was feasible, and some but not all publications indicated that performing GA prior to start of treatment could have an effect on treatment decisions [133]. All the geriatric domains were associated with increased mortality in at least one study; IADL and comorbidity were the two domains most consistently associated to this outcome [132].

Deficits in either cognitive function, ADL, or comorbidity were reported to increase the risk of not completing chemotherapy and the need for dose-reduction, and IADL impairments were most consistently associated with perioperative complications after surgery [132]. Findings regarding which geriatric domain affected the risk of chemotoxicity varied [132].

Thus, existing knowledge suggested elements of the GA to be both prognostic and predictive in older cancer patients. However, the abovementioned reviews reported poor to moderate quality of included studies; heterogeneous patient cohorts with respect to cancer type, stage, and treatment; and small sample sizes (a considerable number of studies included fewer than 100 patients). To reach a conclusion on the potential benefits of using GA in older cancer patients, there was a clear need for larger studies of better quality and with longitudinal design.

The impact of frailty

Different definitions of frailty have been used in studies investigating the impact of frailty in cancer patients. Some studies indicated that being frail according to the Fried physical frailty phenotype increased the risk of postoperative complications [201, 202]. Another study could not, however, replicate these findings, but reported CGA frailty to predict postoperative complications [203]. The predictive ability of individual frailty markers was investigated in a few studies: low grip strength predicted toxicity of treatment [204], and cognitive impairment predicted visits to the emergency department [205].

Frailty and survival

The existing research in 2012 suggested that being frail was prognostic for survival. A study including surgical colorectal cancer patients reported being frail according to both the Fried physical frailty phenotype and the CGA to be independent prognostic factors for survival [203]. Another study found poorer five and ten year survival rates in breast cancer patients with \geq 3 deficits according to a GA: however, this study did not actually define frailty [206]. There were also indications that some frailty screening tools were prognostic for survival, e.g., the Groningen Frailty Index [207].

Three published studies of patients in a medical oncology setting used the Balducci criteria or a modification of these to categorize frailty and investigated the prognostic effect of being frail [194, 195, 208] (Table 9).

Bamias et al [208].	Basso et al [194].	Tucci et al [195].
Group 1:	Fit:	Fit:
No comorbidity (CCI), no ADL or IADL deficits	No relevant comorbidities (CIRS- G), no ADL or IADL, no geriatric syndromes	<3 grade 3 or no grade 4 comorbidities (CIRS-G), full score of ADL (6), no geriatric syndromes <80
Group 2:	Vulnerable:	Unfit:
≤2 comorbidities or IADL deficits	Manageable, non-life- threatening comorbidities, IADL deficiencies, no geriatric syndromes	All other patients
Group 3:	Frail:	
Either ≥ 3 comorbidities (CCI) or ≥ 1 ADL deficiencies	 ≥3 grade 3 or 1 grade 4 comorbidity (CIRS-G), ≥1 ADL deficiencies≥ 85 years, geriatric syndromes 	

Table 9: Categorizations based on the Balducci frailty categorization

In the prospective single-center study by Bamias et al., the safety and efficacy of gemcitabine and carboplatin for advanced urothelial carcinoma in patients \geq 70 years were investigated. Patients were categorized into three groups. Frail patients (19%) had significantly poorer median progression-free survival compared with the other two groups (1.9 months and 6.9 months, respectively), although the analyses were exploratory due to the small sample size (n=34) [208].

Basso and colleagues retrospectively categorized frailty in 117 cancer patients \geq 70 years with various tumor types and stages being treated with chemotherapy. The included patients were all inpatients at a single hospital. Frail patients (34%) had significantly poorer survival compared to non-frail (fit and vulnerable) patients (6.4 months versus 16.9 months). Analyses were not adjusted for cancer type or treatment [194].

Tucci et al included 84 patients >65 years with diffuse large cell lymphoma at a single institution who were scheduled for either aggressive or palliative chemotherapy. Patients were categorized as fit or unfit. In unadjusted analyses, the 50% of patients classified as unfit had poorer two-year OS compared with fit patients (23.8% and 77.6%, respectively).

In summary, there were indications that frailty according to the Balducci definition was prognostic for survival in older patients treated with medical cancer treatment. However, none of the abovementioned studies performed adjusted analyses, probably due to the small sample sizes, and larger studies verifying these indications are needed.

Frailty, quality of life and physical function

In 2012 longitudinal studies of QoL and the association to frailty in cancer patients receiving systemic treatment in a medical oncology setting were lacking. To the best of our knowledge, only one study assessed baseline QoL according to frailty status; this single-center study included 65 patients 65 years or older with various cancer types and stages, and frail patients were reported to have significantly worse global QoL [209]. However, some publications reported on the association between individual geriatric domains and QoL. Wedding and colleagues found baseline global QoL to be significantly associated with IADL, comorbidity, and PS in older cancer patients [210], and another publication reported that depressive symptoms were associated with worse QoL prior to chemotherapy [156]. A longitudinal study of 112 patients with various cancer types and stages found no associations between global QoL decline and having comorbidity, mood disorders, or low functional status [211]. Thus, little was yet published relating to frailty and QoL, but there were indications that QoL was negatively affected by vulnerabilities detected in geriatric assessments.

Longitudinal studies measuring physical function according to frailty status in older cancer patients were also lacking in 2012. Some studies investigated physical function in cancer patients without considering frailty status. A small (n=49) prospective study of older breast cancer patients given adjuvant chemotherapy reported no significant changes in IADL/ADL or QoL as measured using FACT [212]. Another study including patients with several cancer types and treatments reported that a high symptom burden was significantly associated with loss of physical functioning during follow-up, and patients with higher comorbidity burden and higher age had poorer physical functioning [213, 214].

Thus, little evidence existed in 2012 as to whether frailty affects physical functioning in older cancer patients. Still, since frailty was a predictor of disability and worsening mobility in non-cancer populations [165], studies investigating frailty and its potential impact on cancer patients are needed.

Clinical judgment versus systematic registrations in oncology

In the field of oncology, there has been a long tradition of systematic registrations of diagnosis, histological subtype, as well as stage of cancer. These registrations have been essential for obtaining the knowledge we have of cancer, optimal treatment according to cancer type, as well as prognosis for each patient. Fewer patient-related factors have been systematically obtained. One important exception is performance status, as previously described on page 19. PS has given us prognostic information on the importance of a patient's general condition and is actively used to guide treatment decisions. Systematic registrations in the oncology field have thus proven to be essential. Although it is recommended to perform systematic geriatric assessment and comorbidity assessment in older cancer patients, neither of these are implemented as daily routines in Norway [174]. Thus, assessment of the patient's level of functioning, comorbidity, frailty status, and ability to tolerate cancer treatment are based on the oncologist's clinical judgement. Naturally, the primary focus is likely to be on diseases and disorders that the oncologist considers relevant for planned cancer treatment.

Whether clinicians can detect all problems in the geriatric patient without performing a systematic assessment is questionable. A large study including a systematic GA by Kenis et al. reported that the GA detected unknown geriatric problems in approximately half the patients [215]. The number of reported symptoms in palliative cancer patients is also much higher when systematically assessed compared with when symptoms are volunteered by patients in clinical consultations [216]. Furthermore, clinical judgement differs according to each rating clinician. When two clinicians were asked to rate the same patient's symptoms using the Common Terminology Criteria for Adverse Events, their agreement was at best moderate [217].

A few studies have investigated whether physicians' clinical judgement is an equally effective screening tool for frailty [195, 218, 219]. The results suggest that physicians are more conservative and rate fewer patients as unfit or potentially vulnerable than those identified by GA. Still, an interesting point is whether the clinicians might be able to differentiate between frail patients with poor prognosis and non-frail patients with better prognosis solely by using their clinical experience.

Objectives

The overarching aims of this thesis were to investigate clinicians' ability to identify comorbidity and frailty in their cancer patients and to investigate the prognostic and/or predictive impact of these factors on survival and the course of quality of life.

Paper I

- a) To investigate the agreement between retrospective comorbidity ratings by trained professionals using the CIRS-G manual and baseline comorbidity ratings by treating oncologists/pulmonologists using a scale similar to the original CIRS in patients with advanced NSCLC scheduled for first-line chemotherapy.
- b) To explore the prognostic impact of oncologists/pulmonologists' comorbidity ratings on OS in advanced NSCLC patients scheduled for first-line chemotherapy.

Paper II

- a) To investigate whether clinicians can adequately classify frailty in older cancer patients referred for systemic cancer treatment when compared with a modified geriatric assessment (mGA).
- b) To investigate whether baseline frailty categorizations in older cancer patients referred for systemic cancer treatment, either by mGA or by the clinician, is prognostic for OS.

Paper III

a) To investigate whether baseline mGA frailty categorizations in older cancer patients referred for systemic cancer treatment predict the course of QoL during the first year of follow-up.

Materials and methods

This thesis is based on data from two studies involving cancer patients, a randomized clinical trial (RCT) including lung cancer patients (paper I), and an observational study including older cancer patients with solid tumours (papers II and III).

Study design

The randomized clinical trial (PEG-study)

This national RCT was designed by the Norwegian lung cancer study group to compare the effects of two chemotherapy doublets, gemcitabine/carboplatin and pemetrexed/carboplatin, as first-line treatment for advanced NSCLC. Chemotherapy was given with a three-week interval, up to four cycles. At baseline and before each infusion, patients reported QoL on EORTC QLQ-C30 and, thereafter, every eight weeks for the first year.

The primary endpoint was QoL; secondary endpoints were OS and toxicity. Results from the main trial revealed similar QOL and OS, but less toxicity in favour of the chemotherapy doublet pemetrexed/carboplatin [220].

The original protocol also included a sub-study to 1) investigate the significance of severe comorbidity on QoL, OS, and toxicity, and 2) compare comorbidity rated by local investigators (LI-score) with comorbidity rated retrospectively by trained researchers, all oncologists, using patients' medical records (CIRS-G). Previous results revealed that patients with severe comorbidity according to CIRS-G had poorer QoL and more haematological toxicity but similar survival compared to patients without severe comorbidity [53].

Figure 6. The PEG study



Paper I and the randomised clinical trial (PEG study)

The prospective observational study

This multicentre prospective observational study was designed to investigate predictive abilities of GA-assessed frailty and biological markers (inflammation and muscle depletion) in older (≥70 years) cancer outpatients with solid tumours referred for medical cancer treatment. Innlandet Hospital Trust (six clinics), Akershus University Hospital, and Oslo University Hospital participated in inclusion of patients. Frailty was assessed at baseline, and patients' self-reported QoL was evaluated using EORTC-QLQ-C30. QoL assessment was repeated at 2, 4, 6, and 12 months follow-up.

Primary endpoints were OS and changes in physical function (from the EORTC QLQ-C30) the first two months of follow-up. Secondary endpoints were changes in physical function and global QoL (from the EORTC QLQ-C30) the first year of follow-up.

Figure 7. The prospective observational study





Study population

Paper I

Patients were enrolled at 35 Norwegian hospitals by local oncologists and pulmonologists. The inclusion period was from May 2005 to July 2007.

Inclusion criteria main trial:

- No previous systemic treatment for lung cancer
- >18 years old, no upper age limit
- Histologically/cytologically verified NSCLC
- Stage IIIB (ineligible for curative radiotherapy) or stage IV NSCLC
- Performance status (PS) of 0–2
- Adequate bone marrow and liver function
- Creatinine clearance 45 mL/min (Cockroft-Gault formula)
- Able to understand information provided about the study
- Written informed consent

Exclusion criteria main trial:

- Pregnancy or breast feeding
- Active cancer other than NSCLC
- Use of NSAIDs or high dose ASA and a reduced kidney function

As presented in the flowchart below, 436 patients were analysed in the main trial and thus eligible for comorbidity assessment; however, 13 did not have medical records sent to the study office; 13 received no study treatment, and 8 did not complete the baseline quality of life questionnaire. Thus 402 patients were assessed with CIRS-G. Of these, 27 had no LI-score, and thus 375 patients were eligible for comorbidity comparisons in our study. Of these 375 patients, 36% were \geq 70 years, and the median age was 65 years.

Figure 8. Flow-chart paper I



Papers II and III

Older patients with solid tumours referred for medical cancer treatment were consecutively recruited at seven clinics. Patients were included from January 2013 to April 2015. A modified geriatric assessment (mGA) was performed at baseline, based partly on registrations by oncology nurses with specific training in study procedures and partly on patient reports. Patients' frailty status was categorized based on the mGA results.

Inclusion criteria Age \geq 70 years Histologically/cytologically confirmed solid tumour Referred to cancer clinic for medical cancer treatment New cancer diagnosis or first relapse after previous curative treatment Able to provide written, informed consent

As presented in the flow chart below, 307 patients were included; one withdrew consent; 18 had missing baseline questionnaires, and thus 288 patients were eligible for analyses.

Figure 9: Flow-chart paper II and III



Assessments

Paper I

Only baseline data were used in this paper. Information about stage of disease (TNM classification), histology, smoking history and rating of PS were registered by the including physician at baseline. Quality of life was registered by patient report using the EORTC QLQ-C30. Information about date of death was sent to the study office by the treating physician.

Comorbidity assessments

At baseline the patients' oncologists/pulmonologists (= local investigators) performed prospective comorbidity ratings based on the clinical assessment and knowledge from the patients' medical histories (= LI-score). No formal training in assessing comorbidity was given, just a brief written set of instructions based on the original CIRS.

After all patients had been included in the trial, comorbidity was assessed and scored retrospectively by three trained researchers, all oncologists, using hospital records from the three months prior to randomization and the CIRS-G manual from 1991 [66] (=CIRS-G). For each patient, CIRS-G was assessed independently by two researchers. In case of different scores, the researchers discussed the assessment and reached consensus.

In both prospective and retrospective scores, 14 organ systems/scales were rated and graded from '0' to '4' in accordance with the CIRS-G comorbidity index. Thereafter, total score, severity index, severe comorbidity, and high severity index were calculated.

- Total score = the sum of scores in all organ systems
- Severity index = total score divided into the number of categories with a score >0
- Severe comorbidity = \geq one score 3 or 4
- High severity index = a severity index >2

Lung cancer patients with a severity index >2 or at least one grade 4 comorbidity are reported to have poorer survival compared with those with less comorbidity [221]. Thus, we defined 'high severity index' as having a severity index >2. To differentiate between a comorbidity

graded 3 or 4 may be difficult; hence, we defined 'severe comorbidity' as having ≥ 1 comorbidity grade 3 or 4 in an organ system, as in the previously published study of the prognostic role of comorbidity in advanced NSCLC [53].

Papers II and III

In paper II baseline data are presented as well as data on OS; paper III includes 12 months of follow-up of QoL. An overview of the registrations performed as well as scales used is presented in Table 10 below.

At baseline, oncologists registered medical data about type of cancer (ICD-10), stage of disease (local, locally advanced, distant metastases), planned treatment, and whether treatment was considered to be curative or palliative. They also rated PS and categorized frailty, as further described on page 50. Oncology nurses interviewed patients about sociodemographic data, medication use, and the occurrence of falls, measured height and weight, assessed nutritional status, and tested cognitive and physical function. Information about emotional function, comorbidity, nutritional symptoms, and QoL were self-reported. Data on administered treatment the first two months after inclusion and date of death were retrieved retrospectively from the patients' medical records by checking administered infusions, prescriptions, surgical notes, and notes from the radiotherapy clinic.

Performed by

Table 10: Overview of the different assessments performed at baseline

Medical data	Oncologist
Performance status	Oncologist
Frailty categorized by oncologist	Oncologist
Sociodemographic data	Nurse
Cognitive function	Nurse
Emotional function	Patient
Comorbidity	Patient
Medications	Nurse or Oncologist
Physical function	Nurse
Number of falls the last 6 months	Nurse
Nutritional status	Nurse and patient
Quality of life	Patient
Information about treatment the first two first months and date of death from hospital records	PhD-student

The baseline modified geriatric assessment (mGA)

The GA was defined as modified (mGA) since it was not performed by an interdisciplinary team but based on assessments by trained oncology nurses and patients' self-reports. The following eight domains were included:

- 1. <u>Cognitive function</u> tested using the Norwegian Revised Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE) [185, 186].
- 2. Emotional function reported on the geriatric depression scale (GDS-15) [188].
- 3. <u>Comorbidity</u> registered using the Physical Health Section, a subscale of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire (OARS) [60, 222].
- 4. <u>Number of medications</u> registered according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System (ATC).
- 5. <u>Physical function</u> tested using the Timed Up and Go test (TUG) [179].
- 6. <u>Falls</u> were defined as unintentional events resulting in a lying position on the floor, the ground, or other lower level. The number of falls during the last six months was registered.
- 7. Screening for <u>ADL dependencies</u> using question 5 ('Do you need help with eating, dressing, washing yourself or using the toilet?') from EORTC QLQ C30 [42].
- 8. <u>Nutritional status</u> assessed by the Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment (PG-SGA) [182].

Quality of life

QoL was assessed using the patient-reported EORTC QLQ-C30 at baseline and at 2,4, 6, and 12 months of follow-up [42]. The follow-up QoL questionnaires were sent by mail to patients at their home addresses. A reminder was sent if the patient did not reply within two weeks.

QLQ-C30 consists of 30 questions graded from 1 to 4, comprising five functioning scales: physical, role, social, cognitive and emotional functioning, and a global QoL scale; and nine symptom scales: fatigue, pain, nausea/vomiting, sleep disturbances (insomnia), appetite loss, diarrhoea, dyspnoea, constipation, and financial impact. The raw scores on the questions from each scale are transformed into scales from 0 to 100 points [223]. Higher scores on the functioning and global QoL scales represent better functioning, whereas higher scores on symptom scales/items indicate a higher symptom burden.

Frailty defined according to our mGA (mGA frailty)

To define frailty according to our mGA, we used criteria similar to the modified Balducci criteria formerly applied by Kristjansson et al. [196] and Ommundsen et al. [224]. Patients were defined as frail if they met one of the following criteria: dependencies in ADL, had significant comorbidity or one or more geriatric syndromes defined as impaired function according to MMSE (cognitive function), GDS (depression), SGA (malnutrition), or frequency of falls. Furthermore, in accordance with Winograd's criteria for frailty [192] and similar to Kristjansson et al. [196], we included polypharmacy as a criterion but also added impairment according to TUG.

The modified Geriatric Assessment mGA frail defined as deficits in ≥1 domain			
Domain	Scale	Cut-off value for frailty	
Cognitive function	MMSE	<24 points	
Emotional function	GDS-15	\geq 7 points	
Comorbidity	OARS	>3 points	
Medications, polypharmacy	ATC	>7 regular medications (ointments & common vitamins excluded)	
Physical function	TUG	>14 seconds	
Falls		Patient reports ≥ 2 falls the last 6 months	
ADL	EORTC QLQ-C30	If reported yes, a little/quite a bit/very much on question 5	
Nutritional status	PG-SGA	Considered severely malnourished by nurse or self- reported weight loss $\geq 10\%$ the last 6 months.	

Table 11: An overview of the domains and cut-offs in the modified Geriatric assessment

Chosen cut-offs in each domain

All cut-offs were decided a priori based on literature if available or after consensus in the study group.

- ✓ The MMSE cut-off <24 was set as this indicates cognitive impairment and has previously been used in cancer trials performing GA [225, 226] as well as GA frailty classifications [196].
- ✓ For GDS-15 a cut-off of ≥5 has been suggested to identify patients at risk for depression in GA [227]. However, since our frailty assessment required only one deficit to be considered frail, we were interested in selecting patients with a high burden of depressive symptoms, and a cut-off of ≥7 was thus set to ensure high specificity [228, 229].
- ✓ There are no well-known cut-off points for frailty using the OARS in the literature; however, four or more comorbidities was set as the cut-off since it was indicated as a threshold for shorter survival in a previous study on cancer patients [230].
- ✓ Eight or more regular medications were set as a cut-off for polypharmacy in accordance with Kristjansson et al. [196].
- ✓ Cut-offs >14 s/>14.5 seconds for TUG have been used to identify GA deficits in cancer trials [178, 231, 232] and were also used in our study.
- ✓ We chose two or more falls as cut-off as this number previously has been used to identify GA deficits in cancer trials [178, 231].
- ✓ All patients who responded any grade of yes to the need for help with ADL on EORTC QLQ-C30 question 5 were considered frail.
- ✓ A weight loss ≥10% during the last six months is generally considered as an indicator of severe malnutrition [233]. Patients were categorized as frail if considered severely malnourished by study nurses or had a weight loss of at least 10% over the last six months.

Frailty categorized by oncologists based on clinical judgement (paper II)

The patients' oncologists were asked to classify the patient as fit, intermediate, or frail after their first consultation. They received no instructions or training to perform this task, and prior to performing the categorization, they were blinded to the results from the mGA.

Handling of missing data

In paper 1, as presented in the flow chart on page 45, patients without comorbidity ratings were excluded, and thus missing data were not an issue in this paper.

In papers II and III missing values in MMSE (n=3) and GDS-15 (n=27) were imputed by drawing one random number per value from the empirical distribution based on non-missing values. In total, 31 patients had one or several missing items in the OARS subscale. Missing items on the OARS subscale were imputed by retrieving information from hospital charts.

A few patients had missing domains in the mGA (reported in Table 3, paper II): OARS (n=1), ADL (n=5), GDS-15 (n=4), and falls (n=1). The most frequent domain that was incomplete was patient-reported weight loss over the last six months (n=24), but all these patients had a nutritional assessment by a study nurse. Overall, 13 patients had no TUG registration by a study nurse. Patients were categorized as frail or non-frail based on available assessments.

Missing values in QLQ-C30 multi-item scales were imputed according to the official manual if at least half the scale had been answered [223].

Analyses and statistical considerations

Paper I

We compared the LI-scores to the CIRS-G scores and assessed the agreement between them. First, the proportion of patients with LI- and CIRS-G scores ≥ 1 and ≥ 3 in each organ system were compared using $\chi 2$ scores or Fisher's exact test. The total score, severity index, high severity index, and severe comorbidity were calculated for each patient for both LI- and CIRS-G scores. Bland-Altman analyses were used to assess the level of agreement between the CIRS-G scores and the LI-scores in the continuous variables 'Total score' and 'Severity index'. Weighted kappa statistics were used to estimate the level of agreement on the categorical variable 'Severe comorbidity'.

Survival time was defined as time from randomization until death. Two Cox regression models were estimated to investigate the prognostic impact of 'severe comorbidity LI-score' and 'high severity index LI-score' on survival. Multiple Cox regression models were estimated to adjust for established prognostic factors in advanced NSCLC (PS, stage of disease, gender, smoking history, baseline global QoL, and appetite loss) and study treatment. As previously mentioned under study design, survival analyses of the CIRS-G assessments have been published [53]. However, since we investigated a smaller subgroup of patients, we chose to repeat these analyses. The prognostic impact of 'severe comorbidity CIRS-G' and 'high severity index CIRS-G' were thus analyzed in the same manner as the LI-scores. Explorative Cox regression models of the prognostic impact of 'severe comorbidity LI-score', 'high severity index LI-score', 'severe comorbidity CIRS-G', and 'high severity index CIRS-G' were thus analyzed in the same manner as the LI-score', 'high severity index LI-score', 'severe comorbidity CIRS-G', and 'high severity index CIRS-G' were thus analyzed in the same manner as the LI-score', 'high severity index LI-score', 'severe comorbidity CIRS-G', and 'high severity index CIRS-G' were repeated in the subgroup of patients \geq 70 years. The predictive ability of the different comorbidity models was evaluated by calculating a C-index.

Paper II

The oncologists' original threefold classification was dichotomised into onc-non-frail (patients considered fit) and onc-frail (patients considered frail or intermediate) and compared with mGA-frail/mGA-non-frail. Medical and sociodemographic factors were compared between groups by independent sample t-tests or X^2 -test. The agreement between mGA-non-frail/mGA-frail and onc-non-frail/onc-frail was assessed by kappa statistics.

We estimated bi- and multi-variate Cox regression models to investigate whether being mGAfrail was a prognostic factor for OS. The association between clinicians' judgement of being onc-frail and OS was thereafter analysed accordingly.

Adjusting factors in the multivariate models were known prognostic factors: PS (0–1 or 2–4), stage (local, locally advanced, or metastatic), age, cancer type, gender, as well as type of treatment. Types of treatment were classified as 1) curative treatment, i.e., patients referred for neoadjuvant treatment, adjuvant treatment after curative surgery, or curative radiotherapy, 2) palliative chemotherapy, 3) other palliative systemic cancer treatment, and 4) non-systemic palliative treatment the first two months after inclusion (i.e., radiotherapy, surgery, or palliative care). Proportional hazards assumption was assessed by examining Schoenfeld's residuals. Multicollinearity issue was considered by calculating variance inflation factor. Kaplan–Meier OS curves were presented.

Paper III

Changes in QoL according to frailty status were investigated by predefined endpoints. The primary endpoint was changes in PF during the two first months of follow-up; secondary endpoints were changes in PF and global QoL during 12 months of follow-up. Changes during 12 months for the remaining QLQ-C30 scales and items were assessed by exploratory analyses using the same approach as for the main endpoints.

Differences between mGA frail and mGA non-frail patients in changes over time were assessed by linear mixed models. Linear mixed models were chosen to handle dependencies in our data set (due to repeated measurements in the same patients and clusters of patients within cancer clinics). All models therefore included random intercepts for cancer clinics and for patients nested within cancer clinics to account for intra-patient correlations due to repeated measurements and possible within-clinic cluster effects. The models also included fixed effects for frailty group, time, and the interaction term between frailty group and time (frail*time). In the models assessing data on 12-months follow-up, time was a second-order polynomial to account for non-linear trends. A significant interaction term would imply that there were differences in change between frail and non-frail patients.

Models adjusting for age, sex, cancer type, PS, stage, and treatment were also estimated. The results were tabulated as regression coefficients with standard errors (SE) and p-values for the primary and secondary analyses of PF and global QoL. The results from unadjusted models were also presented graphically as estimated mean values with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for all QLQ-C30 scales/items. Within- and between-group differences with the corresponding 95% CI and p-values were calculated from the models. For the EORTC QLQ-C30 scores, a difference of ≥ 10 points on the functional and symptom scales/items was considered a clinically significant change [234].

Statistical analyses and significance

Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows v 22 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY) and STATA v 12 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas). For all analyses in all papers, the level of significance was set at 0.05.

Ethical considerations

Paper I

The RCT was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics in Central Norway, the Norwegian Medicines Agency, the Norwegian Social Science Data Services, and the Norwegian Directorate for Health and Social Affairs. The comorbidity registrations were performed by physicians and did not inflict any extra burden on the patients. Of ethical concern is the storing of sensitive data. However, patients provided written informed consent after receiving information about the study and were able to withdraw their consent at any time during the study period without any effect on treatment or follow-up. Further, performing these analyses on already gathered patient data helped ensure that the data were used as planned in the study protocol.

Papers II and III

The observational study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics South East Norway 09.02.2012 (reference number 2012/104). Data collection and storage procedures were also approved by the data protection supervisor at all participating hospitals. The study is performed according to the Helsinki declaration. Information gathered in the study did not have any effect on treatment or follow-up of the patients. However, exceptions were made if the assessment revealed severe medical problems requiring attention; then, the nurses were instructed to inform the patients' oncologists. The baseline registrations and follow-up questionnaires, however, required the time and energy of patients with severe cancer diagnoses, and sensitive information about the patients was also stored. Patients were given oral and written study information, including the option to withdraw consent at any time during the study period, before providing informed consent.

Results

Paper I. Comparing comorbidity ratings by the patients' oncologist/pulmonologist and trained researches in patients with advanced lung cancer

Of the 375 patients analyzed 29% had stage IIIB and 71% stage IV NSCLC. Median age was 65 years; 36% of the included patients were \geq 70 years. The majority had good PS: a total of 79% had PS 0 or 1.

Fewer patients had comorbidities registered by local investigators (n = 325, 87%) than by trained researchers (n = 371, 99%). For most individual organ systems/scales, the LI-scores included a lower number of comorbidities than the GIRS-G scores.

Overall, 94 (25%) versus 184 (49%) patients had severe comorbidity according to the LI- and CIRS-G-scores, respectively. When comparing the two scores of 'severe comorbidity', weighted kappa was 0.18 (95% CI 0.10; 0.25), suggesting only a slight agreement between the scores.

The mean total LI-score was 4.2 (range 0–16), and the mean total CIRS-G score was 7.0 (range 0–17). The scatter plot indicated poor agreement between the two total comorbidity scores. We found a significant bias of -2.87 (p < 0.001), confirming that the total CIRS-G scores were consistently higher than the total LI-scores. A wide 95% limit of agreement (±6.40) in the Bland-Altman plot further confirmed the poor agreement between the two comorbidity scores.

The mean severity index was 1.43 (SD 0.78) versus 1.73 (SD 0.46) according to the LI-scores and CIRS-G, respectively. A scatter plot comparing the two severity indices also revealed poor agreement.

According to unadjusted and adjusted Cox regression analyses neither the 'high severity index' nor 'severe comorbidity' scores from LI-scores or CIRS-G scores were significant prognostic factors of survival.

Paper II. Comparing frailty ratings by the patients' oncologists and a systematic modified geriatric assessment

Median age was 77; most patients had PS 0-1 (n = 244, 85%), and nearly all lived at home (n = 275, 96%). The most common diagnoses were colorectal, lung, and prostate cancer, and chemotherapy was the primary systemic treatment for 200 (69%) patients.

According to mGA, 140 (49%) patients were frail. The three most common frailty domains were comorbidity (n = 82, 28%), polypharmacy (n = 37, 13%), and malnutrition (n = 43, 15%). Overall, 73 (25%) patients had a deficit in one mGA domain, 42 (15%) in two domains, and 25 (9%) in three or more. The oncologists considered 15 patients (5%) as frail and 89 (31%) as intermediate, giving a total of 104 (36%) onc-frail according to the dichotomized classification.

The mGA-frail/mGA-non-frail classification coincided with the onc-frail/onc-non-frail classification for 187 (65%) patients; 72 (25%) patients were found mGA-frail and onc-frail, while 115 (40%) patients were mGA-non-frail and onc-non-frail. Of the 67 (23%) patients classified as mGA-frail but judged by the clinicians to be fit, favorable cancer-related prognostic factors were frequent, and most of these patients had one mGA deficit (n = 46, 69%). In contrast, only 36% (n = 26) had one mGA deficit among those who were both mGA-frail and onc-frail. The most frequent mGA deficit missed by the oncologists was comorbidity. Of the 32 (11%) patients who were mGA-non-frail and onc-frail, the frequency of established negative cancer-related prognostic factors was high and similar to the group that was both mGA-frail and onc-frail. The kappa statistic was 0.30 (95% CI 0.19; 0.41), indicating only fair agreement between the oncologists' clinical judgement and the mGA.

Both mGA-frail and onc-frail patients had poorer median OS compared with mGA-non-frail and onc-non-frail patients, respectively (mGA-frail: 15.0 months, mGA-non-frail: 29.1 months; P<0.001) (onc-frail: 12.9 months, onc-non-frail: 27.4 months; P<0.001). The few patients (5%) originally categorized as frail by the oncologists had a median OS of only 7.4 months.

In bivariate Cox regression analyses mGA-frail and onc-frail were both significantly negatively associated with OS. The HR for mGA-frail was 1.86 (95% CI 1.36; 2.56) (P<0.001), and the HR for onc-frail was 1.94 (95% CI 1.41; 2.66) (P<0.001). In adjusted analyses, mGA frailty was an independent negative prognostic factor for OS with a HR of 1.61 (95% CI 1.14; 2.27) (P=0.007); being frail according to the oncologist did not however, reach statistical significance (p=0.07).

Paper III. Long-term quality of life according to frailty status in older medical cancer patients

The description of the patient population has already been included in the results from paper II.

A higher proportion of frail than non-frail patients died during follow-up, and at 12 months 83 (59%) of frail and 112 (76%) of non-frail patients were alive. The proportion of completed questionnaires ranged between 89% and 95% for those alive at the various assessment points.

Frail patients reported poorer functioning and more symptoms than non-frail patients on all scales/items at baseline.

Both frail and non-frail patients reported a statistically but not clinically significant decline in PF from baseline to two months. The decline was not significantly different between frail and non-frail patients (adjusted model: p = 0.218). There were, however, statistically significant differences in PF scores between the two groups in disfavour of frail patients. In the adjusted linear mixed model, the mean difference was 12.2 (CI 7.5; 16.9) points at baseline and 9.2 (CI 4.4; 14.1) at two months (p<0.001). For PF during 12 months of follow-up, both unadjusted and adjusted models showed that frail patients had a statistically significant non-linear decline (p<0.001). The decline was clinically significant (≥ 10 points) from baseline to six and 12 months, respectively, in both the unadjusted and adjusted models, and it was found to be significantly steeper for frail patients (p=0.022) in adjusted analyses.

For global QoL during 12 months of follow-up, there was no significant difference between frail and non-frail patients in the course of changes (p = 0.273 in adjusted models). Both

models demonstrated that frail patients had statistically and clinically significantly worse scores compared to non-frail patients at all assessment points (p<0.001).

In exploratory analyses of the other QoL scales, frail patients had a clinically and statistically significant decline in role functioning from baseline to six months (p<0.001) in adjusted analyses. None of the other scales showed any clinically significant changes from baseline in the adjusted models, either in frail or non-frail groups. Diarrhoea showed a statistically but not clinically significant increase from baseline to six months for frail patients (adjusted model, p = 0.023). In all the other scales, the course of the trajectories was not significantly different between the groups. Adjusted models showed that frail patients had statistically and clinically significantly more constipation (p < 0.01) and worse role (p<0.001), social (p<0.01), and emotional functioning (p<0.01) at all assessments than non-frail patients.

Discussion

Methodological considerations

To interpret results from clinical research, a thorough evaluation of study quality is needed. This includes appropriateness of the chosen design, the representativeness of the study population (external validity), and the internal validity of the study results. The latter refers to the study's ability to measure what it was planned to measure, and to evaluate this, risks of bias and confounding need to be assessed [235]. These risks, i.e., all issues and factors that may interfere with the results and their validity, vary according to study design.

Study design

In paper I (Figure 6, page 43), we used data from a national RCT comparing two first-line chemotherapy regimens in NSCLC patients. Two methods for comorbidity registrations were compared: local investigators' (LI) scores and CIRS-G scores. The local investigators performed their assessments at baseline, before randomisations. Although being retrieved retrospectively from hospital charts, the CIRS-G scores were also based only on information available at baseline. Thus, this comparison constitutes in principle a cross-sectional study. To investigate the prognostic impact of each comorbidity score on survival, the two treatment groups in the RCT were joined and treated as one cohort, i.e., consistent with a prospective observational design. As there was no difference in survival between the two treatment groups, we find this approach appropriate.

Similar to paper I, paper II (Figure 7, page 44) includes a cross-sectional study, i.e., comparison of the prevalence of frailty according to two measures; physician-rated frailty and mGA frailty. Otherwise, all analyses in paper II and paper III are based on a prospective observational design. Paper II only address the relationship between baseline assessments and survival, while paper III includes analyses of the relationship between mGA frailty and repeated measures of QoL.

All results in this thesis thus emerge from observational methodology: cross-sectional and prospective observational. The latter follows patients over time and can be referred to as a cohort study. Observational designs are often seen as inferior to RCT; whether this is the case depends on the purpose of the research. RCTs are undoubtedly the gold standard to document cause/effect relationships [236]. However, observational studies represent methods that are suitable to establish prevalence (cross-sectional studies), describe the natural development of a condition, and investigate associations between exposures and outcome (cohort studies) [237, 238]. Thus, considering our study objectives, we believe that our designs are appropriate. Furthermore, our objectives were all in accordance with the pre-planned protocols of the RCT and the prospective study. At the time the studies were initiated, the issues addressed by these objectives were scarcely investigated; current knowledge was insufficient for initiating interventional studies, and observational methodology was the most suitable to increase existing knowledge.

The study populations

For clinicians, knowledge of the generalisability, i.e., the external validity, of the study results is required to be able to translate the results to other patients and situations. The main questions for our studies are therefore: Are the enrolled patients representative of the population they are supposed to represent? Did any selection occur that might have threatened

the external and/or internal validity? Are the physicians who performed the ratings of comorbidity and frailty representative of the average physician routinely treating the respective group of patients? These questions are answered in the following sections.

Patients - paper I

The NSCLC patients in paper I were all included in an RTC, and a challenge with such trials is that the patient samples often represent a selected population, fitter than the average patient with the same diagnosis [236]. In this trial, however, patients were included nationwide from local as well as university hospitals, and the study population included 22% with PS 2, and 18% were 75 years or older [220]. Although eligibility criteria in the phase III trial were wide, there were some restrictions regarding liver, kidney, and bone marrow function, as well as performance status. Furthermore, taking the Norwegian incidence of NSCLC by age group into consideration, the proportion enrolled in the trial was lower for older than for younger patients (\geq 70 years: 12%, <70 years: 23%; p = 0.001), possibly indicating that physicians were more hesitant to include those of higher age [53].

As formerly demonstrated (method section, page 43), our paper I study was not based on the overall RCT study sample, but on a cohort addressing CIRS-G-rated comorbidity in relation to survival and QoL [220]. For these analyses, a total of 44 patients were excluded due to ineligibility (in the RCT), missing CIRS-G ratings or baseline QoL questionnaires, or because the patients did not receive the study treatment. For our study, another 27 patients were excluded due to missing local investigators' scores which were needed for the comparison. Thus, 375 of 446 patients (84%) from the RCT were eligible. The distribution of characteristics of these patients was, however, comparable to the overall sample [220]. We have no reason to believe that the CIRS-G scores, LI scores, and baseline QoL assessments were missing in a non-random manner. The exclusion of patients who did not receive the study treatment may, however, represent a systematic error (patients being too ill), but we find that their number was too low to be of significance for our results.

Overall, and although our patients were slightly younger than the average NSCLC patient, we believe that they are representative of advanced NSCLC patients eligible for first-line chemotherapy and that the exclusion of some patients from the original sample does not imply any selection bias compromising the internal validity of our results. Whether our findings may be transferred to patients whom the physicians do not find fit enough to tolerate such regimens may be questioned.

Patients -papers II and III

The prospective observational study that was the basis of papers II and III also included patients at both local and university clinics and had broad inclusion criteria. There were no exclusion criteria or requirements regarding PS, comorbidity, or age in this study. Thus, all patients with a confirmed solid tumour referred for treatment of a new cancer diagnosis or first relapse of a former cancer could be included if they were able to fill in questionnaires in Norwegian and consent to participation. Although planned, we were not able to accurately register the number of potentially eligible patients who were not included at the various participating clinics. We do know, however, that not all eligible patients were enrolled, but according to the project nurses, non-inclusion mainly occurred by random due to lack of time to identify and include patients among their routine clinical tasks.

In the included cohort 18 patients had incomplete baseline assessments, mainly because their patient self-report questionnaires were missing. These patients were excluded from further

analyses since the information needed to rate frailty was missing. We believe that the questionnaires were missing due to random practicalities such as patients having no time to fill in the questionnaire at the clinic so they brought it home and forgot to return it or the project nurse being too busy to ask about the questionnaire at the following consultations. In retrospect, a reminder should have been sent to the patients for baseline questionnaires as was done for the follow-up assessments.

In summary, we believe that there was no selection bias that may have threatened the validity of the results and that the included patients are representative of the average, older cancer patient referred for medical cancer treatment. However, we cannot rule out that they represent a fitter subgroup of older cancer patients. There is some risk that the frailest patients with the poorest overall health more often declined or were less frequently invited to participate due to concerns about the additional burden the study tests represented.

The assessing physicians - papers I and II

No personal characteristics such as age, gender, or experience were registered for either the physicians who performed the comorbidity assessments, i.e., the local investigator scores in paper I, or for those who performed the clinical frailty assessment in paper II.

Despite this lack of information, it is reasonable to believe that the assessing clinicians in paper I are representative of the everyday Norwegian clinician treating lung cancer, since the study was based on a national RCT including patients at 35 different hospitals.

In the prospective observational study representing the basis for papers II and III, the patients were included from six small, local centres in addition to two university hospitals. Retrospective contact with the participating clinics indicated that about 40 consultants were involved during the trial period, and to the best of our knowledge, the minimum number of patients per physician was one and the maximum was 27 or 28. The skewedness of this data might indicate a risk that the difference between mGA frailty and clinicians' evaluations of frailty could be related to misjudgment of only a few physicians. Therefore, as thoroughly as possible, we attempted to determine who evaluated the patients classified as frail according to mGA but missed by the oncologist. We found that these patients were represented by 28 consultants, each evaluating from 1 to 7 patients. The overall sample of consultants included an equal share of juniors and seniors (with up to 30 years of experience); thus, their experience varied widely. Length of oncological expertise, however, might not be relevant for identitfying frailty. Wedding et al. reported similar results regarding clinician-rated frailty, and their results were based on clinicians with at least 10 years of experience [218]. Norwegian oncologists and trainees receive no formal training in geriatric oncology, and the inadequacy of training to assess and identify geriatric problems is widely recognized [239]. Thus, in our opinion, the relatively large number of physicians with varying oncological expertise involved in our study reflects the everyday situation, thereby strengthening the results.

Baseline assessments

In the present studies we compare two methods for baseline assessment of comorbidity and frailty, respectively (papers I and II), and thereafter investigate their association to patient outcomes. Thus, the accuracy and validity of these baseline assessments should be carefully considered. For the cross-sectional analyses (papers I and II) there is also the need to consider whether a comparison of the two methods used was appropriate.

Comorbidity assessments, paper I

Although some consider CIRS-G as the gold standard for assessing comorbidity, this approach is time-consuming and requires trained personnel. It is thus highly relevant to consider whether a less comprehensive and quicker assessment e.g., our LI-score, can provide the same information. Also, since the LI-score was based on the original CIRS, including the same organ systems and rating scales, comparison of the two scores was both feasible and appropriate.

CIRS-G registrations were performed retrospectively based on information from hospital charts. Three trained oncologists participated in the assessment. For all patients, CIRS-G was rated independently by two of these researchers to ensure that the correct rating was obtained. In case of different scores, the researches discussed the assessment and reached consensus. Most disagreements occurred because one of the researchers missed a minor comorbidity in the patient's medical records. Overall, we consider the CIRS-G ratings as valid and with low risk of systematic error. Ideally, however, the CIRS-G registrations should have been performed prospectively, that is, when the patients were included in the study. The retrospective approach means that hospital charts were the only information available. One concern is therefore the completeness of these charts with regard to less severe comorbidity, which might have been considered irrelevant in light of the patient's lethal cancer diagnosis. There is thus some risk that less severe comorbidities were underreported in the CIRS-G scores and that the actual difference between CIRS-G and LI-scores on this point might have been even more pronounced than reported in our results. It is, however, highly unlikely that missing information on non-severe comorbidity should have any impact on our results that show no association between comorbidity and survival.

Frailty assessments, papers II and III

For the systematic assessment of frailty, we performed a geriatric assessment, referred to as a modified geriatric assessment (mGA) as it was not performed by a geriatrician or a multidisciplinary team but by patient reports and trained nurses using validated tests or questionnaires. Patients were identified as frail or non-frail based on pre-specified cut-offs for deficits within each domain and a modification of the criteria recommended by Balducci and Extermann [189, 190]. The modification of the Balducci criteria included using polypharmacy as a criterion, as formerly applied by Kristjansons et al. [196], as well as deficits according to TUG that have been reported as being a sensitive and specific measure of frailty [181]. Only one of the pre-defined criteria had to be fulfilled to be classified as frail. In paper II this frailty classification was compared to the treating oncologists' subjective assessments of patients being fit, vulnerable, or frail, which for the analyses were dichotomized into fit versus vulnerable or frail.

Our approach raises several questions which are all discussed in the following paragraphs: Was our mGA an appropriate basis for identification of frailty, and were the appropriate domains included? Were the mGA tests/instruments and the cut-off points that were used valid and appropriate? Did we identify patients who were truly frail, and if not, how may this have influenced our results? The latter question also applies to the dichotomization of physicians' original classifications.

Choice of GA and included domains

When choosing GA to assess the older cancer patients, we leaned upon recommendations from experts in the field of geriatric oncology as well as previous publications reporting this approach to be feasible in this patient population [133, 173, 240]. Our choice of domains was

based on knowledge of areas in which older patients frequently have trouble (as described in page 27–30) and reports of domains used in previous geriatric oncology studies [132, 133]. At the beginning of this study, no consensus as to which domains to include in a GA existed; still, our mGA included most of the domains (except for anxiety and social support) that in 2015 were recommended in a consensus paper [189]. We thus consider the domains of our mGA to be appropriate.

GA is commonly regarded as the best clinical approach for detecting frailty [1] and has been widely used in the oncology literature [80]. In a systematic review by Handforth et al., 16 out of 22 studies used GA for the diagnosis of frailty [80]. Thus, we believe that applying a modified GA as the assessment method should not be controversial.

Choice of instruments included in the mGA

Our choice of instruments was mainly based on well-known scales validated in Norwegian, i.e., TUG for physical performance, GDS-15 for depression, MMSE for cognition, and PG-SGA for assessing nutrition. The first three instruments are in accordance with later consensus. However, MNA is recommended instead of PG-SGA for assessing nutritional status [189]. We chose PG-SGA since it is validated for assessment of nutritional status in cancer patients [182]. Polypharmacy was considered in the consensus paper, but no agreement on assessment method was reached. We assessed medication by counting the number of regular medications used as this is the most common basis for defining polypharmacy [101]. We also chose to include fall assessment in our mGA as this geriatric syndrome is an indication of increased vulnerability and is generally associated with increased morbidity and mortality [137].

In contrast to the consensus paper recommending CCI, we used OARS for measuring comorbidity. We considered using a more comprehensive scale like CIRS-G, but as this requires training of study personnel and the use of comprehensive scoring manual, it was found impractical for a multicenter study like ours. OARS was chosen since it had previously been applied in studies of cancer patients [59]. Furthermore, it has the advantage that it is patient-reported, and we thereby avoided burdening physicians with comorbidity assessment, which was considered essential for the study feasibility. OARS includes a list of conditions as well as grading of how they affect patients' daily activities. We were unfortunately unable to use the grading part of OARS due to poor compliance on this part of the questionnaire. Our comorbidity assessment is therefore merely a count from a list of comorbidities. This is not an ideal approach and represents a limitation in our mGA. By using the self-reported OARS, all degrees of comorbidity were included, regardless of severity; this scale might have been more inclusive than if we had used another comorbidity scale. Still, recent publications suggest that cancer patients' self-reporting of comorbidity gives a fairly concise and complete picture of patients' comorbidity burden [241].

We included question 5 from the QLQ-C30 to screen for activities of daily living as our study did not include an ADL scale. This is also a limitation in our mGA. An ADL scale might have been more sensitive and might have identified more patients as frail compared to merely screening for ADL difficulties. Still, seeing as this was a study on outpatients of which almost all (96%) lived at home, the risk that we missed many frail patients due to a missing ADL scale seems unlikely. Another concern is that question 5 on QLQ-C30 is one of the items of the questionnaire's physical function scale, which was also used as the primary outcome. A total of 12 patients were categorized as frail due to deficits in ADL, and 11 of these were frail

according to more than one category. This means that only one patient was defined as frail based on the self-reported physical function item only. Therefore, we find it highly unlikely that this single patient would significantly influence our results.

Our chosen cut-offs

When setting the cut-offs for the different domains, we wanted to keep each individual frailty criteria conservative since only one criterion was needed for a definition of frailty. A cut-off on MMSE <24 for defining cognitive impairment, two or more falls in the last six months, or having difficulties of any degree in ADL are in accordance with previous publications as described in the methods section on page 49. Some of the other chosen cut-offs, however, need further discussion.

We set a cut-off of >14 for defining physical impairment according to TUG. Whether this is optimal is disputable as what is considered an abnormal TUG score varies in different studies [120]. Also, TUG has been performed at different paces in different studies. Whereas the original publication by Podsiadlo and Richardson instructed patients to walk at a comfortable pace, in our study TUG was performed at a fast pace. A systematic review by Beauchet found that the pace at which TUG was performed did not change its association with falls [242]. Having a TUG >10 is associated with chemotoxicity [121], a score >14 with increased fall risk [232], and a score >20 predicts early death in patients undergoing chemotherapy and postoperative complications in onco-geriatric surgical patients [225, 243]. When comparing our cut-off value with those used in other studies, we consider it neither too strict nor too inclusive and thus appropriate in our patient population as well as in line with other geriatric oncology studies using this assessment [178, 231].

For GDS-15 the cut-off for frailty was set at \geq 7. This scale has been used in several geriatric oncology studies [107, 115], and the common cut-off for being at risk for depression is \geq 5. We intentionally chose a higher cut-off to ensure a high specificity. Many of the patients included in our study had received information about having a severe and potentially life-threatening disease within weeks of being referred to the oncology clinic. Some depressive symptoms might be worsened by such news, and by choosing a high cut-off we wanted to ensure that only patients with a high number of depressive symptoms affecting functioning were classified as frail.

Based on data from the PG-SGA, we defined patients as frail if they had at least $\geq 10\%$ weight loss or were considered severely malnourished by the study nurse. As 5% weight loss is diagnostic of cancer cachexia [244]; some may consider this very conservative, but this was in line with our goal of having strict criteria in each domain.

Four or more comorbidities in the physical health section of OARS was our cut-off for being frail according to number of comorbidities. We chose this cut-off partly based on a previous study indicating four or more comorbidities in OARS being a threshold for poorer OS [230] and partly on clinical judgement in the research group, where four or more comorbidities was considered a high level indicating frailty.

We defined polypharmacy as having eight or more medications. Five or more medications is a more common cut-off [245], but this cut-off is debated in clinical practice since having two properly treated comorbidities might require at least five medications [246]. Eight or more medications has previously been used as a frailty measure in a geriatric oncology study by

members of our study group [203], and this is also in accordance with our need of keeping each individual frailty criteria strict.

Our definition of frailty

As described in the paragraphs above, we find that there are good arguments for using GA to define frailty as well as for the included geriatric domains, instruments and chosen cut-off points. Still, our frailty definition may be subject to discussion. The main reason is that our definition cannot be definitely approved or rejected due to the lack of a consensus method for identifying frailty, no appropriately validated frailty classification based on GA in cancer patients, and no consensus on cut-off points to define deficits for the various measures of the GA domains.

Another point concerning our definition is whether it might be too inclusive, especially since comorbidity was registered using OARS as previously elaborated and only one deficit was necessary for patients to be regarded as frail. In previously published trials using GA, a range from one to four geriatric deficits has been used as a cut-off for frailty [80]. As formerly described, our cut-off was set in accordance with the criteria suggested by Balducci and Extermann [190] and also those used by Kristjanson et al. [196]. Furthermore, Kristjanson et al. reported that their similar approach was superior to Fried's physical frailty phenotype in its ability to identify post-operative complications [203]. However, we cannot with certainty say that we have captured the truly frail patients using our approach. Still, with our definition we detected a group of vulnerable patients with poorer survival, poorer quality of life, as well as poorer functioning who were in need of increased attention in clinical practice.

When deciding on how to define frailty, the intended use needs to be considered. A wide frailty definition with high sensitivity can detect frail patients in clinical practice in need of geriatric interventions, whereas a narrower definition might be more appropriate when investigating frailty as a predictive or prognostic factor in a clinical trial. Our approach is comparable to other studies using GA to classify frailty; however, there is a great need for standardized definitions of frailty based on GA.

Clinician's rating of frailty and comparison to mGA frailty

When comparing frailty classifications, we dichotomized the original threefold ratings performed by clinicians. Thereby we compared a group that was identified as either intermediate or frail (onc-frail groups) with mGA frail patients. This may have introduced a risk of misinterpreting the oncologists' assessments. However, in the original threefold classification, the oncologist classified only 15 patients (5%) as being frail. These patients had even poorer OS than the combined onc-frail group, but as for the overall group, the oncologists' frailty classifications seemed mostly based on well-known negative prognostic cancer-related factors. Any meaningful statistical comparison between the mGA-frail patients and those identified as frail by the oncologists was not possible due to the small number in the latter group. We therefore chose to dichotomize the oncologists' classifications. In our opinion, this does not affect our conclusion. On the contrary, even when we included those who were judged as intermediate or vulnerable, the oncologists failed to identify a considerable number of patients with poor prognosis.

Another concern is whether our mGA frailty definition may be considered too broad and unable to detect the truly frail patients. Following this, the question arises, Was the

comparison to the oncologists' frailty assessments adequate to perform? Applying a narrower frailty definition instead of our mGA might have resulted in better agreement. However, according to our results it is clear that the clinicians primarily based their frailty ratings on cancer-related factors and failed to identify patients' age-related vulnerabilities. Therefore, we concluded that it was relevant to compare these two frailty assessments.

Analyses and results, including follow-up data

As formerly pointed out, all three papers in this thesis include analyses attempting to establish an association between baseline factors and patient outcomes. Whether the outcomes were appropriate and the results valid, i.e., not subject to any bias or distorted by any confounding factors, needs consideration.

The outcomes

In papers I and II we investigated the association between OS and comorbidity and frailty, respectively. OS is regarded as a gold standard end-point in clinical trials [247], but since we in both papers investigated the impact of factors that may represent competing risks to the cancer, i.e., comorbidities and frailty, the use of cancer-specific survival as an additional or alternative outcome may have been relevant to consider. Unfortunately, neither of the studies on which our papers are based included data regarding cause of death, except that treatment-related deaths (serious adverse events) were registered for the RCT. For the NSCLC patients (paper I), however, cancer specific survival is probably of little relevance since survival was generally poor, and comorbidity burden did not influence survival. In the cohort in paper II, we found that mGA frailty was prognostic for OS independent of cancer diagnosis and stage, and one may argue that OS gives sufficient information for the clinicians who are planning to start cancer treatment in older patients.

In paper III patient-reported physical function and global QoL were the defined primary and secondary endpoints. Both measures were assessed by the EORTC QLQ-C30, which is widely used, well validated, and responsive to change [45]. Guidelines for interpretation of minimum important difference are available as well as a validated Norwegian version and Norwegian normative data for all age groups [234, 248]. Thus, based on its intended use in cancer patients irrespective of cancer diagnosis and age, we find that our choice of questionnaire was appropriate.

However, as physical function was our defined primary endpoint, using a patient-reported measure instead of more objective measures such as observer-rated ADL or IADL or performance tests may be discussed. Self-reported functional disabilities have previously been shown as strongly associated to gait speed as well as to survival in older cancer patients [249]. Also, similar psychometric properties (validity, sensitivity to change, responsiveness) as well as equally acceptable results have been reported in self-reported measures when compared to objective performance measures [250]. Furthermore, our study's aim was to investigate whether being frail had an impact on physical functioning, not a precise estimation of the patients' physical capacity per se. For this purpose, a self-report measure may actually be better than observation or performance. When self-reporting, the respondent will refer to his or her day-to-day function, whereas in a short observation or performance, factors that actually contribute to impaired physical function in daily life may be sustained or not present and therefore go undetected [250]. Overall, we believe that using the QLQ-C30 for measuring physical function is appropriate and has correctly identified patients with impaired physical function. However, as repeated registrations of self-reported physical function were performed in this longitudinal study, we cannot rule out that a potential response shift may

have occurred, meaning that the patients adapted psychologically to changing health status and potentially scored their physical function better than it actually was. Therefore, the decline reported in PF and QoL may have been even more profound than what was shown by the patients' scores.

Attrition

Attrition is the loss of patients during a longitudinal study; patients might die, be too sick to reply, or stop replying for unknown reasons. If patients leaving the study systematically differ from those who remain, this might introduce a bias.

For papers I and II OS was the outcome, and attrition bias was not an issue since we had complete data on survival for all patients. For paper III attrition bias needed to be considered. Although we achieved high response rates on the follow-up QoL questionnaires, the response rate was not 100%. Earlier research suggests that patients not responding, especially those dropping out early in a study, have poorer QoL and PS than responders [251]. There is thus a risk that our QoL scores are overly optimistic. Since our response rate was similar for both frail and non-frail patients, this could be an issue for both patient groups and therefore not likely to affect comparisons between the two groups. There was, however, a higher death rate among frail compared with non-frail patients; attrition bias may have resulted in an underestimation of differences between frail and non-frail patients [252]. A consequence of this potential attrition bias might be that differences in QoL between frail and non-frail patients were even greater than suggested by our results.

Confounding

'Confounding is a mixing or blurring of effects: a researcher attempts to relate an exposure to an outcome but actually measures the effect of a third variable (confounding variable)'[235]. In RCTs confounders are handled by randomizing the patients, in observational studies by statistical adjustments.

Paper I investigated the association between comorbidity and OS. We adjusted for established prognostic factors in NSCLC (PS, stage of disease, gender, smoking history, baseline global QoL, and appetite loss) in cancer patients as well as for treatment. We cannot with absolute certainty exclude that other unknown factors may also contribute, but we believe that we have adjusted for the most relevant in our analyses.

In paper II, investigating the association between frailty and OS in a heterogenic patient cohort, we appropriately adjusted for well-known prognostic factors like PS, age, gender, stage of disease, and cancer type. Since quality of life also is reported to differ according to age, cancer type, gender, performance status, and stage [40, 41, 252, 253], the same factors were adjusted for in paper III.

A limitation with the study design was that it did not prospectively register patients' treatment during follow-up. To be able to adjust for this important confounder, patients' medical journals were retrospectively investigated, and patients were classified into four groups based on treatment received in the first two months of inclusion. We adjusted for this treatment variable in both papers II and III. Unfortunately, in this heterogenic patient cohort, we did not adjust for when patients received an optimal treatment regimen, if they needed a reduced dose of treatment, or if treatment was discontinued. Furthermore, we have no information on course of disease. Therefore, we cannot exclude that part of the differences in QoL or OS between frail and non-frail patients was caused by differences in treatment intensity or tumor

progression. There is a need to confirm our results in more homogenic cohorts where one can account for treatment regimens as well as treatment response.

Discussion of main results

Comorbidity as a prognostic factor in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer In our patient cohort of advanced NSCLC patients, neither physician-rated comorbidity nor CIRS-G-rated comorbidity was an independent prognostic factor for survival.

Few studies have investigated the prognostic impact of comorbidity rated by CIRS-G in NSCLC patients, and we are not aware of any other reports from cohorts with advanced stage NSCLC cancer receiving chemotherapy. However, Firat et al. reported comorbidity rated by CIRS-G to be an independent prognostic factor in stage I NSCLC patients treated with surgery or radiotherapy as well as in stage III patients treated with radiotherapy with or without concomitant chemotherapy [70, 221, 254, 255].

More commonly used comorbidity scales in studies of lung cancer patients are the CCI and the Simplified Comorbidity Score. By using these scales, comorbidity as a negative prognostic factor in lung cancer has been demonstrated in several patient cohorts with early stage NSCLC treated with surgery or radiotherapy [256-259] as well as in cohorts of all stages of lung cancer [260-263]. The results from studies of advanced NSCLC patients receiving chemotherapy are somewhat mixed. Some find comorbidity to be a prognostic factor [264], while others do not, i.e., consistent with our findings [35, 265]. The results of all the studies mentioned above are, however, not directly comparable to ours since they either differed in the comorbidity scale used, stages of disease included, or types of treatment given.

Overall, it seems evident that comorbidity is prognostic for survival in the early stages of NSCLC, but this is less clear for more advanced stages. One explanation may be that comorbidity has a higher impact in early stage cancer or cancers with good prognoses than when the prognosis is poor [50, 266]. For the same reason, variation in distribution of negative prognostic factors between cohorts, and thereby differences in OS, may also contribute to inconsistent findings in advanced lung cancer. In our study, we included a fair number of patients with PS 2 (21%) who in general have poor prognosis, and the OS was relatively short; therefore, comorbidity might have been of lesser importance than in a cohort of advanced NSCLC comprising patients with better PS and longer survival. Another contributing factor to the reported discrepancies in results between studies of advanced stages may be that different scales have been used to measure comorbidity. The impact of using different scales is clearly demonstrated in studies that have applied two comorbidity indices in the same patient cohort and have reported comorbidity to be a prognostic factor according to one scale but not according to the other [221, 267, 268].

Although comorbidity was not found to be of prognostic importance in our study, and its impact on survival in advanced NSCLC is not clear according to existing evidence, this does not mean that comorbidity should not receive attention in this group of patients in the future. During the last few years, treatment for advanced NSCLC patients has changed considerably. These patients are now mostly treated with immunotherapy and targeted therapy instead of chemotherapy, and life expectancy in advanced cancer is largely improved [24, 72]. Consequently, it is highly possible that comorbidity may now have a more pronounced impact due to prolonged OS. Performing systematic comorbidity assessments is therefore still

relevant in advanced NSCLC patients. There is a need to determine which comorbidities may have the largest impact on OS and other outcomes such as QoL in NSCLC patients treated according to current guidelines. Furthermore, regardless of the uncertainties about the prognostic ability of comorbidity in advanced stages of NSCLC, performing comorbidity assessments gives an appropriate summary of patients' other conditions upon starting cancer treatment and is an important part of the much-recommended geriatric assessment needed to assess patients' vulnerabilities and general health status.

Frailty in older cancer patients

Approximately half the study participants in our patient cohort were frail according to our mGA. As elaborated earlier in the discussion, we cannot with certainty say that we have detected the truly frail patients using our assessment. Still, our frailty prevalence is well within range of what has been observed in other studies [80]. However, the frequency of health problems assessed by our mGA may have been affected by the cancer or cancer treatment received prior to inclusion, which thereby affected our frailty prevalence. Some of our study participants underwent surgery prior to inclusion. It is likely that, for instance, abdominal surgery for colorectal cancer could have had a negative impact on a patient's nutritional status or physical function. Furthermore, cancer symptoms might also negatively affect the domains assessed by our mGA and may have contributed to the patient being classified as frail. We have no knowledge of how and when the patients began having the health problems that rendered them frail according to our definition. Regardless of the cause for being frail, by performing a modified geriatric assessment we identified a larger subgroup of our patients who, independent of well-known cancer-related prognostic factors, had poor survival. Furthermore, these patients consistently reported poorer scores on all functioning and symptom scales from baseline throughout our follow-up period. They also had a more profound deterioration in self-reported physical functioning compared to non-frail patients. This indicates that performing GA in older oncology patients for the presence of frailty is highly relevant.

Several other studies have reported frailty classified according to the Balducci criteria to be prognostic for survival in different patient cohorts, i.e., in surgical colorectal cancer patients [224], in lymphoma patients treated with chemotherapy [195], as well as in studies of mixed cancer diagnoses and stages [194, 269]. The prognostic ability of frailty for survival has also been documented for other frailty definitions. Being frail according to the Fried physical phenotype was associated to poorer survival in studies of both various cancer types and a cohort of pancreas cancer patients [270, 271]. Frailty according to the deficit accumulation method was prognostic for survival in a study of breast cancer patients [272]. Furthermore, frailty screening tools like the Groningen frailty indicator as well as components of the GA also have been reported to be prognostic for survival [130]. Overall, being defined as frail, regardless of the approaches used to detect frailty or vulnerability, seems to have a consistent and significant impact on survival.

A few other studies have investigated how frail older cancer patients perceive their QoL, and the findings are in line with our results. Frail patients seem to be at a considerable disadvantage throughout the disease trajectory, reporting a substantial symptom burden and poor functioning compared to non-frail patients [273-277]. We used QLQ-C30 for our assessments, and although this is generally regarded as an excellent QoL questionnaire, it is debatable whether it captures how the patients' health problems actually affect their quality of life in a broader sense. The questions in the QLQ-C30 are mainly focused on different aspects of health, and some would argue that it assesses perceived health status, not quality of life [278]. However, by using this questionnaire, important information about the patients'

experiences could be retrieved, revealing that frail patients had significantly worse functioning as well as more symptoms compared to those who were non-frail. Increased attention to this vulnerable group is clearly needed. Besides being the cause of severe distress and suffering, poor functioning and a high symptom burden may also hamper patients' ability to live independently, which is one of the most highly prioritized treatment preferences for older patients [279, 280]. To be able to intervene, provide relief, and prevent functional deterioration, knowledge of patients' symptoms and functioning during the course of disease is necessary. A PROM like QLQ-C30 can be an excellent tool for systematic and continuous monitoring. There is also evidence suggesting that systematic symptom monitoring using PROM followed by targeted intervention may improve cancer patients' outcomes [281]. Furthermore, information provided by PROMs is also highly relevant to include in shared decision-making consultations.

Setting aside physical function, which is discussed in more detail below, the findings for most QoL aspects in our cohort are in agreement with what has been found by others, i.e., that although QoL is poorer, changes mainly follow a similar course in frail and non-frail cancer patients. Increased risk of long-term deterioration has, however, been suggested [152, 273]. How an observed similarity of changes in QoL trajectories of frail and non-frail patients should be interpreted is not obvious. One might argue that this indicates that frail patients tolerate cancer therapy equally as well as non-frail patients. Such a conclusion would, however, be dubious based on our data. No information concerning treatment response was registered, and we have no data on whether treatment may have been stopped earlier among frail patients due to side effects and poor treatment tolerance. Detailed information concerning the administered treatment regimens was also unavailable in our heterogeneous patient group. Thus, we do not know if frail patients may have received less intensive treatment (i.e., monotherapy or dose-reduced regimens) than those who were non-frail. Although this seems unlikely due to the fact that the physicians were blinded to the mGA results and the agreement between frailty registered by the oncologist and the mGA was only fair, it cannot be ruled out as a reason for similar QoL trajectories. To clearly untangle how treatment affects outcomes in frail patients in comparison to non-frail, there is a need for further studies in patient cohorts given similar treatment. However, although frail and non-frail patients' QoL scores mainly followed a similar course in our study cohort, a major point is that frail patients were significantly worse off from the start. Despite some of the assessed symptoms being obvious targets for potentially efficient palliative or supportive measures, e.g., pain and constipation, no improvements were registered. Furthermore, it should be kept in mind that changes in the same magnitude may affect frail patients more profoundly than those who are non-frail. Even smaller changes in, for instance, physical functioning may result in loss of independence.

There are few studies investigating longitudinal changes in physical function in relation to frailty status in cancer patients. We are only aware of two other studies that have addressed this association using a PROM for physical functioning and a GA-based frailty categorization. Similar to the findings in our study, both studies reported frail patients to have poorer physical function compared to their non-frail counterparts. Frailty was, however, not found to be predictive of physical decline in either of these studies [274, 275].

Other studies have investigated frailty and scores obtained by frailty screening tools in association with observer-rated physical decline. Several frailty screening tools have been used, amongst them G8, Groningen Frailty Indicator (GFI), Vulnerable Elders Survey-13 (VES-13), and abbreviated Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (aCGA). The results from

these studies are inconsistent as to whether frailty or frailty screening tool scores are predictive of functional decline. One study found that G8 scores were predictive of early functional decline in 292 patients treated with first-line chemotherapy [282]. A second study found the Fried physical frailty phenotype and the VES-13 scores, but not frailty according to the Balducci criteria, to be predictive of functional decline in 185 older cancer patients with solid tumors mainly receiving systemic treatment [283]. A third study, however, reported neither the GFI, G8, VES-13, nor the aCGA to be predictive of functional decline in 134 cancer patients, amongst whom 29% received chemotherapy [284]. These inconsistencies in results are also present when investigating the impact of deficits in individual geriatric domains. Four studies reported deficits in individual geriatric domains to be predictive of observer-rated physical decline in older cancer patients; in two of these studies patients received chemotherapy or neoadjuvant/adjuvant treatment [115, 245]; in the others a subgroup was given chemotherapy [285, 286]. Two other studies did not, however, find any such association. One of these was a study of a heterogenic cohort of older cancer patients among whom 40% received extensive treatment (for instance, double agent chemotherapy or surgery plus chemotherapy) and had six months of follow-up [287]. The other was a study of lung cancer patients among whom half were treated with chemotherapy and had three months of follow-up [288].

The results from the abovementioned studies as to whether frailty, frailty screening tools, or deficits in individual geriatric domains are predictive of decline in physical function are not consistent. Some of the studies support our findings, while others do not. It is, however, a complex task to compare our results to those of others and to compare findings between different studies for several reasons. First, most of the studies have used observer-rated physical decline and not patients' self-reports, and these are not necessarily comparable. Patients' self-reports, as elaborated earlier in the discussion, refer to patients' day-to-day function, whereas short, objective observation might not detect all factors contributing to impaired physical function in daily life [250]. Self-report might thus be more sensitive to subtle changes in physical function compared to observer-rated tests. Second, the study cohorts varied considerably with respect to cancer types included, which type of treatment the patients received, as well as in follow-up time varying from months to several years. For instance, in the two studies using PROM to report physical function, the patient cohorts were quite dissimilar from ours. One of these cohort included patients with colorectal cancer receiving surgery [275] and patients with head and neck cancer treated mainly with radiotherapy [274]. It is possible that a protracted course of chemotherapy, which was the treatment received by most of our patients, may have a greater impact on frail patients' physical functioning than surgery or radiotherapy. Furthermore, in the study including patients treated with radiotherapy [274], specific assessments of physical functioning were reported at only four weeks after start of therapy, and as indicated by our results, a significant decline may take longer to develop. Third, different methods for identifying frailty were used, and frailty screening tools as well as individual geriatric domains were investigated. These large discrepancies in what was measured, combined with different cut-offs set to define functional decline, may also explain some of the differences in results between the abovementioned study cohorts.

Based on these results it is clear that it is impossible to draw a general conclusion regarding the significance of frailty or deficits in individual geriatric domains for the development of physical function during and after cancer treatment. We do, however, believe QLQ-C30 to be a sensitive and valid PROM for measuring patients' daily physical functioning and might be even more sensitive than mere observation. Our results are also in accordance with what has

been shown in other areas of medicine where frailty is associated with increased risk of falls, fractures, and disability [289]. From a clinical point of view, it is reasonable to assume that physical function might be affected by systemic cancer treatment like chemotherapy. Overall, we believe our results give a strong indication that by performing a systematic mGA in older cancer patients at medical oncology clinics, we can identify a vulnerable patient group with poor physical function at risk for experiencing physical decline during cancer treatment and in need of attention as well as intervention to prevent further physical decline. However, to be able to further document this, there is a need for further studies involving more homogenic patient cohorts.

Overall, our study makes a significant contribution to the growing evidence that frailty has a large impact on important outcomes in older cancer patients [290] as well as in other areas of medicine [162]. Performing GA and detecting patients' vulnerabilities may be the first step towards optimizing treatment for frail older cancer patients.

Clinicians' assessments versus systematic registrations of comorbidity and frailty

Despite frailty and comorbidity being prognostic and predictive factors, no systematic assessment of these factors has been implemented as routine in clinical practice. Thus, how thoroughly an older patient is assessed in these areas depends on the patient's oncologist. Our findings in both papers I and II indicate that clinicians without additional training are unable to detect comorbidity and frailty as effectively as a systematic assessment. In paper I we found poor agreement between comorbidity rated by the local investigators and that rated by trained oncologists using the CIRS-G manual. More comorbidity was identified for most of the organ systems, and the scores were generally higher for the CIRS-G scores compared with the LI-assessments. In paper II the oncologists classified very few patients as frail, and even when pooling frail and intermediate patients (according to the oncologists), they missed almost half the patients who were frail according to the systematic mGA. The most commonly missed frailty domain was comorbidity. Furthermore, the prognostic value of the oncologists' frailty assessments was not independent of other well-established prognostic factors.

To our knowledge, there are no previously published studies that compare in detail the results of CIRS-G comorbidity assessments in patients with NSCLC and a similar but less comprehensive assessment performed by local investigators. However, the amount of comorbidity registered seems to be highly dependent on what is used for assessment [291]. There are several plausible explanations for the differences in ratings between the local investigators and the trained researchers. The local investigators rated comorbidity only as part of the inclusion process, as opposed to the trained oncologists rating comorbidity as their primary aim. This difference in primary focus might have resulted in local investigators to a larger degree overlooking less severe comorbidity, for instance, well-regulated comorbidities only noticeable by examining patients' lists of regular medications. It is also likely that the local investigators focused on comorbidities that were relevant for treating the patient and that less severe comorbidity may have been perceived as irrelevant in light of the patient's lethal cancer disease. Furthermore, severe comorbidity as classified by the CIRS-G manual from 1991 might have been perceived as less severe comorbidity by the local investigators due to progress in medical treatment. In our patient cohort, the local investigators missed a large number of comorbidities compared with trained oncologists using the CIRS-G manual; however, neither of the comorbidity ratings were significant prognostic factors for survival in our patient cohort.

Our physicians were more conservative when rating frailty than was a systematic GA, this in accordance with the findings of others [195, 218]. In our study the oncologists' frailty assessments were not independent prognostic factors for survival when adjusted for other well-known prognostic factors, and their classifications of frailty seemed to be based mostly on cancer-related prognostic factors. Oncologists are experienced in evaluating cancer-related health, but training in identifying patients' overall vulnerability, including geriatric problems that may affect prognosis, seems insufficient. The domain (or reason for frailty) most frequently missed by the oncologists in paper II was comorbidity, thus underlining the need for systematic comorbidity assessment in clinical care.

Systematic approaches to assess frailty and comorbidity thus represent more sensitive methods than merely using oncologists' clinical judgement. This is in accordance with studies of symptom reporting in palliative patients: more symptoms are detected using systematic symptom assessments compared to patient interviews [216]. Furthermore, systematic symptom registrations and interventions have been shown to reduce the need for hospitalization, have a positive impact on HRQoL, and increase the treatment duration of palliative chemotherapy [281].

Future directions

Since the start of our study, the challenges posed for our health care systems by an aging population and a growing number of older patients with cancer, have been increasingly recognized. Considering not only the growing number of new cancer diagnosis in older people, but also the improvement of modern treatment and a growing number of older cancer survivors, the situation has been referred to as a "silver tsunami". Following this, treatment and care for older patients with cancer have gained increasing focus, and among the areas having received particular attention are the assessment of age-related problems including comorbidity, identification of frailty, and the impact of these factors on cancer outcomes.

Within the expanding field of geriatric oncology, the GA or modifications of this, is a recommended approach for the assessment of older patients with cancer, and during the last few years its' usefulness has become increasingly evident. A range of more recent studies have shown that performing GA can help identify patients' vulnerabilities that would otherwise have gone unrecognized [215], help predict complications of cancer treatment [106, 122] as well as predict survival [145]. These findings are supported by studies from other patient groups, e.g., older patients undergoing cardiac surgery [292] or patients undergoing surgery after a hip fracture [293], and our results add significant evidence to the benefit of performing GA in older cancer patients.

As in our studies, GA has also repeatedly been used to identify frailty. Whether this results in the most optimal classification of frail versus non-frail patients in all circumstances is a subject for discussion. From a clinical point of view, however, this may not be the most important. In clinical practice, we meet a continuum of frailty among our patients, and the main objective would be to identify their individual vulnerabilities. We found that the oncologists failed to recognize frailty in a large number of patients, and also missed a range of comorbidities. On the other hand, by performing our mGA, we identified patients with poor QoL, high symptom burden and poor survival, who needs particular attention. These findings underline the need for a broad systematic assessment of older cancer patients, and based on current evidence as well as present results, GA may be the preferred method.

Although still young, the geriatric oncology field is growing, and around the world there have been established research units, fellow training programs as well as clinical units especially focused on geriatric oncology [294]. Despite GA being highly recommended in older cancer patients [174, 189], this assessment is yet to be implemented as a routine in clinical care in Norway. Introducing GA into an already busy oncology clinic requires time as well as skills in geriatrics and the implementation process needs to be adapted to local structures and available recourses. In larger hospitals having both geriatric and oncology expertise this might be achieved by establishing a close collaboration and special geriatric oncology teams to perform GA in older cancer patients. In smaller hospitals, however, there is often few geriatricians available. To be able to introduce geriatric oncology into all hospitals it is also reasonable to educate oncologist in basic geriatrics as part of their fellow training. Furthermore, whether all older cancer patients need a full GA is questionable. Introducing a simple frailty screening tool, e.g., G8 or VES-13, as part of the standard assessments of older cancer patients is simple, requires minimal time and recourses, and might be the most efficient and useful way to introduce geriatric assessment into oncology. All patients scoring above a certain cut-off value in the frailty screening tools could then be recommended be assessed by a full GA. The need for introducing some sort of GA or frailty screening becomes

increasingly important as our cancer population ages and patients are being treated with several lines of different systemic treatment.

Although GA gives us important knowledge of the older cancer patient, most studies so far have focused on the prognostic and predictive ability of a geriatric assessment, while little documentation exists of whether intervening on geriatric deficits identified by a GA will improve older cancer patients' outcomes. We need future studies specifically planned for older cancer patients that investigate whether intervening on geriatric deficits can improve patients' treatment tolerance, OS or QoL. There is also a need for interventional studies to investigate whether by adjusting treatment according to frailty level, one can improve outcomes for frail older cancer patients. A well-known study of advanced NSCLC patients, for instance, used GA and randomized patients to receive either standard treatment or treatment based on frailty level [295]. Despite significantly more patients being treated with best supportive care in the GA-arm, survival in the two groups was similar, and patients in the GA-arm reported significantly less toxicity. Results from other RCTs including GA are pending [296, 297].

In general, older patients are still underrepresented in clinical trials investigating new forms of cancer treatment. Thus, continuous work to increase the number of older patients into all ongoing cancer trials is essential to gain knowledge of treatment tolerance and prognosis. There is a need for more studies including GA in older patients receiving systemic cancer therapy. Optimally, to avoid potential confounders, these studies should include more homogeneous population cohorts with respect to cancer type and treatment as well as information about treatment response and the need for dose reduction or treatment delays. Furthermore, by including information from systematic comorbidity and frailty registrations we can achieve information about patients' treatment tolerance according to frailty and comorbidity level. By measuring outcomes highly valued by older cancer patients, e.g., introducing a PROM like QLQ-C30 as a longitudinal outcome, we can gain knowledge of older patients functioning and symptoms during cancer treatment. This information is of major importance for them being able to engage in shared decision making when planning cancer treatment. Furthermore, although consensus of which areas to include in a GA has been reached, it would be an advantage to reach a consensus on a frailty definition based on a GA as well as cut-offs of different assessment tools to ease comparison between trials.
Conclusions

Systematic assessment of comorbidity and frailty in cancer patients detects more comorbidity and frailty when compared with physician's clinical judgement.

The assessment method used to measure comorbidity and frailty affects the amount of registered comorbidities and frailty. Thorough description of comorbidity and frailty registrations in trials are paramount due to lack of a standardized assessment.

Being frail according to a systematic geriatric assessment is an independent prognostic factor for overall survival.

Geriatric assessment identifies frail patients with increased risk of physical decline, poor functioning and high symptom burden during and following cancer treatment.

References

- 1. Clegg, A., et al., *Frailty in elderly people*. Lancet, 2013. **381**(9868): p. 752-62.
- Morley, J.E., et al., *Frailty consensus: a call to action.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2013. 14(6): p. 392-7.
- 3. National Cancer Institute Dictionary of Cancer Terms, in National Cancer Institute Dictionary of Cancer Terms.
- 4. Marcussen N, S.F., Holck S, Teiniche T, Santoni-Rugiu E, *Patologi*. 2013: FADL's forlag. 757.
- Helsedirektoratet, Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av lungekreft, mesoteliom og thymom, Helsedirektoratet, Editor. 2018.
- 6. Schlicthing E, W.E., *Kreftsykdommer en basisbok for helsepersonell*. 2018: Gyldendal Akademisk. 484.
- 7. Helsedirektoratet, Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av kreft i tykktarm og endetarm. 2017.
- 8. WHO. *Factsheets cancer* Globocan 2018 [cited 2018.
- 9. Cancer in Norway 2018 Cancer incidence, mortality, survival and prevalence in Norway.
 2019, Cancer Registry of Norway, Oslo: https://www.kreftregisteret.no/Generelt/Rapporter/Cancer-in-Norway/cancer-in-norway-2018/.
- 10. De Angelis, R., et al., *Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE--5-a population-based study.* Lancet Oncol, 2014. **15**(1): p. 23-34.
- 11. Folkehelseinstituttet. *Stadig færre dør av kreft og hjerte- og karsykdom* 2019; Available from: <u>https://www.fhi.no/nyheter/2019/stadig-farre-dor-av-kreft-og-hjerte--og-karsykdom/</u>.
- 12. Bray, F., et al., *Global cancer transitions according to the Human Development Index (2008-2030): a population-based study.* Lancet Oncol, 2012. **13**(8): p. 790-801.
- Amin, M.B., Edge, S., Greene, F., Byrd, D.R., Brookland, R.K., Washington, M.K., Gershenwald, J.E., Compton, C.C., Hess, K.R., Sullivan, D.C., Jessup, J.M., Brierley, J.D., Gaspar, L.E., Schilsky, R.L., Balch, C.M., Winchester, D.P., Asare, E.A., Madera, M., Gress, D.M., Meyer, L.R., *AJCC Cancer Staging Manual 8th edition*. 2017.
- 14. Specht L, H.J., Storm H H, Rørth M, *Klinisk onkologi*. Vol. 1. 2015. 430.
- 15. Gruppe, N.B.C. 2018; Available from: <u>https://nbcg.no/</u>.
- 16. Lungekreftgruppe, N.; Available from: <u>http://nlcg.no/</u>.
- 17. Helsedirektoratet. Webside for handlingsprogrammene til kreft]. Available from: <u>https://helsedirektoratet.no/kreft/nasjonale-handlingsprogrammer-for-kreft</u>.
- Olav Dahl, G.L., Thoralf Christoffersen et al, *Medikamentell kreftbehandling*.
 Cytostatikaboken. 8 ed. 2016: Universitetet i Oslo, Det medisinske fakultet, Institutt for klinisk medisin, Avdeling for farmakologi. 661.
- Citrin, D.E., *Recent Developments in Radiotherapy*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2017.
 377(11): p. 1065-1075.
- 20. Pfeffer, M.R. and P. Blumenfeld, *The Changing Paradigm of Radiotherapy in the Elderly Population.* Cancer J, 2017. **23**(4): p. 223-230.
- 21. Sharma, S., L. Hertan, and J. Jones, *Palliative radiotherapy: current status and future directions.* Semin Oncol, 2014. **41**(6): p. 751-63.
- 22. (NBCG), N.B.C.G., *Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av pasienter med brystkreft*, Helsedirektoratet, Editor. 2017.
- 23. Daste, A., et al., *Targeted therapy and elderly people: A review*. Eur J Cancer, 2016. **69**: p. 199-215.
- 24. Antonia, S.J., et al., *Four-year survival with nivolumab in patients with previously treated advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a pooled analysis.* Lancet Oncol, 2019. **20**(10): p. 1395-1408.

- 25. Moreira, R.S., et al., *Anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in advanced metastatic melanoma: State of the art and future challenges.* Life Sci, 2020. **240**: p. 117093.
- 26. Paesmans, M., *Prognostic and predictive factors for lung cancer*. Breathe, 2012. **9**(2): p. 112-121.
- 27. Nasjonalt handlingsprogram med retningslinjer for diagnostikk, behandling og oppfølging av maligne melanomer, Helsedirektoratet, Editor. 2017.
- 28. Kawaguchi, T., et al., *Performance status and smoking status are independent favorable prognostic factors for survival in non-small cell lung cancer: a comprehensive analysis of 26,957 patients with NSCLC.* J Thorac Oncol, 2010. **5**(5): p. 620-30.
- 29. Quinten, C., et al., *Baseline quality of life as a prognostic indicator of survival: a meta-analysis of individual patient data from EORTC clinical trials.* Lancet Oncol, 2009. **10**(9): p. 865-71.
- 30. Yates, J.W., B. Chalmer, and F.P. McKegney, *Evaluation of patients with advanced cancer* using the Karnofsky performance status. Cancer, 1980. **45**(8): p. 2220-4.
- 31. Oken, M.M., et al., *Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.* Am J Clin Oncol, 1982. **5**(6): p. 649-55.
- 32. Jang, R.W., et al., *Simple prognostic model for patients with advanced cancer based on performance status.* J Oncol Pract, 2014. **10**(5): p. e335-41.
- 33. Martin, L., et al., *Diagnostic criteria for the classification of cancer-associated weight loss.* J Clin Oncol, 2015. **33**(1): p. 90-9.
- 34. McMillan, D.C., *The systemic inflammation-based Glasgow Prognostic Score: a decade of experience in patients with cancer.* Cancer Treat Rev, 2013. **39**(5): p. 534-40.
- 35. Maione, P., et al., *Pretreatment quality of life and functional status assessment significantly predict survival of elderly patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving chemotherapy: a prognostic analysis of the multicenter Italian lung cancer in the elderly study.* J Clin Oncol, 2005. **23**(28): p. 6865-72.
- 36. Pazdur, R., *Endpoints for assessing drug activity in clinical trials*. Oncologist, 2008. **13 Suppl 2**: p. 19-21.
- 37. Deshpande, P.R., et al., *Patient-reported outcomes: A new era in clinical research*. Perspect Clin Res, 2011. **2**(4): p. 137-44.
- 38. *WHOQOL: Measuring Quality of Life*. 2019 16.06.2019]; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/healthinfo/survey/whoqol-qualityoflife/en/</u>.
- 39. Fayers, P., & Machin, D. . , *Quality of life. Assessment, analysis and interpretation*. 2000: Chichester: Wiley.
- 40. Hinz, A., S. Singer, and E. Brahler, *European reference values for the quality of life questionnaire EORTC QLQ-C30: Results of a German investigation and a summarizing analysis of six European general population normative studies.* Acta Oncol, 2014. **53**(7): p. 958-65.
- 41. Quinten, C., et al., *The effects of age on health-related quality of life in cancer populations: A pooled analysis of randomized controlled trials using the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) QLQ-C30 involving 6024 cancer patients.* Eur J Cancer, 2015. **51**(18): p. 2808-19.
- 42. Aaronson, N.K., et al., *The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 1993. **85**(5): p. 365-76.
- 43. Cella, D.F., et al., *The Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy scale: development and validation of the general measure.* J Clin Oncol, 1993. **11**(3): p. 570-9.
- 44. Luckett, T., et al., *Choosing between the EORTC QLQ-C30 and FACT-G for measuring healthrelated quality of life in cancer clinical research: issues, evidence and recommendations.* Annals of Oncology, 2011. **22**(10): p. 2179-2190.
- 45. Atkinson, T.M., et al., *Patient-Reported Physical Function Measures in Cancer Clinical Trials.* Epidemiologic Reviews, 2017. **39**(1): p. 59-70.
- 46. Feinstein, A.R., *THE PRE-THERAPEUTIC CLASSIFICATION OF CO-MORBIDITY IN CHRONIC DISEASE*. J Chronic Dis, 1970. **23**(7): p. 455-68.

- 47. Stenholm, S., et al., *Comorbidity and functional trajectories from midlife to old age: the Health and Retirement Study.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2015. **70**(3): p. 332-8.
- 48. Barnett, K., et al., *Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study.* The Lancet, 2012. **380**(9836): p. 37-43.
- 49. Edwards, B.K., et al., Annual Report to the Nation on the status of cancer, 1975-2010, featuring prevalence of comorbidity and impact on survival among persons with lung, colorectal, breast, or prostate cancer. Cancer, 2014. **120**(9): p. 1290-314.
- 50. Sogaard, M., et al., *The impact of comorbidity on cancer survival: a review*. Clin Epidemiol, 2013. **5**(Suppl 1): p. 3-29.
- 51. Sarfati, D., B. Koczwara, and C. Jackson, *The impact of comorbidity on cancer and its treatment.* CA Cancer J Clin, 2016. **66**(4): p. 337-50.
- 52. Jorgensen, T.L., et al., *Comorbidity in elderly cancer patients in relation to overall and cancer-specific mortality.* Br J Cancer, 2012. **106**(7): p. 1353-60.
- 53. Gronberg, B.H., et al., *Influence of comorbidity on survival, toxicity and health-related quality of life in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving platinum-doublet chemotherapy*. Eur J Cancer, 2010. **46**(12): p. 2225-34.
- 54. Lee, L., et al., *Impact of comorbidity on chemotherapy use and outcomes in solid tumors: a systematic review.* J Clin Oncol, 2011. **29**(1): p. 106-17.
- 55. Hassett, M.J., et al., *Chemotherapy-related hospitalization among community cancer center patients*. Oncologist, 2011. **16**(3): p. 378-87.
- 56. El Shayeb, M., et al., *Reasons physicians do not recommend and patients refuse adjuvant chemotherapy for stage III colon cancer: a population based chart review.* BMC Res Notes, 2012. **5**: p. 269.
- 57. Kronish IM, F.K., Cohen L, Hersman D *Extent of Exclusion for Chronic Conditions in Breast Cancer Trials.* JNCI Cancer Spectrum,, 2018. **2**(4).
- 58. Sarfati, D., *Review of methods used to measure comorbidity in cancer populations: no gold standard exists.* J Clin Epidemiol, 2012. **65**(9): p. 924-33.
- 59. Hurria, A., et al., *Distress in older patients with cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(26): p. 4346-51.
- 60. Fillenbaum, G.G. and M.A. Smyer, *The development, validity, and reliability of the OARS multidimensional functional assessment questionnaire.* J Gerontol, 1981. **36**(4): p. 428-34.
- 61. Williams, G.R., et al., *Comorbidity in older adults with cancer.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2016. **7**(4): p. 249-57.
- 62. Charlson, M.E., et al., *A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation.* J Chronic Dis, 1987. **40**(5): p. 373-83.
- 63. Deleuran, T., et al., *Comorbidity and survival of Danish lung cancer patients from 2000-2011: a population-based cohort study.* Clin Epidemiol, 2013. **5**(Suppl 1): p. 31-8.
- 64. Linn, B.S., M.W. Linn, and L. Gurel, *Cumulative illness rating scale.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 1968. **16**(5): p. 622-6.
- 65. Miller, M.D., et al., *Rating chronic medical illness burden in geropsychiatric practice and research: application of the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale.* Psychiatry Res, 1992. **41**(3): p. 237-48.
- 66. Miller MD, T.A. *A Manual of Guidelines for Scoring the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G).* Pittsburgh, PA: University of

Pittsburgh, 1991; Available from:

http://www.anq.ch/fileadmin/redaktion/deutsch/20121211 CIRSG Manual E.pdf.

- 67. Salvi, F., et al., A manual of guidelines to score the modified cumulative illness rating scale and its validation in acute hospitalized elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2008. **56**(10): p. 1926-31.
- 68. Salvi, F., *Kumulativ skår for sykdomsbyrde*. JAGS, 2008.
- 69. Extermann, M., *Measuring comorbidity in older cancer patients*. Eur J Cancer, 2000. **36**(4): p. 453-71.

- 70. Firat, S., R.W. Byhardt, and E. Gore, *Comorbidity and Karnofksy performance score are independent prognostic factors in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: an institutional analysis of patients treated on four RTOG studies. Radiation Therapy Oncology Group.* Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2002. **54**(2): p. 357-64.
- 71. Brustugun, O.T., et al., *Mutasjonstesting ved ikke-småcellet lungekreft*. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen, 2012: p. 952-5.
- 72. Lin, J.J., et al., *Five-Year Survival in EGFR-Mutant Metastatic Lung Adenocarcinoma Treated with EGFR-TKIs.* J Thorac Oncol, 2016. **11**(4): p. 556-65.
- 73. Pilleron, S., et al., *Global cancer incidence in older adults, 2012 and 2035: A population-based study.* Int J Cancer, 2019. **144**(1): p. 49-58.
- 74. Syse, A., *Cancer incidence, prevalence and survival in an aging Norwegian population.* Norsk Epidemiologi, 2012. **22**(22 (2)): p. 109-120.
- 75. Walter, L.C., *Cancer Screening in Elderly Patients*. JAMA Intern Med, 2001.
- 76. Repetto, L., *Greater risks of chemotherapy toxicity in elderly patients with cancer.* J Support Oncol, 2003. **1**(4 Suppl 2): p. 18-24.
- 77. Chang, S., N.E. Goldstein, and K.V. Dharmarajan, *Managing an Older Adult with Cancer: Considerations for Radiation Oncologists.* Biomed Res Int, 2017. **2017**: p. 1695101.
- 78. Rauma, V., et al., *Patient features predicting long-term survival and health-related quality of life after radical surgery for non-small cell lung cancer*. Thorac Cancer, 2016. **7**(3): p. 333-9.
- 79. Belani, C.P. and F. Fossella, *Elderly subgroup analysis of a randomized phase III study of docetaxel plus platinum combinations versus vinorelbine plus cisplatin for first-line treatment of advanced nonsmall cell lung carcinoma (TAX 326).* Cancer, 2005. **104**(12): p. 2766-2774.
- 80. Handforth, C., et al., *The prevalence and outcomes of frailty in older cancer patients: a systematic review.* Ann Oncol, 2015. **26**(6): p. 1091-101.
- 81. Puts, M.T., et al., *A systematic review of factors influencing older adults' decision to accept or decline cancer treatment.* Cancer Treat Rev, 2015. **41**(2): p. 197-215.
- 82. Yellen, S.C., DF.; Leslie, WT., *Age and Clinical Decision making in Oncology Patients.* journal of the National Cancer Institute, 1994. **86**(23).
- 83. Fried , T.R., et al., *Understanding the Treatment Preferences of Seriously III Patients*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2002. **346**(14): p. 1061-1066.
- 84. Salkeld, G., et al., *Quality of life related to fear of falling and hip fracture in older women: a time trade off study.* BMJ, 2000. **320**(7231): p. 341-6.
- 85. Singh, H., A. Hurria, and H.D. Klepin, *Progress Through Collaboration: An ASCO and U.S. Food and Drug Administration Workshop to Improve the Evidence Base for Treating Older Adults With Cancer.* Am Soc Clin Oncol Educ Book, 2018. **38**: p. 392-399.
- 86. Hurria, A., Under-Representation of Older Adults in Cancer

Registration Trials: Known Problem, Little Progress. J Clin Oncol, 2012.

- 87. Hamaker, M.E., R. Stauder, and B.C. van Munster, *On-going clinical trials for elderly patients with a hematological malignancy: are we addressing the right end points?* Ann Oncol, 2014.
 25(3): p. 675-81.
- 88. Guthrie, B., et al., Adapting clinical guidelines to take account of multimorbidity. Bmj, 2012.
 345: p. e6341.
- 89. Wallwiener, C., et al., Adjuvant chemotherapy in elderly patients with primary breast cancer: are women ≥65 undertreated? Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology, 2016. **142**.
- 90. Schwartz, K.L., et al., *Continued undertreatment of older men with localized prostate cancer.* Urology, 2003. **62**(5): p. 860-5.
- 91. Liu, N., et al., *Underutilization of Treatment for Regional Gastric Cancer Among the Elderly in the USA.* J Gastrointest Surg, 2018. **22**(6): p. 955-963.
- 92. Swaminathan, D. and V. Swaminathan, *Geriatric oncology: problems with under-treatment within this population.* Cancer Biol Med, 2015. **12**(4): p. 275-83.

- 93. Quaglia, A., et al., *The cancer survival gap between elderly and middle-aged patients in Europe is widening.* Eur J Cancer, 2009. **45**(6): p. 1006-16.
- 94. Nedrebø, B.S., et al., *Survival effect of implementing national treatment strategies for curatively resected colonic and rectal cancer*. BJS, 2011. **98**(5): p. 716-723.
- 95. Masaoka, H., et al., *Potential overtreatment among men aged 80 years and older with localized prostate cancer in Japan.* Cancer Sci, 2017. **108**(8): p. 1673-1680.
- 96. Kirkwood, T.B., Understanding the odd science of aging. Cell, 2005. **120**(4): p. 437-47.
- 97. Sawhney, R., M. Sehl, and A. Naeim, *Physiologic Aspects of Aging: Impact on Cancer Management and Decision Making, Part I.* The Cancer Journal, 2005. **11**(6): p. 449-460.
- 98. Sehl, M., R. Sawhney, and A. Naeim, *Physiologic aspects of aging: impact on cancer management and decision making, part II.* Cancer J, 2005. **11**(6): p. 461-73.
- 99. Ryan, A.M., et al., *Cancer-associated malnutrition, cachexia and sarcopenia: the skeleton in the hospital closet 40 years later.* Proc Nutr Soc, 2016. **75**(2): p. 199-211.
- 100. Soto-Perez-de-Celis, E., et al., *Functional versus chronological age: geriatric assessments to guide decision making in older patients with cancer.* The Lancet Oncology, 2018. **19**(6): p. e305-e316.
- 101. Masnoon, N., et al., *What is polypharmacy? A systematic review of definitions*. BMC Geriatr, 2017. **17**(1): p. 230.
- 102. Sharma, M., et al., *Polypharmacy and potentially inappropriate medication use in geriatric oncology*. J Geriatr Oncol, 2016. **7**(5): p. 346-53.
- 103. Turner, J.P., et al., *Polypharmacy cut-points in older people with cancer: how many medications are too many?* Support Care Cancer, 2015.
- 104. Berg C (red), *The Norwegian Prescription Database 2013-2017*. Folkehelseinstituttet 2018.
- 105. Ferrat, E., et al., *Predictors of 1-Year Mortality in a Prospective Cohort of Elderly Patients With Cancer.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2015.
- 106. Kristjansson, S.R., et al., *Which elements of a comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) predict post-operative complications and early mortality after colorectal cancer surgery?* Journal of Geriatric Oncology, 2010. **1**(2): p. 57-65.
- 107. Hamaker, M.E., et al., Baseline comprehensive geriatric assessment is associated with toxicity and survival in elderly metastatic breast cancer patients receiving single-agent chemotherapy: results from the OMEGA study of the Dutch breast cancer trialists' group. Breast, 2014. **23**(1): p. 81-7.
- 108. Hamaker, M.E., et al., *The value of a comprehensive geriatric assessment for patient care in acutely hospitalized older patients with cancer.* Oncologist, 2011. **16**(10): p. 1403-12.
- 109. Maher, R.L., J. Hanlon, and E.R. Hajjar, *Clinical consequences of polypharmacy in elderly*. Expert opinion on drug safety, 2014. **13**(1): p. 57-65.
- 110. Fried, T.R., et al., *Health outcomes associated with polypharmacy in community-dwelling older adults: a systematic review.* Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2014. **62**(12): p. 2261-2272.
- 111. ICF, W., World Health Organization: International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. 2001: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 112. Painter, P. and R.L. Marcus, *Assessing physical function and physical activity in patients with CKD*. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol, 2013. **8**(5): p. 861-72.
- 113. Heiland, E.G., et al., *Association of mobility limitations with incident disability among older adults: a population-based study.* Age Ageing, 2016. **45**(6): p. 812-819.
- 114. Hung, W.W., et al., *Recent trends in chronic disease, impairment and disability among older adults in the United States.* BMC Geriatrics, 2011. **11**(1): p. 47.
- 115. Hoppe, S., et al., *Functional decline in older patients with cancer receiving first-line chemotherapy.* J Clin Oncol, 2013. **31**(31): p. 3877-82.
- 116. Hurria, A.C.H., *Practical geriatric oncology*. 1 ed. 2010: Cambridge University Press. 435.
- 117. Studenski, S., et al., *Gait speed and survival in older adults*. Jama, 2011. **305**(1): p. 50-8.

- 118. Keeler, E., et al., *The impact of functional status on life expectancy in older persons.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2010. **65**(7): p. 727-33.
- 119. White, D.K., et al., *Trajectories of gait speed predict mortality in well-functioning older adults: the Health, Aging and Body Composition study.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2013. **68**(4): p. 456-64.
- 120. Verweij, N.M., et al., *Physical performance measures for predicting outcome in cancer patients: a systematic review*. Acta Oncol, 2016. **55**(12): p. 1386-1391.
- 121. Hurria, A., et al., *Predicting chemotherapy toxicity in older adults with cancer: a prospective multicenter study.* J Clin Oncol, 2011. **29**(25): p. 3457-65.
- 122. Extermann, M., et al., *Predicting the risk of chemotherapy toxicity in older patients: the Chemotherapy Risk Assessment Scale for High-Age Patients (CRASH) score.* Cancer, 2012. **118**(13): p. 3377-86.
- 123. Mogal, H.D., et al., *Quality of life of older African American breast cancer survivors: a population-based study.* Support Care Cancer, 2017. **25**(5): p. 1431-1438.
- 124. Cederholm, T., et al., *ESPEN guidelines on definitions and terminology of clinical nutrition*. Clin Nutr, 2017. **36**(1): p. 49-64.
- 125. Olde Rikkert, M.G. and A.S. Rigaud, *Malnutrition research: high time to change the menu.* Age Ageing, 2003. **32**(3): p. 241-3.
- 126. Kaiser, M.J., et al., *Frequency of malnutrition in older adults: a multinational perspective using the mini nutritional assessment.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2010. **58**(9): p. 1734-8.
- Tangvik, R.J., et al., Nutritional risk profile in a university hospital population. Clin Nutr, 2015.
 34(4): p. 705-11.
- 128. Muscaritoli, M., et al., *Prevalence of malnutrition in patients at first medical oncology visit: the PreMiO study*. Oncotarget, 2017. **8**(45): p. 79884-79896.
- 129. Wheelwright, S., et al., *A systematic review of health-related quality of life instruments in patients with cancer cachexia.* Support Care Cancer, 2013. **21**(9): p. 2625-36.
- 130. Aaldriks, A.A., et al., *Frailty and malnutrition predictive of mortality risk in older patients with advanced colorectal cancer receiving chemotherapy.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2013. **4**(3): p. 218-26.
- 131. Pressoir, M., et al., *Prevalence, risk factors and clinical implications of malnutrition in French Comprehensive Cancer Centres.* Br J Cancer, 2010. **102**(6): p. 966-71.
- 132. Hamaker, M.E., et al., *The value of geriatric assessments in predicting treatment tolerance and all-cause mortality in older patients with cancer*. Oncologist, 2012. **17**(11): p. 1439-49.
- 133. Puts, M.T., et al., *Use of geriatric assessment for older adults in the oncology setting: a systematic review.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2012. **104**(15): p. 1133-63.
- 134. Ganz, D.A., et al., *Will my patient fall?* Jama, 2007. **297**(1): p. 77-86.
- 135. Wildes, T.M., et al., *Systematic review of falls in older adults with cancer*. J Geriatr Oncol, 2015. **6**(1): p. 70-83.
- 136. Rubenstein, L.Z., *Falls in older people: epidemiology, risk factors and strategies for prevention.* Age Ageing, 2006. **35 Suppl 2**: p. ii37-ii41.
- 137. Boyé, N., et al., *The impact of falls in the elderly*. Trauma, 2013. **15**: p. 29-35.
- 138. Kolb, N.A., et al., *The Association of Chemotherapy-Induced Peripheral Neuropathy Symptoms and the Risk of Falling*. JAMA Neurol, 2016. **73**(7): p. 860-6.
- 139. Ward, P.R., et al., *Fall-related injuries in elderly cancer patients treated with neurotoxic chemotherapy: a retrospective cohort study.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2014. **5**(1): p. 57-64.
- 140. Harada, C.N., M.C. Natelson Love, and K.L. Triebel, *Normal cognitive aging.* Clin Geriatr Med, 2013. **29**(4): p. 737-52.
- 141. Langa, K.M. and D.A. Levine, *The Diagnosis and Management of Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Clinical Review.* JAMA, 2014. **312**(23): p. 2551-2561.
- 142. Prince, M., et al., *The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis.* Alzheimers Dement, 2013. **9**(1): p. 63-75.e2.
- 143. The ICD-10 Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders Diagnostic criteria for research 1993, World Health Organization

- 144. Karr, J.E., et al., When does cognitive decline begin? A systematic review of change point studies on accelerated decline in cognitive and neurological outcomes preceding mild cognitive impairment, dementia, and death. Psychol Aging, 2018. **33**(2): p. 195-218.
- 145. Caillet, P., et al., *Optimal management of elderly cancer patients: usefulness of the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment.* Clin Interv Aging, 2014. **9**: p. 1645-60.
- 146. Elliott, R.A., et al., *Ability of older people with dementia or cognitive impairment to manage medicine regimens: a narrative review.* Curr Clin Pharmacol, 2015. **10**(3): p. 213-21.
- 147. Malone, D.C., et al., *Burden of Alzheimer's disease and association with negative health outcomes*. Am J Manag Care, 2009. **15**(8): p. 481-8.
- 148. Bail, K., et al., *Potentially preventable complications of urinary tract infections, pressure areas, pneumonia, and delirium in hospitalised dementia patients: retrospective cohort study.* BMJ open, 2013. **3**(6): p. e002770.
- 149. Libert, Y., et al., *Vulnerabilities in Older Patients when Cancer Treatment is Initiated: Does a Cognitive Impairment Impact the Two-Year Survival?* PLoS One, 2016. **11**(8): p. e0159734.
- 150. Karuturi, M., et al., *Understanding cognition in older patients with cancer*. Journal of geriatric oncology, 2016. **7**(4): p. 258-269.
- 151. Hurria, A., et al., *Cognitive function of older patients receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer: a pilot prospective longitudinal study.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2006. **54**(6): p. 925-31.
- 152. Mandelblatt, J.S., et al., *Long-term trajectories of self-reported cognitive function in a cohort of older survivors of breast cancer: CALGB 369901 (Alliance).* Cancer, 2016.
- 153. Walker, J., et al., *Prevalence, associations, and adequacy of treatment of major depression in patients with cancer: a cross-sectional analysis of routinely collected clinical data.* Lancet Psychiatry, 2014. **1**(5): p. 343-50.
- 154. Hamaker, M.E., et al., *The effect of a geriatric evaluation on treatment decisions for older cancer patients--a systematic review*. Acta Oncol, 2014. **53**(3): p. 289-96.
- 155. Gilman, S.E., et al., *Depression and mortality in a longitudinal study: 1952-2011.* Cmaj, 2017. **189**(42): p. E1304-e1310.
- 156. Wedding, U., et al., *Depression and functional impairment independently contribute to decreased quality of life in cancer patients prior to chemotherapy.* Acta Oncol, 2008. **47**(1): p. 56-62.
- 157. Ramjaun, A., et al., *Improved targeting of cancer care for older patients: a systematic review of the utility of comprehensive geriatric assessment.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2013. **4**(3): p. 271-81.
- 158. Colleoni, M., et al., *Depression and degree of acceptance of adjuvant cytotoxic drugs*. The Lancet, 2000. **356**(9238): p. 1326-1327.
- Fried, L.P., et al., Untangling the Concepts of Disability, Frailty, and Comorbidity: Implications for Improved Targeting and Care. The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 2004. 59(3): p. M255-M263.
- 160. Rodriguez-Manas, L., et al., *Searching for an operational definition of frailty: a Delphi method based consensus statement: the frailty operative definition-consensus conference project.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2013. **68**(1): p. 62-7.
- 161. Collard, R.M., et al., *Prevalence of frailty in community-dwelling older persons: a systematic review*. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2012. **60**(8): p. 1487-92.
- 162. Ensrud, K.E., et al., *Comparison of 2 frailty indexes for prediction of falls, disability, fractures, and death in older women.* Arch Intern Med, 2008. **168**(4): p. 382-9.
- 163. Woods, N.F., et al., Frailty: Emergence and Consequences in Women Aged 65 and Older in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 2005. 53(8): p. 1321-1330.
- 164. de Vries, N.M., et al., *Outcome instruments to measure frailty: a systematic review.* Ageing Res Rev, 2011. **10**(1): p. 104-14.
- 165. Fried, L.P., et al., *Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype*. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2001. **56**(3): p. M146-56.

- 166. Mitnitski, A.B., A.J. Mogilner, and K. Rockwood, *Accumulation of deficits as a proxy measure of aging.* ScientificWorldJournal, 2001. **1**: p. 323-36.
- 167. Mitnitski, A.B., A.J. Mogilner, and K. Rockwood, *Accumulation of deficits as a proxy measure of aging.* The Scientific World, 2001. **1**.
- 168. Rubenstein, L.Z., *Joseph T. Freeman Award LectureComprehensive Geriatric Assessment: From Miracle to Reality.* The Journals of Gerontology: Series A, 2004. **59**(5): p. M473-M477.
- 169. Puts, M.T.E. and S.M.H. Alibhai, *Fighting back against the dilution of the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment*. J Geriatr Oncol, 2018. **9**(1): p. 3-5.
- Pilotto, A., et al., *Three Decades of Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment: Evidence Coming From Different Healthcare Settings and Specific Clinical Conditions.* J Am Med Dir Assoc, 2017.
 18(2): p. 192.e1-192.e11.
- Saltvedt, I., et al., Reduced mortality in treating acutely sick, frail older patients in a geriatric evaluation and management unit. A prospective randomized trial. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2002.
 50(5): p. 792-8.
- 172. Ellis, G., et al., *Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older adults admitted to hospital: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials.* BMJ, 2011. **343**: p. d6553.
- 173. Extermann, M., et al., *Use of comprehensive geriatric assessment in older cancer patients: recommendations from the task force on CGA of the International Society of Geriatric Oncology (SIOG).* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2005. **55**(3): p. 241-52.
- 174. Wildiers, H., et al., International Society of Geriatric Oncology consensus on geriatric assessment in older patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol, 2014. **32**(24): p. 2595-603.
- 175. Klepin, H.D. and T.M. Wildes, *Fighting for the integration of geriatric principles into oncology*. J Geriatr Oncol, 2018. **9**(6): p. 705-706.
- 176. Katz, S., et al., *STUDIES OF ILLNESS IN THE AGED. THE INDEX OF ADL: A STANDARDIZED MEASURE OF BIOLOGICAL AND PSYCHOSOCIAL FUNCTION.* Jama, 1963. **185**: p. 914-9.
- 177. Lawton, M.P. and E.M. Brody, *Assessment of older people: self-maintaining and instrumental activities of daily living.* Gerontologist, 1969. **9**(3): p. 179-86.
- 178. Jolly, T.A., et al., *Geriatric assessment-identified deficits in older cancer patients with normal performance status.* Oncologist, 2015. **20**(4): p. 379-85.
- 179. Podsiadlo, D. and S. Richardson, *The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons.* Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 1991. **39**(2): p. 142-8.
- 180. Guralnik, J.M., et al., *Lower extremity function and subsequent disability: consistency across studies, predictive models, and value of gait speed alone compared with the short physical performance battery.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2000. **55**(4): p. M221-31.
- 181. Savva, G.M., et al., *Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2013. **68**(4): p. 441-6.
- 182. Ottery, F.D., *Definition of standardized nutritional assessment and interventional pathways in oncology*. Nutrition, 1996. **12**(1 Suppl): p. S15-9.
- 183. Guigoz, Y., *The Mini Nutritional Assessment (MNA) review of the literature--What does it tell us?* J Nutr Health Aging, 2006. **10**(6): p. 466-85; discussion 485-7.
- 184. Kaiser, M.J., et al., Validation of the Mini Nutritional Assessment short-form (MNA-SF): a practical tool for identification of nutritional status. J Nutr Health Aging, 2009. 13(9): p. 782-8.
- 185. Folstein, M.F., S.E. Folstein, and P.R. McHugh, "*Mini-mental state*". A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res, 1975. **12**(3): p. 189-98.
- 186. Strobel, C.E., K. Oslo, *MMSE-NR. Norsk Revidert Mini Mental Status Evaluering. Revidert og utvidet manual.* 2008, Norwegian National Advisory Unit on Ageing and Health.
- 187. Nasreddine, Z.S., et al., *The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: a brief screening tool for mild cognitive impairment.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2005. **53**(4): p. 695-9.
- 188. Yesavage, J.A., et al., *Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report.* J Psychiatr Res, 1982. **17**(1): p. 37-49.

- 189. O'Donovan, A., S.G. Mohile, and M. Leech, *Expert consensus panel guidelines on geriatric assessment in oncology.* Eur J Cancer Care (Engl), 2015.
- 190. Balducci, L. and M. Extermann, *Management of cancer in the older person: a practical approach*. Oncologist, 2000. **5**(3): p. 224-37.
- 191. Balducci, L. and M. Extermann, *Management of the frail person with advanced cancer*. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2000. **33**(2): p. 143-8.
- 192. Winograd, C.H., et al., *Screening for frailty: criteria and predictors of outcomes*. J Am Geriatr Soc, 1991. **39**(8): p. 778-84.
- 193. Mohile, S.G., et al., *Association of a cancer diagnosis with vulnerability and frailty in older Medicare beneficiaries.* J Natl Cancer Inst, 2009. **101**(17): p. 1206-15.
- 194. Basso, U., et al., *Management of Frail and Not-Frail elderly cancer patients in a hospitalbased geriatric oncology program.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2008. **66**(2): p. 163-70.
- 195. Tucci, A., et al., A comprehensive geriatric assessment is more effective than clinical judgment to identify elderly diffuse large cell lymphoma patients who benefit from aggressive therapy. Cancer, 2009. **115**(19): p. 4547-53.
- 196. Kristjansson, S.R., et al., *Comprehensive geriatric assessment can predict complications in elderly patients after elective surgery for colorectal cancer: a prospective observational cohort study*. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2010. **76**(3): p. 208-17.
- 197. Hamaker, M.E., et al., *Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review.* The Lancet Oncology, 2012. **13**(10): p. e437-e444.
- 198. Gelman, R.S. and S.G.t. Taylor, *Cyclophosphamide, methotrexate, and 5-fluorouracil chemotherapy in women more than 65 years old with advanced breast cancer: the elimination of age trends in toxicity by using doses based on creatinine clearance.* J Clin Oncol, 1984. **2**(12): p. 1404-13.
- 199. Begg, C.B. and P.P. Carbone, *Clinical trials and drug toxicity in the elderly. The experience of the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.* Cancer, 1983. **52**(11): p. 1986-92.
- 200. SIOG. *About us*. Available from: <u>https://www.siog.org/content/about-us</u>.
- 201. Courtney-Brooks, M., et al., *Frailty: An outcome predictor for elderly gynecologic oncology patients*. Gynecologic Oncology, 2012. **126**(1): p. 20-24.
- 202. Tan, K.-Y., et al., Assessment for frailty is useful for predicting morbidity in elderly patients undergoing colorectal cancer resection whose comorbidities are already optimized. The American Journal of Surgery, 2012. **204**(2): p. 139-143.
- 203. Kristjansson, S.R., et al., *A comparison of two pre-operative frailty measures in older surgical cancer patients.* Journal of Geriatric Oncology. **3**(1): p. 1-7.
- 204. Puts, M.T., et al., *Are frailty markers useful for predicting treatment toxicity and mortality in older newly diagnosed cancer patients? Results from a prospective pilot study.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2011. **78**(2): p. 138-49.
- 205. Puts, M.T., et al., *Does frailty predict hospitalization, emergency department visits, and visits to the general practitioner in older newly-diagnosed cancer patients? Results of a prospective pilot study.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2010. **76**(2): p. 142-51.
- 206. Clough-Gorr, K.M., et al., *Examining five- and ten-year survival in older women with breast cancer using cancer-specific geriatric assessment.* Eur J Cancer, 2012. **48**(6): p. 805-12.
- 207. Aaldriks, A.A., et al., *Predictive value of geriatric assessment for patients older than 70 years, treated with chemotherapy.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2011. **79**(2): p. 205-12.
- 208. Bamias, A., et al., *Biweekly carboplatin/gemcitabine in patients with advanced urothelial cancer who are unfit for cisplatin-based chemotherapy: report of efficacy, quality of life and geriatric assessment.* Oncology, 2007. **73**(5-6): p. 290-7.
- 209. Kim, Y.J., et al., *Comprehensive geriatric assessment in Korean elderly cancer patients receiving chemotherapy*. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 2011. **137**(5): p. 839-47.

- 210. Wedding, U., et al., *Co-morbidity and functional deficits independently contribute to quality of life before chemotherapy in elderly cancer patients.* Support Care Cancer, 2007. **15**(9): p. 1097-104.
- 211. Puts, M.T., et al., *Quality of life during the course of cancer treatment in older newly diagnosed patients. Results of a prospective pilot study.* Ann Oncol, 2011. **22**(4): p. 916-23.
- 212. Hurria, A., et al., *A prospective, longitudinal study of the functional status and quality of life of older patients with breast cancer receiving adjuvant chemotherapy.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2006. **54**(7): p. 1119-24.
- 213. Given, C.W., et al., *Comparison of changes in physical functioning of elderly patients with new diagnoses of cancer.* Med Care, 2000. **38**(5): p. 482-93.
- 214. Given, B., et al., *Physical functioning of elderly cancer patients prior to diagnosis and following initial treatment*. Nurs Res, 2001. **50**(4): p. 222-32.
- 215. Kenis, C., et al., *Relevance of a systematic geriatric screening and assessment in older patients with cancer: results of a prospective multicentric study.* Ann Oncol, 2013. **24**(5): p. 1306-12.
- 216. Homsi, J., et al., *Symptom evaluation in palliative medicine: patient report vs systematic assessment.* Supportive Care in Cancer, 2006. **14**(5): p. 444.
- 217. Atkinson, T.M., et al., *Reliability of adverse symptom event reporting by clinicians*. Qual Life Res, 2012. **21**(7): p. 1159-64.
- 218. Wedding, U., et al., *Physicians' judgement and comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA)* select different patients as fit for chemotherapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2007. **64**(1): p. 1-9.
- 219. Clough-Gorr, K.M., et al., Older breast cancer survivors: geriatric assessment domains are associated with poor tolerance of treatment adverse effects and predict mortality over 7 years of follow-up. J Clin Oncol, 2010. **28**(3): p. 380-6.
- 220. Gronberg, B.H., et al., *Phase III study by the Norwegian lung cancer study group: pemetrexed plus carboplatin compared with gemcitabine plus carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2009. **27**(19): p. 3217-24.
- 221. Firat, S., et al., *Comorbidity and KPS are independent prognostic factors in stage I non-smallcell lung cancer.* Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2002. **52**(4): p. 1047-57.
- 222. Hurria, A., et al., *Developing a cancer-specific geriatric assessment: a feasibility study.* Cancer, 2005. **104**(9): p. 1998-2005.
- 223. Fayers, P., et al., *The EORTC QLQ-C30 Scoring Manual (3rd Edition)*. 2001, European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer, Brussels.
- 224. Ommundsen, N., et al., *Frailty is an independent predictor of survival in older patients with colorectal cancer.* Oncologist, 2014. **19**(12): p. 1268-75.
- 225. Soubeyran, P., et al., *Screening for vulnerability in older cancer patients: the ONCODAGE Prospective Multicenter Cohort Study.* PLoS One, 2014. **9**(12): p. e115060.
- 226. Kenis, C., et al., *Performance of two geriatric screening tools in older patients with cancer.* J Clin Oncol, 2014. **32**(1): p. 19-26.
- 227. Wildiers, H., CGA practice guidelines. 2011.
- 228. Friedman, B., M.J. Heisel, and R.L. Delavan, *Psychometric properties of the 15-item geriatric depression scale in functionally impaired, cognitively intact, community-dwelling elderly primary care patients.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2005. **53**(9): p. 1570-6.
- 229. Cullum, S., et al., *Screening for depression in older medical inpatients*. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry, 2006. **21**(5): p. 469-76.
- 230. Klepin, H.D., et al., *Comorbidity, chemotherapy toxicity, and outcomes among older women receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer on a clinical trial: CALGB 49907 and CALGB 361004 (alliance).* J Oncol Pract, 2014. **10**(5): p. e285-92.
- 231. Owusu, C., et al., *Screening older cancer patients for a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment: A comparison of three instruments.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2011. **2**(2): p. 121-129.
- 232. Williams, G.R., et al., *Geriatric assessment as an aide to understanding falls in older adults with cancer.* Support Care Cancer, 2015. **23**(8): p. 2273-80.

- 233. Nitenberg, G. and B. Raynard, *Nutritional support of the cancer patient: issues and dilemmas.* Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 2000. **34**(3): p. 137-68.
- 234. Osoba, D., et al., *Interpreting the significance of changes in health-related quality-of-life scores.* J Clin Oncol, 1998. **16**(1): p. 139-44.
- 235. Grimes, D.A. and K.F. Schulz, *Bias and causal associations in observational research*. Lancet, 2002. **359**(9302): p. 248-52.
- 236. Rothwell, P.M., *External validity of randomised controlled trials:* "To whom do the results of this trial apply?”. The Lancet. **365**(9453): p. 82-93.
- 237. Mann, C.J., *Observational research methods. Research design II: cohort, cross sectional, and case-control studies.* Emerg Med J, 2003. **20**(1): p. 54-60.
- 238. Carlson, M.D.A. and R.S. Morrison, *Study Design, Precision, and Validity in Observational Studies.* Journal of Palliative Medicine, 2009. **12**(1): p. 77-82.
- 239. Hsu, T., *Educational initiatives in geriatric oncology Who, why, and how?* J Geriatr Oncol, 2016. **7**(5): p. 390-6.
- 240. Hurria, A., *Geriatric assessment in oncology practice.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2009. **57 Suppl 2**: p. S246-9.
- 241. Fleshner, K., et al., *Comparison of Physician-Documented Versus Patient-Reported Collection of Comorbidities Among Patients With Prostate Cancer Upon First Visit to the Urology Clinic.* JCO Clin Cancer Inform, 2018. **2**: p. 1-10.
- 242. Beauchet, O., et al., *Timed Up and Go test and risk of falls in older adults: a systematic review.* J Nutr Health Aging, 2011. **15**(10): p. 933-8.
- 243. Huisman, M.G., et al., *"Timed Up & Go": A Screening Tool for Predicting 30-Day Morbidity in Onco-Geriatric Surgical Patients? <italic>A Multicenter Cohort Study</italic>. PLoS ONE, 2014.* **9**(1): p. e86863.
- 244. Fearon, K., et al., *Definition and classification of cancer cachexia: an international consensus.* Lancet Oncol, 2011. **12**(5): p. 489-95.
- 245. Kenis, C., et al., *Functional decline in older patients with cancer receiving chemotherapy: A multicenter prospective study.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2017. **8**(3): p. 196-205.
- 246. Lees, J. and A. Chan, *Polypharmacy in elderly patients with cancer: clinical implications and management*. Lancet Oncol, 2011. **12**(13): p. 1249-57.
- 247. Driscoll, J.J. and O. Rixe, *Overall survival: still the gold standard: why overall survival remains the definitive end point in cancer clinical trials.* Cancer J, 2009. **15**(5): p. 401-5.
- 248. Hjermstad, M.J., et al., *Health-related quality of life in the general Norwegian population assessed by the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality-of-Life Questionnaire: the QLQ=C30 (+ 3).* J Clin Oncol, 1998. **16**(3): p. 1188-96.
- 249. Brown, J.C., M.O. Harhay, and M.N. Harhay, *Patient-reported versus objectively-measured physical function and mortality risk among cancer survivors.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2016. **7**(2): p. 108-15.
- 250. Latham, N.K., et al., *Performance-based or self-report measures of physical function: which should be used in clinical trials of hip fracture patients?* Arch Phys Med Rehabil, 2008. **89**(11): p. 2146-55.
- 251. Ahlner-Elmqvist, M., et al., *Characteristics and implications of attrition in health-related quality of life studies in palliative care.* Palliative Medicine, 2009. **23**(5): p. 432-440.
- 252. Elmqvist, M.A., et al., *Health-related quality of life during the last three months of life in patients with advanced cancer*. Support Care Cancer, 2009. **17**(2): p. 191-8.
- 253. Kjaer, T.K., et al., Impact of symptom burden on health related quality of life of cancer survivors in a Danish cancer rehabilitation program: A longitudinal study. Acta Oncol, 2011.
 50(2): p. 223-32.
- 254. Firat, S., et al., *Age is independent of comorbidity influencing patient selection for combined modality therapy for treatment of stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC).* Am J Clin Oncol, 2006. **29**(3): p. 252-7.

- 255. Firat, S., R.W. Byhardt, and E. Gore, *The effects of comorbidity and age on RTOG study enrollment in Stage III non-small cell lung cancer patients who are eligible for RTOG studies.* Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys, 2010. **78**(5): p. 1394-9.
- 256. Dreyer, J., M. Bremer, and C. Henkenberens, *Comorbidity indexing for prediction of the clinical outcome after stereotactic body radiation therapy in non-small cell lung cancer.* Radiat Oncol, 2018. **13**(1): p. 213.
- 257. DeWees, T.A., et al., *Defining Optimal Comorbidity Measures for Patients With Early-Stage Non-small cell lung cancer Treated With Stereotactic Body Radiation Therapy.* Pract Radiat Oncol, 2019. **9**(1): p. e83-e89.
- 258. Alexander, M., et al., *The Influence of Comorbidity and the Simplified Comorbidity Score on Overall Survival in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer-A Prospective Cohort Study.* J Thorac Oncol, 2016. **11**(5): p. 748-757.
- 259. Otake, S., et al., *Impact of comorbidity index on morbidity and survival in non-small cell lung cancer*. Asian Cardiovasc Thorac Ann, 2016. **24**(1): p. 30-3.
- 260. Mellemgaard, A., et al., *Role of comorbidity on survival after radiotherapy and chemotherapy for nonsurgically treated lung cancer*. J Thorac Oncol, 2015. **10**(2): p. 272-9.
- 261. Islam, K.M., et al., *Comorbidity and Survival in Lung Cancer Patients*. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev, 2015. **24**(7): p. 1079-85.
- 262. Asmis, T.R., et al., *Age and comorbidity as independent prognostic factors in the treatment of non small-cell lung cancer: a review of National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group trials.* J Clin Oncol, 2008. **26**(1): p. 54-9.
- 263. Colinet, B., et al., A new simplified comorbidity score as a prognostic factor in non-small-cell lung cancer patients: description and comparison with the Charlson's index. Br J Cancer, 2005.
 93(10): p. 1098-105.
- 264. Zhao, L., et al., *Association between Charlson comorbidity index score and outcome in patients with stage IIIB-IV non-small cell lung cancer.* BMC Pulm Med, 2017. **17**(1): p. 112.
- 265. Moscetti, L., et al., *Gemcitabine and cisplatin in the treatment of elderly patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: impact of comorbidities on safety and efficacy outcome.* J Chemother, 2005. **17**(6): p. 685-92.
- 266. Read, W.L., et al., *Differential prognostic impact of comorbidity*. J Clin Oncol, 2004. **22**(15): p. 3099-103.
- 267. Lee, S.Y., et al., *Efficacy of second-line treatment and importance of comorbidity scores and clinical parameters affecting prognosis in elderly patients with non-small cell lung cancer without epidermal growth factor receptor mutations.* Oncol Lett, 2018. **15**(1): p. 600-609.
- 268. Grose, D., et al., *The impact of comorbidity upon determinants of outcome in patients with lung cancer*. Lung Cancer, 2015. **87**(2): p. 186-192.
- 269. Ferrat, E., et al., *Performance of Four Frailty Classifications in Older Patients With Cancer: Prospective Elderly Cancer Patients Cohort Study.* J Clin Oncol, 2017. **35**(7): p. 766-777.
- 270. Ngo-Huang, A., et al., *Association between frailty syndrome and survival in patients with pancreatic adenocarcinoma*. Cancer Med, 2019. **8**(6): p. 2867-2876.
- 271. Brown, J.C., M.O. Harhay, and M.N. Harhay, *The Prognostic Importance of Frailty in Cancer Survivors.* J Am Geriatr Soc, 2015. **63**(12): p. 2538-2543.
- 272. Mandelblatt, J.S., et al., *Frailty and long-term mortality of older breast cancer patients: CALGB 369901 (Alliance).* Breast Cancer Res Treat, 2017. **164**(1): p. 107-117.
- 273. Pottel, L., et al., *G-8 indicates overall and quality-adjusted survival in older head and neck cancer patients treated with curative radiochemotherapy.* BMC Cancer, 2015. **15**: p. 875.
- 274. Pottel, L., et al., Serial comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly head and neck cancer patients undergoing curative radiotherapy identifies evolution of multidimensional health problems and is indicative of quality of life. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl), 2014. **23**(3): p. 401-12.
- 275. Ronning, B., et al., *Quality of life in older and frail patients after surgery for colorectal cancer-A follow-up study.* J Geriatr Oncol, 2016. **7**(3): p. 195-200.

- 276. Geessink, N., et al., *Frailty and quality of life among older people with and without a cancer diagnosis: Findings from TOPICS-MDS.* PLoS One, 2017. **12**(12): p. e0189648.
- 277. de Arruda, F.N., et al., *Determinants of health-related quality of life in elderly ovarian cancer patients: The role of frailty and dependence.* Gynecol Oncol, 2019. **153**(3): p. 610-615.
- 278. Karimi, M. and J. Brazier, *Health, Health-Related Quality of Life, and Quality of Life: What is the Difference?* Pharmacoeconomics, 2016. **34**(7): p. 645-9.
- 279. Festen, S., et al., *How to incorporate geriatric assessment in clinical decision-making for older patients with cancer. An implementation study.* Journal of Geriatric Oncology, 2019.
- Fried, T.R., et al., Health outcome prioritization as a tool for decision making among older persons with multiple chronic conditions. Archives of internal medicine, 2011. 171(20): p. 1854-1856.
- 281. Basch, E., et al., *Symptom Monitoring With Patient-Reported Outcomes During Routine Cancer Treatment: A Randomized Controlled Trial.* J Clin Oncol, 2016. **34**(6): p. 557-65.
- 282. Chakiba, C., et al., *The prognostic value of G8 for functional decline*. J Geriatr Oncol, 2019. **10**(6): p. 921-925.
- 283. Biganzoli, L., et al., *Screening for Frailty in Older Patients With Early-Stage Solid Tumors: A Prospective Longitudinal Evaluation of Three Different Geriatric Tools.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2017. **72**(7): p. 922-928.
- 284. Deckx, L., et al., *Geriatric screening tools are of limited value to predict decline in functional status and quality of life: results of a cohort study.* BMC Fam Pract, 2015. **16**: p. 30.
- 285. van Abbema, D., et al., *Functional status decline in older patients with breast and colorectal cancer after cancer treatment: A prospective cohort study.* Journal of Geriatric Oncology, 2017. **8**(3): p. 176-184.
- 286. Owusu, C., et al., Short Physical Performance Battery, usual gait speed, grip strength and Vulnerable Elders Survey each predict functional decline among older women with breast cancer. J Geriatr Oncol, 2017. **8**(5): p. 356-362.
- 287. Puts, M.T.E., et al., *Changes in functional status in older newly-diagnosed cancer patients during cancer treatment: A six-month follow-up period. Results of a prospective pilot study.* Journal of Geriatric Oncology, 2011. **2**(2): p. 112-120.
- 288. Decoster, L., et al., *Geriatric Assessment and Functional Decline in Older Patients with Lung Cancer*. Lung, 2017. **195**(5): p. 619-626.
- 289. Kojima, G., A.E.M. Liljas, and S. Iliffe, *Frailty syndrome: implications and challenges for health care policy*. Risk management and healthcare policy, 2019. **12**: p. 23-30.
- 290. Ethun, C.G., et al., *Frailty and cancer: Implications for oncology surgery, medical oncology, and radiation oncology.* CA Cancer J Clin, 2017. **67**(5): p. 362-377.
- 291. Extermann, M., et al., *Comorbidity and functional status are independent in older cancer patients*. J Clin Oncol, 1998. **16**(4): p. 1582-7.
- 292. Kim, D.H., et al., *Preoperative Frailty Assessment and Outcomes at 6 Months or Later in Older Adults Undergoing Cardiac Surgical Procedures: A Systematic Review.* Annals of Internal Medicine, 2016. **165**(9): p. 650-660.
- 293. Prestmo, A., et al., *Comprehensive geriatric care for patients with hip fractures: a prospective, randomised, controlled trial.* Lancet, 2015. **385**(9978): p. 1623-33.
- 294. SIOG. <u>https://www.siog.org/content/geriatric-oncology-educational-centers</u>. 23.02.2020].
- 295. Corre, R., et al., Use of a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment for the Management of Elderly Patients With Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer: The Phase III Randomized ESOGIA-GFPC-GECP 08-02 Study. J Clin Oncol, 2016. **34**(13): p. 1476-83.
- 296. Driessen, E.J.M., et al., Study Protocol of the NVALT25-ELDAPT Trial: Selecting the Optimal Treatment for Older Patients With Stage III Non-small-cell Lung Cancer. Clin Lung Cancer, 2018. 19(6): p. e849-e852.
- 297. Li, C., et al., A multicenter phase III study comparing Simultaneous Integrated Boost (SIB) radiotherapy concurrent and consolidated with S-1 versus SIB alone in elderly patients with

esophageal and esophagogastric cancer - the 3JECROG P-01 study protocol. BMC Cancer, 2019. **19**(1): p. 397.

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

ScienceDirect



Clinical Trials

Comparing comorbidity scales: Attending physician score versus the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics



Lene Kirkhus^{a,*}, Marit Jordhøy^{b,c}, Jūratė Šaltytė Benth^{a,c,d}, Siri Rostoft^e, Geir Selbæk^{a,f}, Marianne Jensen Hjermstad^{g,h}, Bjørn H. Grønberg^{i,j}

^aThe Centre for Old Age Psychiatry Research, Innlandet Hospital Trust, P.O. Box 68, 2312 Ottestad, Norway

^bThe Cancer Unit, Innlandet Hospital Trust Hamar, Skolegata 32, 2326 Hamar, Norway

^cInstitute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

^dHØKH, Research Centre, Akershus University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

^eDepartment of Geriatric Medicine, Oslo University Hospital (OUS), Oslo, Norway

^fNorwegian Advisory Unit on Ageing and Health, Vestfold Hospital Trust, Tønsberg, Norway

^gRegional Centre for Excellence in Palliative Care (KSLB), Department of Oncology, Oslo University Hospital Ullevål (OUS), Oslo, Norway

^hThe European Palliative Care Research Centre, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and

Technology, Trondheim, Norway

ⁱThe Cancer Clinic, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway

^jDepartment of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim, Norway

ARTICLEINFO

Article history: Received 2 September 2015 Received in revised form 18 November 2015 Accepted 8 December 2015 Available online 28 December 2015

Keywords: Comorbidity CIRS-G Advanced NSLCL Survival

ABSTRACT

Objectives: Assessing comorbidity using the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G) and its comprehensive manual is time consuming. We investigated if similar information could be obtained by a simpler assessment based on the original CIRS.

Materials and Methods: Data from a randomized chemotherapy trial (RCT) on advanced NSCLC (non-small cell lung cancer) were analyzed. Baseline comorbidity was assessed by 1) trained oncologists using hospital records and the CIRS-G manual (CIRS-G), 2) by patients' oncologists/pulmonologists (local investigators = LI-score) using a brief set of instructions. By both methods, the severity of comorbidity in 14 organ systems was graded 0 (no problem) to 4 (extremely severe). The agreement between methods was assessed using Bland–Altman analysis and weighted kappa statistics. The impact of comorbidity on survival was analyzed by Cox regression.

Results: Complete data were available for 375/446 (84%) patients enrolled in the RCT. Median age was 65 years (25–85). Overall, more comorbidities and higher severity were registered by the CIRS-G compared to the LI-score. Severe comorbidity was registered for 184 (49%) and 94 (25%) patients according to the CIRS-G and LI-scores, respectively. Mean total score was 7.0

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +47 48 13 38 17 (Mobile); fax: +47 62 58 14 01.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jgo.2015.12.003 1879-4068/© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

E-mail addresses: l_kirkhus@hotmail.com (L. Kirkhus), mjorhoy@gmail.com (M. Jordhøy), jurate.saltyte-benth@medisin.uio.no (J. Šaltyte Benth), srostoft@gmail.com (S. Rostoft), geir.selbaek@aldringoghelse.no (G. Selbæk), marianne.j.hjermstad@ntnu.no (M. Jensen Hjermstad), bjorn.h.gronberg@gmail.com (B.H. Grønberg).

(0–17) (CIRS-G) versus 4.2 (0–16) (LI-score), and mean severity index (total score/number of categories with score >0) was 1.73 (SD 0.46) versus 1.43 (SD 0.78). Neither the CIRS-G scores nor the LI-scores were prognostic for survival.

Conclusion: The CIRS-G scores and LI-scores had poor agreement, indicating that assessment method affects the registration of comorbidity. Thorough descriptions of comorbidity registrations in trials are paramount due to lack of a standardized assessment.

© 2015 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

1. Introduction

The proportion of older patients with cancer is increasing, and comorbidity is more frequent in older age.¹⁻³ Comorbidity is reported as an independent prognostic factor for survival in patients with cancer.4-6 Whether this is a result of the comorbid disease itself or caused by inferior treatment is not clear. However, it is known that patients with cancer with higher comorbidity burden are less likely to receive similar tumor treatment as their healthier counterparts.^{7, 8} This may be caused by an assumption of less benefit from treatment due to shorter survival expectancy. It may also be due to concerns about more toxicity, as indicated in some studies.9, ¹⁰ The association between treatment tolerability and various coexisting diseases has, however, been poorly investigated. To better understand how patients with coexisting diseases should be treated, a valid method for systematic assessment of comorbidity in clinical trials is required.

Several methods for assessing comorbidity have been developed. Among the most commonly used are the Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) and the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G).^{11–13} CCI is the most widely used. It is easy to complete and can be scored from hospital charts or by using the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) codes for diagnoses.14,15 The original CIRS scale was developed by Linn et al.¹⁶ Comorbidity was classified according to organ system and graded on a scale from 0-4. Miller et al modified CIRS to better reflect the geriatric patient,¹³ developed a scoring manual¹⁷ and renamed the scale as CIRS-G. The CIRS-G manual has later been updated according to changes in diagnostic criteria and treatment of common diseases.¹⁸ In comparison to CCI, CIRS-G is more sensitive since all coexisting diseases are registered,¹¹ and in comparative studies, it appears to provide more prognostic information.¹⁹ It is, however, more time-consuming and less feasible in multicenter studies since assessment by specifically trained personnel is recommended.¹¹

The present study is based on data from a Norwegian multicenter phase III trial comparing two first-line chemotherapy regimens in advanced non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC).²⁰ When patients were enrolled, the patients' oncologists/pulmonologists were asked to assess comorbidity in 14 organ systems using a brief set of instructions based on the original CIRS¹⁶ (local investigator-score = LI-score). Later, trained researchers (oncologists) at the trial office assessed the patients' comorbidity from the medical records using the CIRS-G manual (CIRS-G).¹⁷ The aim was to compare the LI-scores to the CIRS-G scores, and to assess the agreement between these scores. We also aimed to explore the prognostic impact of the LI-score. In a previous publication, no association between the CIRS-G scores and survival in this cohort of patients was reported.⁹ Our hypothesis was that the local investigators, with detailed knowledge about their patients, were better at identifying the comorbidities that were likely to affect the patients' prognosis, and hence that these scores might be associated with survival.

2. Materials and Methods

2.1. Patients

Patients enrolled in a phase III trial comparing gemcitabine/ carboplatin with pemetrexed/carboplatin as first-line treatment of advanced NSCLC were considered for the present study.²⁰ Eligible patients had given written informed consent, completed the baseline European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30), received at least one cycle of chemotherapy and both LI-score and CIRS-G scores were available (Fig. 1). No differences in overall survival or quality of life (QoL) between the two trial arms were reported in the main trial, and there were only minor differences in toxicity.²⁰ Thus, all patients were analyzed jointly.

2.2. Assessment of Comorbidity

Both local investigators (oncologists and pulmonologists) and the oncologists who performed the CIRS-G scores assessed the severity of coexisting diseases in 14 organ systems/scales in accordance with the CIRS-G comorbidity index. Severity ranged from 0 to 4: "0" indicating no problem, "1" a current mild problem or past significant problem, "2" a moderate disability or morbidity requiring "first-line" therapy, "3" a



Fig. 1 - Patient selection.

severe/constant significant disability or an "uncontrollable" chronic problem, and "4" an extremely severe/immediate treatment required/end organ failure/severe impairment in function.

The local investigators received no formal training in assessing comorbidity, just a brief written set of instructions based on the original CIRS (Table 1). They performed the comorbidity rating when enrolling patients in the trial, based on clinical assessment and knowledge of patients' medical history.

Retrospectively, three trained researchers, all oncologists, assessed and scored comorbidity from hospital records of the three months prior to randomization using the CIRS-G manual from 1991.¹⁷ For each patient, CIRS-G was assessed independently by two researchers. In case of different scores, the researchers discussed the assessment and reached consensus. The most common reason for different scores was that one of the investigators had overlooked a minor comorbidity in the medical records.

2.3. Analyses and Statistical Considerations

Demographic and clinical characteristics at baseline are presented as median/mean with range, or frequencies and percentages. The proportions of patients with LI- and CIRS-G scores ≥ 1 and ≥ 3 in each organ system were compared using χ^2 or Fisher's exact test depending on the percentage of observations in each cell (cut-off value was 5%).

For both LI- and CIRS-G scores, the total score (=the sum of scores in all organ systems), severity index (=total score/ number of categories with a score >0), and severe comorbidity (\geq one score 3 or 4) were calculated for each patient. Previous studies on patients with lung cancer have reported inferior survival in patients having a severity index >2 or at least one grade 4 comorbidity compared with patients having less comorbidity.^{5,19} Thus we defined "high severity index" as having a severity index >2. However, to differentiate between a comorbidity graded 3 or 4 may be difficult; hence, we defined "severe comorbidity" as having \geq 1 comorbidity grade 3 or 4 in an organ system, as in our previously published study of the prognostic role of comorbidity in advanced NSCLC.⁹

We used the Bland–Altman analysis to assess the level of agreement between the CIRS-G scores and the LI-scores on "Total score" and "Severity index." Weighted kappa statistics was used to estimate the level of agreement on the "Severe comorbidity" scores.

Survival time was defined as time from randomization until death. Cox regression analyses adjusting for established prognostic factors in advanced NSCLC (performance status (PS)²¹, stage of disease,²² gender,^{9, 23} smoking history,²⁴ baseline global

Table 1 - Written instructions for local investigators on how to rate comorbidity.

SCORING OF COMORBIDITY

0 No morbidity

1 Mild morbidity or previously significant morbidity.

All conditions that have given discomfort, except from e.g. childhood illnesses, small surgery, or uncomplicated fractures.

Cancer diagnosis without any signs of activity in the last 10 years.

2 Moderate disability or morbidity in need of simple treatment.

Chronic conditions that require more than first-line treatment—"second-line treatment." Cancer treatment the last 5 years (apart from NSCLC).

4 Extremely severe condition/acute treatment necessary/organ failure/severe disability.

End stage of a disease/disability. Despite treatment, the condition is symptomatic and/or reduces the patient's functional status (except when caused by the lung cancer).

If several conditions in an organ system: register the condition with the highest score.

SIMPLE GUIDELINES FOR THE DIFFERENT ORGAN SYSTEMS

Cardiac: E.g. ischemic heart disease, heart failure, arrhythmia, valve disease, pericarditis.

Vascular: E.g. hypertension, atherosclerosis, aortic aneurysm. Note: Intracranial vascular events are scored under neurologic status. Hematopoietic (blood, bone marrow, spleen, lymph nodes): Note: Not changes in hematology presumed secondary to the patient's lung cancer.

Respiratory (lungs, bronchia, trachea): E.g. asthma, chronic obstructive lung disease, infections. Smoking history: 10–20

pack years = score 1, 20-40 = score 2, >40 = score 3.

Eye/Ear/Nose/Throat (incl. larynx): Sight, hearing, vertigo, dizziness.

Upper GI (esophagus, stomach, duodenum): E.g. hiatus hernia, gastritis, dyspepsia.

Lower GI (bowel, hernia): E.g. constipation, diverticulitis, hemorrhoids.

Liver (included bile/pancreas): E.g. gallbladder problems, hepatitis, pancreatitis.

Kidney: E.g. kidney disease, kidney stone.

Genitourinary system (ureters, bladder, urethra, prostate, genitalia): E.g. incontinence, local prostatic cancer, cervical cancer, urinary retention, recurrent urinary tract infections.

Musculo-skeletal system (muscles, bones, skin): E.g. skin cancer, rheumatoid disease, osteoporosis.

Neurology (brain, spinal cord, nerves): E.g. headache, TIA, stroke, Parkinson's disease, MS, ALS. Note:

Register vertigo/dizziness under ear/nose/throat, dementia under psychiatry.

Endocrine/metabolic and breasts (included diffuse infections and poisonings): E.g. diabetes, hypothyroidism, obesity,

pathology in breast.

Psychiatric: incl. dementia.

Conditions that require daily (regular) medication. "First-line treatment." Cancer diagnosis without any signs of activity in the last 5 years. 3 Severe/constant impairment.

QoL²⁵ and appetite loss²⁶) and study treatment were conducted in order to investigate whether any comorbidity scores were independent prognostic factors for survival. The models were then repeated in an explorative analysis in a subgroup of patients \geq 70 years. Appetite loss and global QoL were retrieved from the baseline EORTC QLQ-C30. Appetite loss was defined as having a score >0 on the item "have you lacked appetite" and the global QoL scale ranging from 0 to 100 was dichotomized at a cut-off 66.9 The predictive ability of the different comorbidity models was evaluated by calculating a C-index. Statistically significant levels were defined as p < 0.05. All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows v 22 (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY) and STATA v 12 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas).

2.4. Approvals

The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical Research Ethics in Central Norway, the Norwegian Medicines Agency, the Norwegian Social Science Data Services, and the Norwegian Directorate for Health and Social Affairs.

3. Results

3.1. Patients

Complete data were available for 375/446 (84%) patients enrolled in the phase III trial (Fig. 1). Of the 402 patients who previously had their CIRS-G scores analyzed, 375 (93%) had complete LI-scores. Baseline patient characteristics are shown

Table 2 – Baseline patient treatment for all patients.	characteristics and	study
Characteristic	All patients (n	= 375)
Age, median (range)	65 years (25–85)	
	No. of patients	%
≥75 years	70	19
Gender		
Male	213	57
Female	162	43
Performance status		
0-1	295	79
2	80	21
Extent of disease		
Stage IIIB	108	29
Stage IV	267	71
Histology		
Squamous cell carcinoma	95	25
Adenocarcinoma	188	50
Other	92	25
Smoking history		
Never-smoker	27	7
Ever-smoker	348	93
Study treatment		
Pemetrexed/carboplatin	186	50
Gemcitabine/carboplatin	189	50

in Table 2. Median age was 65 years, 135 (36%) of the patients were \geq 70 years, 213 (57%) were men, 295 patients (79%) had PS 0-1, 108 (29%) patients had stage IIIB.

3.2. Comorbidity

Fewer patients had one or more comorbidities registered by the local investigators (n = 325, 87%) than by the trained researchers (n = 371, 99%) (Table 3). For most individual organ systems/scales, the LI-scores included a lower number of comorbidities than the GIRS-G scores (Table 3). The largest difference in scores in favor of the CIRS-G was found for the hematopoietic system where 12 and 191 patients had one or more comorbidities according to the LI- and CIRS-G scores, respectively. The exceptions were eye/ear/nose/throat diseases (similar frequencies of comorbidity for both comorbidity scales) and upper-GI and renal diseases (the LI-scores were higher than the CIRS-G scores).

Overall, 94 (25%) versus 184 (49%) patients had severe comorbidity according to the LI- and CIRS-G-scores, respectively (Table 3). A total of 74 (20%) and 140 (37%) patients had one severe comorbidity according to the LI- and CIRS-G-scores, respectively, whereas two severe comorbidities were registered in 16 (4%) and 38 (10%) patients. Only 4 (1%) and 6 (2%) patients had three or four severe comorbidities, respectively. Investigating the agreement between LI- and CIRS-G scores for severe comorbidity, weighted kappa was 0.18 (95% CI 0.10; 0.25), suggesting a slight agreement between the two scores. Values from 0.41 to 0.60 are considered to represent a moderate agreement, 0.61–0.80 substantial agreement.²⁷

Fig. 2A and B show the distribution of the patients' total comorbidity scores. The total LI-scores were skewed toward lower total scores (Fig. 2A), whereas the CIRS-G total scores had a more normal distribution (Fig. 2B). The mean total LI-score was 4.2 (range 0–16), and the mean total CIRS-G score was 7.0 (range 0–17). A scatter plot comparing the two total comorbidity scores showed a broad scatter with little tendency to concentrate in the vicinity of the identity line, indicating poor agreement between the two comorbidity scores (Fig. 2C). We found a significant bias of -2.87 (p < 0.001) confirming that the total CIRS-G scores were consistently higher than the total LI-scores. A wide 95% limits of agreement (±6.40) in the Bland–Altman plot (Fig. 2D) further confirmed the poor agreement between the two comorbidity scores.

The mean severity index was 1.43 (SD 0.78) versus 1.73 (SD 0.46) according to the LI-scores and CIRS-G, respectively. Overall, 46 (12%) patients had a high severity index (>2) according to the LI-scores versus 58 patients (16%) according to the CIRS-G scores. A scatter plot comparing the two severity indices (not presented) revealed a poor agreement. Moreover, the disagreement seemed to increase with higher values.

3.3. Survival

According to both univariate and the four multivariate analyses (Table 4), neither the "high severity index" nor "severe comorbidity" scores from LI-scores or CIRS-G scores were significant prognostic factors of survival. In the univariate survival analyses, gender (p = .02), smoking history (p = .04), baseline global QoL (p = .01), performance status (p = .01), and

Table 3 – Number of patients with \geq 1 comorbidity and severe comorbidity (>score 2) according to organ system.											
		≥ 1	1 comorbid	ity			Se	vere comor	bidity		
	CIRS-G	% ^a	LI-score	% ^a	P-value	CIRS-G	%of all ^b	LI-score	% of all ^b	P-value	
Respiratory	314	84	203	54	<0.01*	94	30	49	24	<0.01*	
Hematopoietic	191	51	12	3	0.14 **	9	5	0	-	-	
Vascular	165	44	108	29	<0.01*	37	22	12	11	<0.01**	
Musculo-skeletal system	154	41	128	34	<0.01*	13	8	17	13	0.02**	
Genitourinary system	133	35	72	19	<0.01*	16	12	3	4	0.01**	
Cardiac	107	29	99	26	< 0.01 **	36	34	13	13	<0.01**	
Lower GI	101	27	46	12	0.01*	1	1	0	-	-	
Eye/Ear/Nose/Throat	68	18	67	18	<0.01*	3	4	6	9	<0.01**	
Neurology	65	17	53	14	< 0.01 **	9	14	9	17	< 0.01 **	
Liver	61	16	17	5	< 0.01 ***	4	7	0	-	-	
Endocrine/metabolic/breast	51	14	39	10	< 0.01 **	1	2	4	10	0.01**	
Upper GI	49	13	68	18	< 0.01 **	3	6	3	4	1.00**	
Psychiatric	47	13	33	9	<0.01*	9	19	1	3	0.02**	
Kidney	8	2	19	5	< 0.01 **	0	-	1	5	-	
\geq 1 comorbidity (total)	371	99	325	87							
Severe comorbidity, (total (%))						184 (49)		94 (25)			

^a Percent of all study patients.

^b Percent of all comorbidities registered within the organ system in question.

^{*} Differences between scales (χ^2 -test).

** Differences between scales (Fisher's exact test).

appetite loss (p = .02) were all found to be significant prognostic factors, whereas only gender and smoking history remained significant in the multivariate analyses.

All four multivariate models had a moderate predictive ability. For the models with severe comorbidity as predictor, the C-index was 0.62 (CI 0.58; 0.65) and 0.61 (CI 0.58; 0.65) for the LI- and CIRS-G scores, respectively. For the models with severity index as predictor, the corresponding indices were 0.61 (CI 0.58; 0.65) (LI) and 0.62 (CI 0.58; 0.65) (CIRS-G). When comparing the four C-indices, they were not significantly different from each other; hence, there were no indications that any comorbidity variable outperforms the other. Finally, we explored if comorbidity was more frequent in older (\geq 70 years) than in younger (<70 years) patients and influenced survival in the older group in particular. According to the LI-scores, 27% and 9% of the older patients had severe comorbidity and high severity index respectively, compared to 24% and 14% of the younger. According to the CIRS-G scores, severe comorbidity and high severity index were registered in 62% and 16% in the older subgroup, and in 42% and 15% in the younger. Neither LI-scores nor CIRS-G scores were significant prognostic factors for survival when analyzing patients \geq 70 years separately (Appendix 1).



Fig. 2 – The distribution of (A) total LI-score and (B) total CIRS-G score. (C) Scatterplot of total LI-score versus total CIRS-G score and (D) Bland–Altman plot of differences in total score between the two comorbidity assessments with a negative bias (higher total CIRS-G scores than total LI-scores) and wide limits of agreement.

Table 4 – Univariate	and multivariate Cox	regression a	analyses of the p	rognost	ic impact of both	CIRS-G	and LI-score on	surviva	al.			
Variable		Uni	variate analyses				Mul	tivaria	te analyses ^a			
		N (%)	HR (95%CI ^b)	4	HR (95%CI)	Ч	HR (95%CI)	Ч	HR (95%CI)	Р	HR (95%CI)	Ъ
Severe comorbidity CIR:	5-G°	184 (49.1)	1.11 (0.89;1.40)	.35	1.07 (0.84;1.37)	.59						
(tet. 110 severe) High severity index CIR: (ref. low)	S G ^d	58 (15.5)	0.96 (0.71; 1.31)	.80			0.94 (0.69; 1.29)	.71				
Severe comorbidity LI-so (ref no severe)	core	94 (25.1)	1.03 (0.79; 1.33)	.85					0.89 (0.68;1.17)	.40		
High severity index LI-s (ref. low)	core	46 (12.3)	1.10 (0.79; 1.55)	.57							0.98 (0.68; 1.42)	.93
Performance status	1 (ref. 0)	217 (57.9)	1.04 (0.78;1.40)	.78	0.95 (0.70;1.30)	.76	0.97 (0.71; 1.32)	.85	0.98 (0.71;1.33)	.87	0.97 (0.71; 1.32)	89. S
Stage	2 (ref. U) IV (ref. IIIB)	80 (21.3) 267 (71.2)	1.63 (1.15;2.30) 1.19 (0.92;1.54)	.01 18	1.25 (0.94;1.99) 1.25 (0.96;1.63)	.10	1.22 (0.94; 1.59) 1.22 (0.94; 1.59)	.13	1.43 (0.98;2.09) 1.22 (0.94;1.58)	.14 .14	1.23 (0.95; 2.04) 1.23 (0.95; 1.59)	یں. 12
Gender	Women (ref. men)	162 (43.2)	0.76 (0.60; 0.95)	.02	0.77 (0.60;0.98)	.03	0.75 (0.59; 0.96)	.02	0.75 (0.59;0.95)	.02	0.76 (0.60; 0.96)	.02
Smoker	Former (ref. never)	199 (53.1)	1.65 (1.02;2.67)	.04	1.70 (1.05;2.76)	.03	1.73 (1.07; 2.81)	.03	1.74 (1.08;2.82)	.02	1.72 (1.07; 2.79)	.03
	Current (ref. never)	149 (39.7)	1.61 (0.99;2.61)	.06	1.63 (0.99;2.68)	.05	1.67 (1.02; 2.73)	.04	1.67 (1.02;2.74)	.04	1.66 (1.01; 2.71)	.05
Age, years	≥75 (ref. <75)	70 (18.7)	1.01 (0.75;1.34)	.97	1.00 (0.74;1.34)	.97	1.00 (0.74; 1.35)	66.	1.01 (0.75;1.36)	.97	1.00 (0.74; 1.35)	66.
Treatment	Gem/Carbo ^e	189 (50.4)	1.12 (0.90;1.41)	.31	1.01 (0.80;1.27)	.97	1.01 (0.80; 1.28)	.92	1.01 (0.80;1.28)	.91	1.01 (0.80; 1.28)	.92
Global quality of life ^g	(ret rem/carbo) High (ref. low)	133 (35.5)	0.74 (0.58;0.93)	.01	0.80 (0.61;1.04)	.10	0.80 (0.61; 1.04)	60.	0.80 (0.61;1.04)	60.	0.80 (0.61; 1.04)	.10
Appetite loss ^g	Yes (ref. no)	203 (54.1)	1.30 (1.04;1.63)	.02	1.26 (0.99;1.60)	.06	1.24 (0.98; 1.58)	.08	1.23 (0.97;1.57)	60.	1.25 (0.98; 1.59)	.08
^a Multivariate analyses NSCLC	with both comorbidity s	scales (CIRS-G/	LI-score) and both c	omorbid	lity measurements (high sev	erity index/severe c	omorbio	lity) adjusting for es	tablishe	ed prognostic factors	'n
^b CI = Confidence interv	val.											
^c Severe comorbidity =	Scores >2.											
^d High severity index = ^e Compitable (Combined)	Score >2.0.											
f Pemetrexed/Carboplat 8 Retrieved from baselir	in. in. ae EORTC QLQ-C30.											

JOURNAL OF GERIATRIC ONCOLOGY 7 (2016) 90-98

4. Discussion

This multicenter trial demonstrated that the local investigators had excellent compliance in completing a short comorbidity scale. There was, however, poor agreement between the comorbidity scores registered by the local investigators and those made by trained oncologists using the CIRS-G manual. In the CIRS-G assessments, more comorbidity was identified for most of the organ systems and the scores were generally higher compared with the LI-assessments. Neither the LI-scores nor the CIRS-G scores were significant prognostic factors of survival in the overall cohort or among patients \geq 70 years.

To our knowledge, there are no previously published studies that compare in detail the results of CIRS-G comorbidity assessment in patients with NSCLC and a similar but less comprehensive assessment performed by local investigators. There are, however, three studies that describe the occurrence and severity of comorbidity in patient cohorts according to both CIRS-G and CCI.^{5,19,28} In two of these studies, CCI was found to be a less sensitive comorbidity index compared with CIRS-G.^{5,19} These findings are supported by Extermann et al. that reported the prevalence of comorbidity in a patient cohort of older patients with cancer with different tumor types to be 36% according to CCI and 94% according to CIRS-G.¹² Our study confirms that the method used for comorbidity scoring largely influences the number and severity of coexisting diseases detected.

Few studies have investigated the occurrence and severity of comorbidity using CIRS-G in NSCLC.^{10,19,29} The reported frequency varied, but with the exception of some selected subgroups,^{10,29} the proportion of patients with comorbidity was similar or higher than that found in our study. However, the cohorts of these studies are not directly comparable with ours since they included patients who underwent radiotherapy^{19,29} and selected cohorts of older patients (\geq 70 years) or patients with poor PS.¹⁰

The CIRS-G assessments in this study were performed retrospectively based on hospital medical records including lists of every patient's medication. These records may be incomplete, potentially reducing the sensitivity of our CIRS-G assessments. The accuracy of the CIRS-G assessments may also be affected by the use of the old manual by Miller from 1991¹⁷ instead of the new manual with updated diagnostic criteria, classification, and treatment of common diseases.¹⁸ However, despite the limitations with our CIRS-G scores, the number and severity of comorbidities registered with these scores were higher than the LI-scores, indicating that the medical records contained more information than identified by the local investigators.

There are several possible explanations why less comorbidity was registered by the local investigators than by the trained oncologists. The local investigators had no training, were provided with a brief instruction and rated comorbidity only as part of the patient inclusion procedure. In contrast, the trained oncologists rated comorbidity as their primary objective and strictly according to the CIRS-G manual. The trained oncologists often found medications indicating comorbidities that were not mentioned in the text in the medical records (e.g. hypothyroidism). This might have been overlooked by the local investigators rating LI-score if the condition was well controlled with medication. Another explanation may be that treatment outcomes of common comorbidities have changed significantly since the CIRS-G manual was developed in 1991.^{13,17} This medical progress might have affected the local investigators perception of how severe comorbidities are, e.g., when rating a previous myocardial infarction. Possible reasons for the large discrepancies in the hematopoietic system may be that the local investigators did not look at the blood counts when rating comorbidity, or they considered the abnormalities to be caused by the lung cancer. Some of the local investigators were possibly above all concerned about conditions relevant for the treatment and follow-up of lung cancer. An asymptomatic or medically well-regulated comorbidity might be considered as less severe or irrelevant in light of the patient's aggressive cancer. However, the local investigators did not only rate comorbidity relevant for treatment of the patient's lung cancer, since some of them scored minor comorbidities rated in all organ systems, including, e.g. the musculo-skeletal system.

As for the CIRS-G scores in our previously published study,⁹ no significant association between LI-scores and survival was found. Hence, our hypothesis that local investigators were able to detect comorbidities with significant impact on survival was not confirmed. A negative prognostic influence of comorbidity in NSCLC has been demonstrated in studies analyzing mixed cohorts with different disease stages.^{4,19,30-32} However, results from studies in advanced lung cancer are consistent with our findings.^{25,33} A possible explanation might be that in this stage, the cancer itself is a highly lethal disease with poor prognosis. As shown by Read and colleagues, the impact of comorbidity on survival is smaller in aggressive cancer with short life expectancy.³⁴ It is still possible that comorbidity might particularly affect survival in older age groups. However, this was not confirmed in our patients \geq 70 years who may represent a selected group. Although eligibility criteria in the phase III trial were wide, there were restrictions regarding liver, kidney, and bone marrow function, as well as performance status. Furthermore, taking the Norwegian incidence of NSCLC by age group into considerations, the proportion enrolled in the trial was lower for older than for younger patients (\geq 70 years: 12%, <70 years: 23%; p = .001), possibly indicating that physicians were more hesitant to include those with higher age.⁹ Thus, our study population may not be representative for all patients with advanced NSCLC. It should, however, be noted that independent of whether comorbidity in advanced NSCLC adds prognostic value or not, a comorbidity assessment is crucial for several reasons. It is helpful to identify patients with higher risk of treatment complications⁹ and to detect needs for treatment modifications, or discontinuation of treatment no longer indicated. Comorbidity ratings are also an important part of the more extensive geriatric assessment (GA) which can detect problems potentially interfering with cancer treatment.35

This study adds evidence to other studies showing that the method for comorbidity assessment largely influences the number and severity of coexisting diseases detected. There is a need for a standardized comorbidity assessment in cancer research. Until such a tool is developed, a thorough description of how comorbidity is rated is paramount for trials reporting comorbidity data.

In summary, the high response rate in this study shows that rather comprehensive comorbidity assessments can be performed by local investigators in multicenter phase III trials. There was, however, poor agreement with the CIRS-G assessment. None of the comorbidity scores were independent prognostic factors for survival.

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jgo.2015.12.003.

Disclosures and Conflict of Interest Statements

The authors have no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Author Contributions

Study concept: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, L Kirkhus Study design: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, L Kirkhus

Data acquisition: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy

Quality control of data and algorithms: BH Grønberg, L Kirkhus

Data analysis and interpretation: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, J Šaltyte Benth, S Rostoft, G Selbæk, MJ Hjermstad, L Kirkhus Statistical analysis: J Šaltyte Benth, L Kirkhus

Manuscript preparation: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, J Šaltytė Benth, S Rostoft, G Selbæk, MJ Hjermstad, L Kirkhus

Manuscript editing: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, J Šaltyte Benth, S Rostoft, G Selbæk, MJ Hjermstad, L Kirkhus

Manuscript review: BH Grønberg, M Jordhøy, J Šaltytė Benth, S Rostoft, G Selbæk, MJ Hjermstad, L Kirkhus

Role of the Funding Source

The randomized trial on which this study is based²⁰ was supported by an unrestricted grant from Eli Lilly and Company, the Norwegian Cancer Society, and the Liaison Committee between the Central Norway Regional Health Authority (RHA) and the Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU). The funding source has not influenced study design, collection of data, analysis and interpretation of data, manuscript writing, or decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

REFERENCES

- 1. Syse A. Cancer incidence, prevalence and survival in an aging Norwegian population. Nor Epidemiol 2012;**22**(22):109–120.
- 2. Janssen-Heijnen ML, Smulders S, Lemmens VE, Smeenk FW, van Geffen HJ, Coebergh JW. Effect of comorbidity on the treatment and prognosis of elderly patients with non-small cell lung cancer. *Thorax* 2004;**59**(7):602–607.
- 3. Janssen-Heijnen ML, Houterman S, Lemmens VE, Louwman MW, Maas HA, Coebergh JW. Prognostic impact of increasing age and co-morbidity in cancer patients: a population-based approach. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2005;55(3):231–240.

- 4. Asmis TR, Ding K, Seymour L, Shepherd FA, Leighl NB, Winton TL, et al. Age and comorbidity as independent prognostic factors in the treatment of non small-cell lung cancer: a review of National Cancer Institute of Canada Clinical Trials Group trials. *J Clin Oncol* 2008;**26**(1):54–59.
- Firat S, Bousamra M, Gore E, Byhardt RW. Comorbidity and KPS are independent prognostic factors in stage I non-small-cell lung cancer. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002;52(4):1047–1057.
- Ommundsen N, Wyller TB, Nesbakken A, Jordhoy MS, Bakka A, Skovlund E, et al. Frailty is an independent predictor of survival in older patients with colorectal cancer. Oncologist 2014;19(12):1268–1275.
- Lee L, Cheung WY, Atkinson E, Krzyzanowska MK. Impact of comorbidity on chemotherapy use and outcomes in solid tumors: a systematic review. J Clin Oncol 2011;29(1):106–117.
- Vinod SK, Sidhom MA, Gabriel GS, Lee MT, Delaney GP. Why do some lung cancer patients receive no anticancer treatment? J Thorac Oncol 2010;5(7):1025–1032.
- 9. Gronberg BH, Sundstrom S, Kaasa S, Bremnes RM, Flotten O, Amundsen T, et al. Influence of comorbidity on survival, toxicity and health-related quality of life in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving platinum-doublet chemotherapy. *Eur J Cancer* 2010;**46**(12): 2225–2234.
- Ngeow J, Leong SS, Gao F, Toh CK, Lim WT, Tan EH, et al. Impact of comorbidities on clinical outcomes in non-small cell lung cancer patients who are elderly and/or have poor performance status. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2010;76(1):53–60.
- 11. Extermann M. Measuring comorbidity in older cancer patients. Eur J Cancer 2000;36(4):453–471.
- Extermann M, Overcash J, Lyman GH, Parr J, Balducci L. Comorbidity and functional status are independent in older cancer patients. J Clin Oncol 1998;16(4):1582–1587.
- Miller MD, Paradis CF, Houck PR, Mazumdar S, Stack JA, Rifai AH, et al. Rating chronic medical illness burden in geropsychiatric practice and research: application of the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale. Psychiatry Res 1992;41(3): 237–248.
- Deleuran T, Thomsen RW, Norgaard M, Jacobsen JB, Rasmussen TR, Sogaard M. Comorbidity and survival of Danish lung cancer patients from 2000–2011: a population-based cohort study. Clin Epidemiol 2013;5(Suppl 1): 31–38.
- 15. Available from: http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/.
- Linn BS, Linn MW, Gurel L. Cumulative illness rating scale. J Am Geriatr Soc 1968;16(5):622–626.
- Miller MD, Towers A. A Manual of Guidelines for Scoring the Cumulative Illness Rating Scale for Geriatrics (CIRS-G). Available from: http://www.anq.ch/fileadmin/redaktion/ deutsch/20121211_CIRSG_Manual_E.pdf1991.
- 18. Salvi F, Miller MD, Grilli A, Giorgi R, Towers AL, Morichi V, et al. A manual of guidelines to score the modified cumulative illness rating scale and its validation in acute hospitalized elderly patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008;56(10):1926–1931.
- Firat S, Byhardt RW, Gore E. Comorbidity and Karnofksy performance score are independent prognostic factors in stage III non-small-cell lung cancer: an institutional analysis of patients treated on four RTOG studies. Radiation Therapy Oncology Group. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2002;54(2): 357–364.
- 20. Gronberg BH, Bremnes RM, Flotten O, Amundsen T, Brunsvig PF, Hjelde HH, et al. Phase III study by the Norwegian lung cancer study group: pemetrexed plus carboplatin compared with gemcitabine plus carboplatin as first-line chemotherapy in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(19):3217–3224.
- 21. Finkelstein DM, Ettinger DS, Ruckdeschel JC. Long-term survivors in metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: an Eastern

Cooperative Oncology Group Study. J Clin Oncol 1986;4(5): 702–709.

- 22. Goldstraw P, Crowley J, Chansky K, Giroux DJ, Groome PA, Rami-Porta R, et al. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: proposals for the revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (seventh) edition of the TNM Classification of malignant tumours. J Thorac Oncol 2007;2(8):706–714.
- 23. Wakelee HA, Wang W, Schiller JH, Langer CJ, Sandler AB, Belani CP, et al. Survival differences by sex for patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer on Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group trial 1594. J Thorac Oncol 2006;1(5):441–446.
- Tammemagi CM, Neslund-Dudas C, Simoff M, Kvale P. Smoking and lung cancer survival: the role of comorbidity and treatment. Chest 2004;125(1):27–37.
- 25. Maione P, Perrone F, Gallo C, Manzione L, Piantedosi F, Barbera S, et al. Pretreatment quality of life and functional status assessment significantly predict survival of elderly patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer receiving chemotherapy: a prognostic analysis of the multicenter Italian lung cancer in the elderly study. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(28): 6865–6872.
- 26. Sundstrom S, Bremnes RM, Brunsvig P, Aasebo U, Kaasa S. Norwegian Lung Cancer Study G. Palliative thoracic radiotherapy in locally advanced non-small cell lung cancer: can quality-of-life assessments help in selection of patients for short- or long-course radiotherapy? J Thorac Oncol 2006;1(8): 816–824.
- 27. Viera AJ, Garrett JM. Understanding interobserver agreement: the kappa statistic. *Fam Med* 2005;37(5):360–363.
- 28. Juan O, Albert A, Campos JM, Caranyana V, Munoz J, Alberola V. Measurement and impact of co-morbidity in elderly patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer treated

with chemotherapy. A phase II study of weekly paclitaxel. Acta Oncol 2007;**46**(3):367–373.

- 29. Firat S, Pleister A, Byhardt RW, Gore E. Age is independent of comorbidity influencing patient selection for combined modality therapy for treatment of stage III nonsmall cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Am J Clin Oncol 2006;29(3):252–257.
- Iachina M, Jakobsen E, Moller H, Luchtenborg M, Mellemgaard A, Krasnik M, et al. The effect of different comorbidities on survival of non-small cells lung cancer patients. *Lung* 2015;193(2):291–297.
- 31. Colinet B, Jacot W, Bertrand D, Lacombe S, Bozonnat MC, Daures JP, et al. A new simplified comorbidity score as a prognostic factor in non-small-cell lung cancer patients: description and comparison with the Charlson's index. Br J Cancer 2005;93(10):1098–1105.
- 32. Mellemgaard A, Luchtenborg M, Iachina M, Jakobsen E, Green A, Krasnik M, et al. Role of comorbidity on survival after radiotherapy and chemotherapy for nonsurgically treated lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2015;10(2):272–279.
- 33. Moscetti L, Nelli F, Padalino D, Sperduti I, Giannarelli D, Pollera CF. Gemcitabine and cisplatin in the treatment of elderly patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer: impact of comorbidities on safety and efficacy outcome. J Chemother 2005;17(6):685–692.
- Read WL, Tierney RM, Page NC, Costas I, Govindan R, Spitznagel EL, et al. Differential prognostic impact of comorbidity. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(15):3099–3103.
- 35. Caillet P, Laurent M, Bastuji-Garin S, Liuu E, Culine S, Lagrange JL, et al. Optimal management of elderly cancer patients: usefulness of the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment. Clin Interv Aging 2014;9:1645–1660.



Keywords: geriatric assessment; frailty; survival; geriatric oncology

Geriatric assessment is superior to oncologists' clinical judgement in identifying frailty

Lene Kirkhus^{*,1,2}, Jūratė Šaltytė Benth^{1,2,3}, Siri Rostoft^{2,4}, Bjørn Henning Grønberg^{5,6}, Marianne J Hjermstad^{7,8}, Geir Selbæk^{1,9,10}, Torgeir B Wyller^{2,4}, Magnus Harneshaug^{1,2} and Marit S Jordhøy^{2,11}

¹The Centre for Old Age Psychiatry Research, Innlandet Hospital Trust, PO box 68, Ottestad 2313, Norway; ²Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, PO box 4956 Nydalen, Oslo 0424, Norway; ³HØKH Research Centre, Akershus University Hospital, PO box 1000, Lørenskog 1478, Norway; ⁴Department of Geriatric Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, P.O box 4956 Nydalen, Oslo 0424, Norway; ⁵The Cancer Clinic, St Olavs Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, PO box 3250 Sluppen, Trondheim 7006, Norway; ⁶Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, NTNU, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, PO box 8905, Trondheim 7491, Norway; ⁷Regional Advisory Unit for Palliative Care, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine Care Research Centre, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, NTNU, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, PO box 8905, Trondheim 7491, Norway; ⁸European Palliative Care Research Centre, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, Advisory Unit for Palliative Care, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, NTNU, Norwegian University Hospital, PO box 4956 Nydalen, Oslo 0424, Norway; ⁸European Palliative Care Research Centre, Department of Cancer Research and Molecular Medicine, NTNU, Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Trondheim 7491, Norway; ⁹Norwegian Advisory Unit on Ageing and Health, Vestfold Hospital Trust, PO box 2136, Tønsberg 3103, Norway; ¹⁰Institute of Health and Society, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, PO box 1130 Blindern, Oslo 0318, Norway and ¹¹The Cancer Unit, Innlandet Hospital Trust, Hamar Hospital, Skolegata 32, Hamar 2326, Norway

Background: Frailty is a syndrome associated with increased vulnerability and an important predictor of outcomes in older cancer patients. Systematic assessments to identify frailty are seldom applied, and oncologists' ability to identify frailty is scarcely investigated.

Methods: We compared oncologists' classification of frailty (onc-frail) based on clinical judgement with a modified geriatric assessment (mGA), and investigated associations between frailty and overall survival. Patients \geq 70 years referred for medical cancer treatment were eligible. mGA-frailty was defined as impairment in at least one of the following: daily activities, comorbidity, polypharmacy, physical function or at least one geriatric syndrome (cognitive impairment, depression, malnutrition, falls).

Results: Three hundred and seven patients were enroled, 288 (94%) completed the mGA, 286 (93%) were rated by oncologists. Median age was 77 years, 56% had metastases, 85% performance status (PS) 0–1. Overall, 104/286 (36%) were onc-frail and 140/288 (49%) mGA-frail, the agreement was fair (kappa value 0.30 (95% CI 0.19; 0.41)), and 67 mGA-frail patients who frequently had localised disease, good PS and received curative treatment, were missed by the oncologists. Only mGA-frailty was independently prognostic for survival (HR 1.61, 95% CI 1.14; 2.27; P = 0.007).

Conclusions: Systematic assessment of geriatric domains is needed to aid oncologists in identifying frail patients with poor survival.

*Correspondence: L Kirkhus; E-mail: l_kirkhus@hotmail.com

Received 16 December 2016; revised 21 May 2017; accepted 7 June 2017; published online 29 June 2017



© The Author(s) named above

Approximately half of patients diagnosed with cancer are \geq 70 years, and owing to an aging population the number of older cancer patients is rapidly increasing (Syse, 2012; Cancer Research UK, 2016). The heterogenic health status of this large cohort of patients complicates treatment decisions. Age-related decrease in physiological reserves and co-existing problems, such as physical and cognitive impairments and comorbidities that may affect both treatment and outcomes (Clough-Gorr *et al*, 2010; Kristjansson *et al*, 2010), vary considerably between individuals. For appropriate treatment planning it is paramount to identify those who are fit and may profit from less-intensive treatment (Balducci and Extermann, 2000).

Frailty is widely recognised as a syndrome of increased vulnerability to adverse changes in health status (Clegg et al, 2013). There is, however, no consensus on how to best identify frail patients. In clinical trials, the Fried Phenotype model or indices based on accumulation of deficits (Huisingh-Scheetz and Walston, 2017) are commonly used. Geriatric assessment (GA) includes a systematic assessment of areas where problems are frequent in older age, such as comorbidity, medication, physical and cognitive function, and is the most frequently applied approach to assess vulnerability and frailty in cancer patients (Handforth et al, 2015). Consensus statements on what GA in this setting should include are, however, not entirely consistent (Wildiers et al, 2014; Mohile et al, 2015) and there are no agreed criteria to define frailty based on GA. Thus, varying domains and thresholds have been used (Handforth et al, 2015), and several studies have applied frailty criteria as proposed by Balducci and Extermann, 2000, or a modification of these (Basso et al, 2008; Tucci et al, 2009; Kristjansson et al, 2010). Frailty defined according to this approach is demonstrated to be prognostic for survival (Basso et al, 2008; Tucci et al, 2009; Ommundsen et al, 2014). Performing a full GA is time and resource consuming, and although highly recommended, is yet to be established in routine clinical practice (Magnuson et al, 2016). Easily applicable screening tools have therefore been sought, and some have documented ability to predict survival (Soubeyran et al, 2014). However, compared with a complete GA, none has demonstrated sufficient sensitivity and specificity to reliably identify frail patients (Hamaker et al, 2012). Based on the excellent prognostic performance of simple physician-rated scales such as the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group Performance Status (PS) (Schiller et al, 2002), few studies have investigated whether physicians' clinical judgement is an equally effective screening tool for frailty (Wedding et al, 2007; Tucci et al, 2009; Clough-Gorr et al, 2010). The results suggest that physicians are more conservative and rate fewer patients as unfit or potentially vulnerable than those identified by GA (Wedding et al, 2007; Tucci et al, 2009; Clough-Gorr et al, 2010). However, two of these studies either used a retrospective evaluation of the patients' overall health at the time of diagnosis (Clough-Gorr et al, 2010) or the physicians' decision for palliative or more intensive treatment for comparison with GA (Tucci et al, 2009). Only one study actually asked the physician to identify frailty, and no treatment outcomes were reported (Wedding et al, 2007). To establish the ability of physicians' frailty ratings to predict outcomes, i.e., in comparison with GA, prospective comparative studies are needed.

In the present study we aimed to (1) compare oncologists' classification of frailty with a systematic modified geriatric assessment (mGA) of frailty, (2) describe what information oncologists emphasise when rating frailty and (3) investigate the associations of these frailty classifications with overall survival (OS).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients. From January 2013 until April 2015, patients referred for medical cancer treatment were consecutively recruited at eight

different outpatient oncology clinics in South East Norway (two university hospitals and six local hospitals). Eligible patients were \geq 70 years with a histologically confirmed solid tumour (newly diagnosed or first relapse after previous curative treatment). All patients provided written, informed consent. The patients were identified by referral, and oncology nurses with specific training in study procedures performed baseline interviews and mGA-testing, aiming at retrieving all information before treatment started.

Baseline assessments. Medical data were reported by the oncologists and included cancer type (ICD-10), stage of disease (local, locally advanced or metastatic), location of metastatic sites, planned treatment and rating of PS.

We defined our GA as a modified GA (mGA) as it was not performed by a geriatrician or a geriatric team. The mGA included assessment of eight domains. Nutritional status and related symptoms were registered partly by nurses and partly by patients' self-report. Medication, falls, physical and cognitive function were tested and/or registered by the oncology nurses. Comorbidity, activities of daily living (ADL) and depressive symptoms were assessed by patients' self-report.

Nutritional status was assessed using the Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment (PG-SGA) (Ottery, 1996; Persson et al, 1999). The PG-SGA includes two parts. One is a patient questionnaire about weight loss and nutritional symptoms, whereas the other is filled in by health professionals and includes a categorisation of a patient's overall nutritional status into (A) well-nourished, (B) moderately malnourished/suspected malnutrition and (C) severely malnourished. Severely malnourished patients are defined as having severe weight loss, visible loss of subcutaneous fat tissue and muscle mass, with or without the presence of oedema. Comorbidity was registered using the Physical Health Section, a subscale of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire (OARS) (Fillenbaum and Smyer, 1981; Hurria et al, 2005). The Physical Health Section consists of a list of 15 diseases/conditions as well as a grading of how these conditions affect daily activities. Medication was registered according to the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System. Falls were defined as unintentional events resulting in a laying position on the floor, the ground or other lower level, and the number of falls the last 6 months was registered. To screen for deficits in basic ADL we used question 5 ('Do you need help with eating, dressing, washing yourself or using the toilet?') from the 'European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ C30)(Aaronson et al, 1993). Questions 1-28 in EORTC QLQ C30 are graded into four categories, 'Not at all', 'A little', 'Quite a bit' and 'Very much'. Depressive symptoms were self-reported on the geriatric depression scale (GDS-15) (Yesavage et al, 1982). This scale consists of 15 items and the total score ranges from 0 to 15. A higher score indicates more depressive symptoms. Physical performance was tested using the Timed Up and Go test (TUG) (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991) which registers the time it takes to rise from an arm chair, walk three metres, turn, walk back and sit down, and patients were instructed to walk at a fast pace (Beauchet et al, 2011). Cognitive function was assessed using the Norwegian Revised Mini Mental State Examination (MMSE-NR) (Folstein et al, 1975). MMSE-NR consists of 20 items and the total score ranges from 0 to 30. The higher score, the better the cognitive function.

The oncologists were asked to classify the patient as fit, intermediate or frail after their first consultation at baseline. Prior to this, they were blinded for the results from the mGA and not given any specific instructions or training. In case the mGA assessments revealed severe medical problems requiring attention, the nurses gave this information to the patients' oncologist afterwards.

Table 1. The m	odified geriatric as	sessment ^a			
Domain	Scale	Range	Rated by	Cutoff value for frailty	Rationale for cutoff values
Activities of daily living	EORTC QLQ-C30 Q5 ^b		Patient	If reported yes a little/quite a bit/very much on the question 'Do you need help with eating, dressing, washing yourself or using the toilet'	ADL-deficiencies previously used in frailty classifications of cancer patients (Balducci and Extermann, 2000)
Comorbidity	OARS	0–15 (Higher score indicates more comorbidities)	Patient	>3 points	Threshold for shorter survival in previous study of cancer patients (Klepin <i>et al</i> , 2014)
Medications, polypharmacy	ATC ^d	0–13	Nurse/ MD	>7 regular medications (ointments & common vitamins excluded)	Previously used in frailty classifications of cancer patients (Ommundsen et al, 2014)
Physical function	TUG°		Nurse	> 14 seconds	Similar cut-offs (≥14/>14.5) used to identify GA deficits in cancer trials (Owusu et al, 2011; Jolly et al, 2015; Williams et al, 2015)
Cognitive function	MMSE ^f	0–30 (Higher score indicates better function)	Nurse	<24 points	Previously used in frailty classifications of cancer patients (Ommundsen et al, 2014)
Depressive symptoms	GDS-15 ⁹	0–15 (Higher score indicates more symptoms)	Patient	≥7 points	Chosen to ensure high specificity (Friedman <i>et al</i> , 2005; Cullum <i>et al</i> ; 2006)
Nutritional status	PG-SGA ^h		Nurse/Patient	Considered severely malnourished by nurse or self-reported weight loss ≥10% the last 6 months.	Weight loss ≥ 10% the last six months is generally considered as an indicator of severe malnutrition (Nitenberg and Raynard, 2000)
Falls			Nurse	Patient reports ≥2 falls the last 6 months	Previously used to identify GA deficits in cancer trials (Owusu <i>et al</i> , 2011; Jolly <i>et al</i> , 2015)
^a Patients were classifi ^b The European Organ	ed as mGA-frail if having ≥ 1 nisation for Research and Trea	of the criteria listed in atment of Cancer Quali	the table. ty of Life Core Ques	tionnaire.	

^cThe Physical Health Section of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire.

^dAnatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System.

^eTimed up and Go test.

^fNorwegian Revised Mini Mental State Examination

^gGeriatric depression scale.

^hPatient-generated Subjective Global Assessment.

Information regarding administered cancer treatment and date of death was registered from the patients' medical records. OS was defined as the main outcome. The study was not designed to assess cancer-specific survival.

Statistical analyses. To define frailty according to mGA, we used criteria similar to the modified Balducci criteria formerly applied by Kristjansson et al (2010) and Ommundsen et al (2014), and defined patients as frail if they met one of the following criteria: dependencies in ADL, had significant comorbidity, or one or more geriatric syndromes defined as impaired function according to MMSE (cognitive function), GDS (depression), SGA (malnutrition) or frequency of falls. Furthermore, in accordance with Winograd's criteria for frailty (Winograd et al, 1991) and similar to Kristjansson et al (2010), we included polypharmacy as a criterion, but also added impairment according to TUG, which has been reported as a sensitive and specific measure of frailty (Savva et al, 2013). Pre-defined cutoffs for impaired function within each domain are summarised in Table 1. To enable comparisons between the two procedures for assessment of frailty, and because very few patients were considered frail by the oncologists, their original threefold classification was dichotomised to either onc-non-frail (patients considered fit) or onc-frail (patients considered frail or intermediate).

Demographic and clinical characteristics as well as mGA domains at baseline were presented as median (min, max), mean (standard deviation (SD)), or frequencies and percentages.

Medical and sociodemographic factors were compared between groups by independent sample *t*-tests or χ^2 -test. The agreement between mGA-non-frail/mGA-frail and the onc-non-frail/onc-frail was assessed by kappa statistics.

Survival time was defined as time from inclusion until death or the last observation date. PS was dichotomised as 0-1 and 2-4. Treatment was classified into four categories based on the first treatment the patients received; (1) Curative treatment, i.e., patients referred for neoadjuvant treatment, adjuvant treatment after curative surgery or curative radiotherapy (2) Palliative chemotherapy, (3) Other palliative systemic cancer treatment (4) Non-systemic palliative treatment the first two months after inclusion (i.e., radiotherapy, palliative surgery or palliative care). The association between mGA-frailty and OS was first assessed by bivariate Cox regression model. The multiple Cox regression model was estimated to adjust for age, sex, cancer type, PS, stage and treatment. The association between clinicians' judgement of being onc-frail and OS was analysed accordingly. Proportional hazards assumption was assessed by examining Schoenfeld's residuals. Multicollinearity issue was considered by calculating variance inflation factor. Kaplan-Meier OS curves were presented. Significance level was set at 0.05.

Missing values in MMSE (n=3) and GDS-15 (n=27) were imputed by drawing one random number per value from the empirical distribution based on non-missing values. In total, 31 patients had one or several missing items in the OARS subscale. Missing items on the OARS subscale were imputed by retrieving information from hospital charts.

			Modi	fied g	geriatric as	sess	ment	The	The oncologists classification			
			mGA-fr	ail	mGA	A-nor	ı-frail	Onc-fra	ail	Ond	:-non-	frail
	N (288)	%	N (140)	%	N (148)	%	P-value	N (104)	%	N (182)	%	P-value
Age, mean (s.d.)	76.9 (5.1)		77.5 (5.2)		76.2 (5.0)		0.032 ^a	77.2 (5.4)		76.6 (5.0)		0.346ª
Gender												
Female	126	44	64	46	62	42	0.513 ^b	43	41	81	45	0.604 ^b
Cancer type												
Colorectal	83	29	39	28	44	30		18	17	64	35	
Lung	59	21	35	25	24	16		34	33	25	14	
Prostate	56	19	22	16	34	23	0.045 ^b	25	24	31	17	< 0.001 ^b
Other gastrointestinal	34	12	19	14	15	10		8	8	25	14	
Breast	30	10	9	6	21	14		6	6	24	13	
Other	26	9	16	11	10	7		13	13	13	7	
Stage												
Localised	73	25	30	21	43	29		12	12	61	34	
Locally advanced	55	19	23	16	32	22	0.091 ^b	22	21	32	18	< 0.001 ^b
Distant metastasis	160	56	87	62	73	49		70	67	89	49	
ECOG PS												
0–1	244	85	106	76	138	93		62	60	181	100	
2–4	43	15	33	24	10	7	<0.001 ^b	42	40	0		< 0.001 ^b
Missing	1		1					0		1		
Treatment												
Curative ^c	91	32	31	22	60	41		14	14	77	42	
Palliative chemotherapy	126	44	75	54	51	35		60	58	66	36	
Other palliative systemic cancer treatment	51	18	22	16	29	20	0.002 ^b	21	20	30	17	< 0.001 ^b
Non-systemic palliative treatment ^d	20	7	12	9	8	5		9	9	9	5	

^bPearson χ^2 -test.

 c Referred for neoadjuvant treatment, adjuvant treatment after curative surgery or curative radiotherapy.

 $\mathbf{d}_{\mathsf{Radiotherapy, palliative surgery or palliative care}$

Bold numbers are statistically significant.

The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics South East Norway and was registered at clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01742442).

RESULTS

Study recruitment and patient characteristics. The approximate time needed to perform the interview and testing by study nurses was 45 min. A total of 307 patients were enroled, 18 had missing baseline questionnaires and one withdrew consent. Thus, 288 (94%) patients underwent the mGA and 286 (93%) were assessed by oncologists. All patients were followed until death or last observation date. The median follow-up time was 16.9 months (min 0.6, max 40). Last observation date was 31 May 2016. By then, 158 (55%) patients had died.

Baseline characteristics are shown in Table 2. Median age was 77 years (min 70, max 95), 126 (44%) were females. The most common cancer types were colorectal (n = 83, 29%), lung (n = 59, 21%) and prostate cancer (n = 56, 19%), the majority of patients had PS 0-1 (n = 244, 85%) and received palliative treatment (n = 197, 68%). Chemotherapy was the primary systemic treatment for 200 (69%) patients, (palliative n = 126, adjuvant n = 74). Almost all patients lived at home (n = 275, 96%), and 93 (34%) of the patients living at home lived alone.

Frailty according to classification procedure. According to mGA, 140 (49%) patients were frail. The three most common frailty domains were comorbidity (n = 82, 28%), polypharmacy (n=37, 13%) and malnutrition (n=43, 15%) (Table 3). Overall, 73 (25%) patients had a deficit in one mGA domain, 42 (15%) in two domains and 25 (9%) in three or more. The oncologists considered 15 patients (5%) as frail and 89 (31%) as intermediate,

Table 3. Frailty accordiscores of the different	ng to m scales	GA cate	egory and me	edian
	No. frail	%	Median (min, max)	No. missing
Nutritional status, malnutrition ^a	43	15		24
Comorbidity (OARS > 3)	82	28	3 (0–9)	1
Medications, polypharmacy (>7)	37	13	4 (0–13)	0
Falls (≥2)	10	3		1
Activities of daily living ^b	12	4		5
Depressive symptoms (GDS≥7)	35	12	2 (0–13)	4
Physical function (TUG > 14s)	18	6	8 (4–25)	13
Cognitive function (MMSE<24)	9	3	29 (19–30)	0
Frail according to any category	140	49		
^a Self-reported ≥ 10% weight loss by nurse. No. with missing informa ^b Patient-reported on Question 5 B	the last 6 m ation about EORTC QLC	ionths or cl weight loss 2 C30.	assified as severely last 6 months fron	malnourished patient.

giving a total of 104 (36%) onc-frail according to the dichotomised classification.

According to both classifications, there were significantly more patients with good PS and curative treatment among the non-frail than among the frail (Table 2). For the oncologists' classification, there were significant differences in cancer type and stage of disease between frail and non-frail patients, i.e., the most frequent cancer types were lung cancer in the onc-frail group and colorectal

cancer in the onc-non-frail group. The onc-non-frail group also comprised significantly more patients with localised disease (Table 2). When comparing the mGA-frail and mGA-non-frail patients, similar findings with significantly more frequent lung cancer in the mGA-frail group was found for cancer type.

In the small subgroup classified as frail by the oncologists in the original threefold classification, all patients had a poor PS. All but one had PS 2–4, and of the six patients in the overall cohort with PS 3–4, five belonged to this group. Otherwise their characteristics were similar to the overall onc-frail cohort: The most common diagnosis was lung cancer (33%), the majority had metastatic disease (67%), and none received treatment with curative intention.

The mGA-frail/mGA-non-frail classification coincided with the onc-frail/onc-non-frail classification for 187 (65%) patients; 72 (25%) patients were found mGA-frail and onc-frail, while 115 (40%) patients were mGA-non-frail and onc-non-frail. A total of 67 (23%) patients were classified as mGA-frail, but judged by the clinicians to be fit. In comparison to those who were both mGA-frail and oncfrail, this group included fewer patients with lung cancer (15% vs 35%), and PS 2-4 (0% vs 44%), but larger proportions of patients with colorectal cancer (39% vs 17%), localised disease (30% vs 14%), PS 0 (61% vs 3%) and curative treatment (33% vs 13%) (Supplementary material). Hence, favourable cancer-related prognostic factors were more frequent among these 67 patients. In terms of mGA deficits, the majority of these patients had one deficit (n = 46, 69%), whereas only 36% (n = 26) had one deficit among those who were both mGA-frail and onc-frail. The most frequent mGA deficit missed by the oncologists was comorbidity. A total of 32 (11%) patients were mGA-non-frail and onc-frail. The frequency of established, negative cancer-related prognostic factors (lung cancer, poor PS, advanced stages of disease, palliative treatment) was high in this group, similar to the group that was both mGA-frail and onc-frail.

The kappa statistic was 0.30 (95% CI 0.19; 0.41), indicating only fair agreement between the oncologists' clinical judgement and the mGA.

OS according to frailty status. Median OS was 21.5 months, 93 (32%) patients died within their first year of follow-up. Both mGA-frail and onc-frail patients had poorer median OS compared with mGA-non-frail and onc-non-frail patients, respectively (mGA-frail: 15.0 months, mGA-non-frail: 29.1 months; P < 0.001) (onc-frail: 12.9 months, onc-non-frail: 27.4 months; P < 0.001). The few patients (5%) originally categorised as frail by the oncologists, had a median OS of only 7.4 months.

In bivariate Cox regression analyses, mGA-frail and onc-frail were both significantly negatively associated with OS (Table 4 and Figure 1A and B). The HR for mGA-frail was 1.86 (95% CI 1.36; 2.56) (P < 0.001) and the HR for onc-frail was 1.94 (95% CI 1.41; 2.66) (P < 0.001). In analyses adjusting for age, sex, cancer type, PS, stage and treatment, only mGA frailty was an independent negative prognostic factor for OS with a HR of 1.61 (95% CI 1.14; 2.27) (P = 0.007).

Finally, we explored possible differences in survival between four groups of patients; frail according to both assessments, nonfrail according to both assessments, frail according to only the mGA, and frail only according to our onc-frail definition. Kaplan-Meier OS curves of these four patient groups are presented in Figure 1C. The group classified as non-frail according to both assessments had the best OS and the group classified as frail according to both assessments had the poorest OS.

DISCUSSION

We found only fair agreement between frailty classified by a systematic, modified GA, and the oncologists' clinical judgement of

frailty. The oncologists classified very few patients as frail, and even when pooling frail and intermediate patients (according to the oncologists), they missed almost half of the patients who were frail according to the mGA. The oncologists most commonly missed frailty due to comorbidity. Although both classification procedures succeeded in identifying patients with poorer survival, only mGAfrailty remained significantly associated to OS when other, established cancer related prognostic factors such as cancer type, stage, PS and treatment were taken into account.

The finding that physicians are more conservative in rating frailty than a systematic GA is in accordance with the results of others (Wedding *et al*, 2007; Tucci *et al*, 2009). To the best of our knowledge, no former study of cancer patients has reported the prognostic value of frailty rated merely by the oncologists' clinical judgement. Consistent with our findings, a study found physician-rated health to be prognostic for survival (Clough-Gorr *et al*, 2010). In that study, however, being considered moderately ill/severely ill by the physician was an independent prognostic factor. As only breast cancer patients with stage I-III were included, and neither PS nor treatment was taken into account, differences in patient populations and analyses may explain why the results were somewhat different from ours. The prognostic importance of being mGA frail is consistent with previous studies (Basso *et al*, 2008; Tucci *et al*, 2009; Ommundsen *et al*, 2014).

Our results suggest that the oncologists emphasise cancer-related factors when asked to rate frailty. Unfavourable prognostic factors such as lung cancer and advanced stage of disease were significantly more frequent in the onc-frail group compared with the onc-non-frail. The prognostic value of the oncologists' frailty assessment was not independent of other well-established prognostic factors. Furthermore, established negative cancer related prognostic factors were frequent among patients who were classified as onc-frail and not mGA frail, whereas the opposite was the case for those who were mGA-frail and onc-non-frail. Thus, the focus of the two classification procedures seemed to be different. Consequently, as demonstrated by our exploratory survival curves, the oncologists identified some patients with no mGA deficits and poor prognosis, whereas a larger group of patients who were frail according to mGA, and also had poorer prognosis compared to non-frail patients, was missed. This indicates that whereas the oncologists are experienced in evaluating cancer related health, training in identifying patients' overall vulnerability, including geriatric problems that may affect prognosis, is insufficient. Thus, increased education and awareness, and preferably inclusion of GA into routine clinical practice, may improve the physicians' ability to identify patients with otherwise unrecognised vulnerability (Wildiers et al, 2014), prevent undertreatment and harmful overtreatment, and reduce the frequency and severity of treatment-related adverse events. However, prospective studies are needed to investigate if GA followed by targeted interventions can improve cancer patients' prognosis and outcomes of therapy.

Strengths of this study are inclusion at multiple centres, a heterogeneous patient group with respect to type of cancer, stage of disease and planned treatment thus representative of a large group of patients commonly seen in clinical practice. The cohort is also fairly large compared with other studies investigating frailty in older cancer patients (Handforth et al, 2015). Our mGA included the main domains recommended for GA (Wildiers et al, 2014; Mohile et al, 2015), and we used well-known and validated scales (Folstein et al, 1975; Fillenbaum and Smyer, 1981; Yesavage et al, 1982; Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991; Ottery, 1996; Persson et al, 1999). As patients needed to have deficits according to only one predefined criterion to be considered mGA-frail, we defined rather strict cutoff values in each of the domains included (Table 1) (Balducci and Extermann, 2000; Nitenberg and Raynard, 2000; Friedman et al, 2005; Cullum et al, 2006; Owusu et al, 2011; Klepin et al, 2014; Ommundsen et al, 2014; Jolly et al, 2015; Williams et al, 2015). Still, the validity of our mGA and chosen cutoff is open for discussion as

Table 4. Cox regression analys	ses of the	association betw	een both f	ailty classifications	and overal	l survival		
		Unadjusted		Adjusted model v	vith mGA ^a	Adjusted model with oncologists classification ^a		
	N 288	HR (95% CI)	P-value	HR (95% CI)	P-value	HR (95% CI)	P-value	
Systematic mGA	1						I	
mGA-non-frail mGA-frail	148 140	1.86 (1.36; 2.56)	< 0.001	1.61 (1.14; 2.27)	0.007			
Oncologists' assessment								
Onc-non-frail Onc-frail Age (continuous)	182 104	1.94 (1.41; 2.66) 1.02 (0.99; 1.05)	< 0.001 0.185	1.05 (1.01; 1.09)	0.010	1.43 (0.97; 2.10) 1.06 (1.02; 1.10)	0.071 0.002	
Gender								
Male Female	162 126	1 ^b 0,64 (0.46; 0.89)	0.007	1 ^b 0.62 (0.41; 0.93)	0.019	1 ^b 0.66 (0.45; 0.98)	0.040	
Cancer type								
Breast Prostate Other gastrointestinal Lung Colorectal Other	30 56 34 59 83 26	1 ^b 7.18 (2.20; 23.42) 19.31 (5.84; 63.79) 16.28 (5.05; 52.43) 4.37 (1.34; 14.26) 8.40 (2.43; 29.05)	0.001 <0.001 <0.001 0.014 0.001	1 ^b 6.25 (1.75; 22.32) 5.17 (1.48; 18.13)	n.s. 0.005 0.010 n.s. n.s.	1 ^b 7.59 (2.12; 27.20) 5.85 (1.67; 20.51)	n.s. 0.002 0.006 n.s. n.s.	
Stage								
Local Locally advanced Metastasised	73 55 160	1 ^b 3.04 (1.69; 5.47) 4.63 (2.77; 7.74)	<0.001 <0.001	1 ^b 1.84 (0.95; 3.58)	n.s. 0.071	1 ^b 1.77 (0.91; 3.43)	n.s. 0.094	
Treatment								
Curative Palliative chemotherapy Other palliative systemic cancer treatment	91 126 51	1 ^b 7.76 (4.67; 12.89) 2.74 (1.49; 5.05)	< 0.001 0.001	1 ^b 2.54 (1.27; 5.11)	0.009 n.s	1 ^b 2.57 (1.28; 5.18)	0.008 n.s.	
Non-systemic palliative treatment	20	9.47 (4.81; 18.67)	< 0.001	4.95 (2.31; 10.63)	<0.001	6.01 (2.79; 12.97)	< 0.001	
ECOG								
0–1 2–4	244 43	1 ^b 1.79 (1.20; 2.66)	0.004	1 ^b	n.s.	1 ^b	n.s.	
Cox regression analysis adjusted for age, se	ex, diagnosis,	stage, treatment and ECC	G-PS.					

^bReference category.

Bold numbers are statistically significant.



Figure 1. Kaplan Meier curves of overall survival (months) according to (A) mGA-non-frail/mGA frail, (B) onc-non-frail/onc-frail (C) both frailty classifications combined.

no gold standard currently exists (Handforth *et al*, 2015). More importantly, our definition of frailty may be questioned. It was, however, adapted from Balducci's criteria, and a similar approach has formerly been used and found superior to the physical phenotype of frailty in predicting post-operative complications in

cancer patients, as well as being prognostic for survival (Kristjansson *et al*, 2012). We consider the inclusion of TUG as a frailty criterion is a potential strength rather than a weakness. Thus, the main objection may be the use of OARS for comorbidity registration, and that the severity of these conditions was not taken into account.
Despite this, and although our comorbidity criterion was the most frequent reason for mGA frailty, we clearly demonstrate the independent prognostic value of our frailty measure. A frailty prevalence of 49% seems to be well within range of what has been observed in other studies (Handforth *et al*, 2015). Whether our definition actually capture the concept of frailty can, however, not be confirmed and the results should be interpreted with this in mind.

Another study limitation is the lack of data on eligible patients who were referred to the participating clinics and not included in our study. Furthermore, no information about the oncologists was systematically registered. Retrospectively, the participating clinics indicate that approximately 40 consultants evaluated from one to about 27-28 patients each, whereas 28 consultants are confirmed having assessed from one to seven of the mGA frail patients who were missed. An equal share of juniors and seniors with up to 30 years of oncology practice were represented. Thus, their oncological experience varied largely. This might, however, not be relevant when rating frailty. Insufficient training in assessing and managing geriatric syndromes is a widely recognised problem within several settings, including oncology (Hsu, 2016; Morris et al, 2017), and our prevalence of physician-rated frailty was similar to a study in which participating physicians had at least 10 years of clinical experience (Wedding et al, 2007). It should also be noted that dichotomising the oncologists' original threefold classification and thereby comparing a group identified as either intermediate or frail with mGA frail patients, may introduce a risk of misinterpreting the oncologists' assessments. Based on the difference in median survival between the frail patients and the overall cohort defined as onc-frail, there is no doubt that the oncologists were able to identify groups of patients with poor and very poor prognosis, respectively. However, for both groups, this prognostication seemed to be based on well-known negative cancer-related factors. Hence, the fact remains that the oncologists missed to identify a considerable number of patients with poor prognosis and frailty due to geriatric deficits.

In conclusion, our results demonstrate that a mGA can aid the oncologists in identifying otherwise unrecognised frail older patients' with poor prognosis, as well as those non-frail patients without geriatric deficits and thus a better prognosis. The oncologists using their clinical judgement are good at evaluating cancer related prognostic factors, but may need training in geriatric assessment to better assess patient's overall vulnerability and prognosis. A geriatric assessment may thus provide information contributing to oncologists making more appropriate treatment decisions for their old cancer patients.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by Innlandet Hospital Trust and registered at clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01742442). We want to thank the cancer clinics at Innlandet Hospital Trust, Oslo University Hospital and Akershus University Hospital for their participation in the study. A special thanks to the study nurses at all locations who participated in the inclusion and assessment of patients.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

REFERENCES

Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, Filiberti A, Flechtner H, Fleishman SB, De Haes JC, Kaasa S, Klee M, Osoba D, Razavi D, Rofe PB, Schraub S, Sneeuw K, Sullivan M, Takeda F

476

(1993) The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **85**: 365–376.

- Balducci L, Extermann M (2000) Management of cancer in the older person: a practical approach. *Oncologist* 5: 224–237.
- Basso U, Tonti S, Bassi C, Brunello A, Pasetto LM, Scaglione D, Falci C, Beda M, Aversa SM, Stefani M, Castegnaro E, Tamellini F, Monfardini S (2008) Management of Frail and Not-Frail elderly cancer patients in a hospital-based geriatric oncology program. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 66: 163–170.
- Beauchet O, Fantino B, Allali G, Muir SW, Montero-Odasso M, Annweiler C (2011) Timed Up and Go test and risk of falls in older adults: a systematic review. J Nutr Health Aging 15: 933–938.
- Cancer Research UK (2016) Cancer incidence by age. Available at http:// www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/ incidence/age (accessed August 2016).
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K (2013) Frailty in elderly people. Lancet 381: 752–762.
- Clough-Gorr KM, Stuck AE, Thwin SS, Silliman RA (2010) Older breast cancer survivors: geriatric assessment domains are associated with poor tolerance of treatment adverse effects and predict mortality over 7 years of follow-up. J Clin Oncol **28**: 380–386.
- Cullum S, Tucker S, Todd C, Brayne C (2006) Screening for depression in older medical inpatients. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* **21**: 469–476.
- Fillenbaum GG, Smyer MA (1981) The development, validity, and reliability of the OARS multidimensional functional assessment questionnaire. *J Gerontol* **36**: 428–434.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE, Mchugh PR (1975) 'Mini-mental state'. A practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. *J Psychiatr Res* **12**: 189–198.
- Friedman B, Heisel MJ, Delavan RL (2005) Psychometric properties of the 15-item geriatric depression scale in functionally impaired, cognitively intact, community-dwelling elderly primary care patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 53: 1570–1576.
- Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, De Rooij SE, Vos AG, Smorenburg CH, Van Munster BC (2012) Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. *Lancet Oncol* **13**: e437–e444.
- Handforth C, Clegg A, Young C, Simpkins S, Seymour MT, Selby PJ, Young J (2015) The prevalence and outcomes of frailty in older cancer patients: a systematic review. Ann Oncol 26: 1091–1101.
- Hsu T (2016) Educational initiatives in geriatric oncology Who, why, and how? J Geriatr Oncol 7: 390–396.
- Huisingh-Scheetz M, Walston J (2017) How should older adults with cancer be evaluated for frailty? J Geriatr Oncol 8: 8–15.
- Hurria A, Gupta S, Zauderer M, Zuckerman EL, Cohen HJ, Muss H, Rodin M, Panageas KS, Holland JC, Saltz L, Kris MG, Noy A, Gomez J, Jakubowski A, Hudis C, Kornblith AB (2005) Developing a cancer-specific geriatric assessment: a feasibility study. *Cancer* 104: 1998–2005.
- Jolly TA, Deal AM, Nyrop KA, Williams GR, Pergolotti M, Wood WA, Alston SM, Gordon BB, Dixon SA, Moore SG, Taylor WC, Messino M, Muss HB (2015) Geriatric assessment-identified deficits in older cancer patients with normal performance status. *Oncologist* 20: 379–385.
- Klepin HD, Pitcher BN, Ballman KV, Kornblith AB, Hurria A, Winer EP, Hudis C, Cohen HJ, Muss HB, Kimmick GG (2014) Comorbidity, chemotherapy toxicity, and outcomes among older women receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer on a clinical trial: CALGB 49907 and CALGB 361004 (alliance). J Oncol Pract 10: e285–e292.
- Kristjansson SR, Nesbakken A, Jordhoy MS, Skovlund E, Audisio RA, Johannesen HO, Bakka A, Wyller TB (2010) Comprehensive geriatric assessment can predict complications in elderly patients after elective surgery for colorectal cancer: a prospective observational cohort study. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* **76**: 208–217.
- Kristjansson SR, Rønning B, Hurria A, Skovlund E, Jordhøy MS, Nesbakken A, Wyller TB (2012) A comparison of two pre-operative frailty measures in older surgical cancer patients. J Geriatr Oncol 3: 1–7.
- Magnuson A, Allore H, Cohen HJ, Mohile SG, Williams GR, Chapman A, Extermann M, Olin RL, Targia V, Mackenzie A, Holmes HM, Hurria A (2016) Geriatric assessment with management in cancer care: current evidence and potential mechanisms for future research. *J Geriatr Oncol* 7: 242–248.
- Mohile SG, Velarde C, Hurria A, Magnuson A, Lowenstein L, Pandya C, O'Donovan A, Gorawara-Bhat R, Dale W (2015) Geriatric assessment-

guided care processes for older adults: a delphi consensus of geriatric oncology experts. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 13: 1120–1130.

Morris L, Thiruthaneeswaran N, Lehman M, Hasselburg G, Turner S (2017) Are future radiation oncologists equipped with the knowledge to manage elderly patients with cancer? *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* **98**: 743–747.

Nitenberg G, Raynard B (2000) Nutritional support of the cancer patient: issues and dilemmas. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* **34**: 137–168.

- Ommundsen N, Wyller TB, Nesbakken A, Jordhoy MS, Bakka A, Skovlund E, Rostoft S (2014) Frailty is an independent predictor of survival in older patients with colorectal cancer. Oncologist 19: 1268–1275.
- Ottery FD (1996) Definition of standardized nutritional assessment and interventional pathways in oncology. *Nutrition* **12**: S15–S19.

Owusu C, Koroukian SM, Schluchter M, Bakaki P, Berger NA (2011) Screening older cancer patients for a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment: a comparison of three instruments. *J Geriatr Oncol* 2: 121–129.

Persson C, Sjoden PO, Glimelius B (1999) The Swedish version of the patientgenerated subjective global assessment of nutritional status: gastrointestinal vs urological cancers. *Clin Nutr* 18: 71–77.

- Podsiadlo D, Richardson S (1991) The timed 'Up & Go': a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 39: 142–148.
- Savva GM, Donoghue OA, Horgan F, O'Regan C, Cronin H, Kenny RA (2013) Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 68: 441–446.
- Schiller JH, Harrington D, Belani CP, Langer C, Sandler A, Krook J, Zhu J, Johnson DH (2002) Comparison of four chemotherapy regimens for advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 346: 92–98.

Soubeyran P, Bellera C, Goyard J, Heitz D, Cure H, Rousselot H, Albrand G, Servent V, Jean OS, Van Praagh I, Kurtz JE, Perin S, Verhaeghe JL, Terret C, Desauw C, Girre V, Mertens C, Mathoulin-Pelissier S, Rainfray M (2014) Screening for vulnerability in older cancer patients: the ONCODAGE Prospective Multicenter Cohort Study. *PLoS One* 9: e115060. Syse A (2012) Cancer incidence, prevalence and survival in an aging Norwegian population. *Norsk Epidemiologi* **22**: 109–120.

- Tucci A, Ferrari S, Bottelli C, Borlenghi E, Drera M, Rossi G (2009) A comprehensive geriatric assessment is more effective than clinical judgment to identify elderly diffuse large cell lymphoma patients who benefit from aggressive therapy. *Cancer* 115: 4547–4553.
- Wedding U, Kodding D, Pientka L, Steinmetz HT, Schmitz S (2007) Physicians' judgement and comprehensive geriatric assessment (CGA) select different patients as fit for chemotherapy. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 64: 1–9.
- Wildiers H, Heeren P, Puts M, Topinkova E, Janssen-Heijnen ML, Extermann M, Falandry C, Artz A, Brain E, Colloca G, Flamaing J, Karnakis T, Kenis C, Audisio RA, Mohile S, Repetto L, Van Leeuwen B, Milisen K, Hurria A (2014) International Society of Geriatric Oncology consensus on geriatric assessment in older patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 32: 2595–2603.
- Williams GR, Deal AM, Nyrop KA, Pergolotti M, Guerard EJ, Jolly TA, Muss HB (2015) Geriatric assessment as an aide to understanding falls in older adults with cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 23: 2273–2280.
- Winograd CH, Gerety MB, Chung M, Goldstein MK, Dominguez FJR, Vallone R (1991) Screening for frailty: criteria and predictors of outcomes. *J Am Geriatr Soc* 39: 778–784.
- Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, Lum O, Huang V, Adey M, Leirer VO (1982) Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. J Psychiatr Res 17: 37–49.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-Share Alike 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/

© The Author(s) named above 2017

Supplementary Information accompanies this paper on British Journal of Cancer website (http://www.nature.com/bjc)

Original Article



Frailty identified by geriatric assessment is associated with poor functioning, high symptom burden and increased risk of physical decline in older cancer patients: Prospective observational study Palliative Medicine 2019, Vol. 33(3) 312–322 © The Author(s) 2019 © © © © Article reuse guidelines: sagepub.com/journals-permissions DOI: 10.1177/0269216319825972 journals.sagepub.com/home/pmj



Lene Kirkhus^{1,2} ^[D], Jūratė Šaltytė Benth^{1,3,4}, Bjørn Henning Grønberg^{5,6}, Marianne Jensen Hjermstad⁷, Siri Rostoft^{2,8}, Magnus Harneshaug^{1,2}, Geir Selbæk^{1,9,10}, Torgeir Bruun Wyller^{2,8} and Marit Slaaen Jordhøy^{2,11}

Abstract

Background: Maintaining quality of life including physical functioning is highly prioritized among older cancer patients. Geriatric assessment is a recommended approach to identify patients with increased vulnerability to stressors (frailty). How frailty affects quality of life and physical functioning in older cancer patients has scarcely been investigated.

Aim: Focusing on physical functioning and global quality of life, we investigated whether frailty identified by a geriatric assessment was associated with higher risk of quality-of-life deterioration during cancer treatment and follow-up.

Design: Prospective, observational study. Patients were classified as frail or non-frail by a modified geriatric assessment. Quality of life was measured using the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality-of-Life Questionnaire at inclusion, 2, 4, 6 and 12 months.

Setting: Eight Norwegian outpatient cancer clinics.

Participants: Patients ≥70 years with solid tumours referred for palliative or curative systemic medical cancer treatment.

Results: Among 288 patients included, 140 (49%) were frail and 148 (51%) non-frail. Frail patients consistently reported poorer scores on all functioning and symptom scales. Independent of age, gender and major cancer-related factors, frail patients had significantly poorer physical functioning and global quality of life during follow-up, and opposed to non-frail patients they had both a clinically and statistically significant decline in physical functioning from baseline until 12 months.

Conclusions: Geriatric assessment identifies frail patients with increased risk of physical decline, poor functioning and high symptom burden during and following cancer treatment. Frail patients should therefore receive early supportive or palliative care.

Keywords

Geriatric assessment, frailty, quality of life, cancer, observational study, EORTC QLQ-C30

¹Centre for Old Age Psychiatric Research, Innlandet Hospital Trust, Ottestad, Norway

³HØKH, Research Centre, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway ⁴Institute of Clinical Medicine, Campus Ahus, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway ⁵The Cancer Clinic, St. Olav's Hospital, Trondheim University Hospital, Trondheim, Norway ⁸Department of Geriatric Medicine, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway

- ⁹Norwegian National Advisory Unit on Ageing and Health, Vestfold Hospital Trust, Tønsberg, Norway
- ¹⁰Institute of Health and Society, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway
- ¹¹The Cancer Unit, Innlandet Hospital Trust, Hamar Hospital, Hamar, Norway

Corresponding author:

Lene Kirkhus, Centre for Old Age Psychiatric Research, Innlandet Hospital Trust, P.O. box 68, 2313 Ottestad, Norway. Email: lene.kirkhus@gmail.com

²Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

⁶Department of Clinical and Molecular Medicine, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway

⁷European Palliative Care Research Centre (PRC), Department of Oncology, Oslo University Hospital and Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

What is already known about the topic?

- Frailty identified by geriatric assessment is associated with increased risk of death and treatment complications in older cancer patients.
- Although geriatric assessment is recommended for older cancer patients, it is rarely implemented into clinical practice.
- Studies investigating the impact of frailty on highly relevant outcomes like physical functioning and quality of life are scarce.

What this paper adds (outcome)?

- Frailty identified by geriatric assessment independently predicts a clinically significant decline in physical functioning.
- Frailty is associated with worse global quality of life, poorer functioning and a higher symptom burden throughout the cancer trajectory

Implications for practice, theory or policy

 Including routine geriatric assessment for older cancer patients undergoing systemic medical cancer treatment will aid oncologists in identifying frail patients who need early supportive and palliative care.

Introduction

Prolonging survival is usually considered the main goal of cancer care. However, maintaining or improving quality of life can be equally important. This applies especially to older patients, who have poorer survival in comparison with their younger counterparts and may be less willing to exchange current quality of life for smaller survival benefits.^{1,2} The quality-of-life concept embraces multiple dimensions: emotional, social, existential as well as physical, the latter including aspects such as patient-reported somatic symptoms and physical functioning. Physical functioning is strongly associated with independent living, which is highly prioritized among older patients,^{3,4} and is also a key driver for how they perceive their overall quality of life.^{5,6} Thus, making appropriate treatment decisions for older cancer patients requires knowledge on how quality of life may be affected and ability to identify patients at risk of deterioration. Particular attention to physical functioning seems essential.

Frailty is defined as increased vulnerability to adverse changes in health status⁷ and is associated with increased mortality, postoperative complications and intolerance to cancer treatment.^{8,9} Frail patients have been found to have poorer quality of life than non-frail patients,^{10–12} but longitudinal studies investigating the impact of frailty on quality of life during and after cancer treatment are scarce. Results from those available are not consistent, having shown both similar changes in quality-of-life trajectories of frail and non-frail patients^{10,11} as well as accelerated decline of some dimensions among frail patients.¹³

A challenge to all frailty research is the lack of universally accepted operational criteria. Over 70 different methods for measuring frailty have been developed, most of which are linked to the two dominating pathophysiological theories of frailty: the physical frailty phenotype and the cumulative deficit model.^{14,15} In the oncology literature, geriatric assessment is the recommended approach to identifying frailty¹⁴ and to guide treatment decisions for older patients.¹⁶ This approach includes a systematic assessment of areas such as functional status, mobility, cognitive function, comorbidity and geriatric syndromes.8,16 Still, geriatric assessment remains to be widely implemented into oncology practice, perhaps hampered by its comprehensiveness. Simpler frailty screening tools are more time-efficient and might be easier to implement into clinical practice, but their lower sensitivity and specificity is a challenge.¹⁷ Thus, geriatric assessment is considered the gold standard,¹⁴ although screening tools may be used to select patients for a complete geriatric assessment.¹⁸ There is, however, no general agreement on how frailty should be defined based on a geriatric assessment. Varying domains and thresholds have been applied in different studies,⁸ but the criteria as proposed by Balducci and Extermann¹⁹ have commonly been used.^{20,21}

We have formerly demonstrated that frailty identified by a modified geriatric assessment and a modification of the Balducci criteria^{22,23} was independently predictive of survival in cancer patients \geq 70 years of age.²⁴ In this study, targeting the same population, we aimed at investigating whether frailty was associated with higher risk of quality-of-life deterioration during treatment and followup. Our main hypothesis was that patients classified as frail upon start of treatment would experience a steeper decline in both physical functioning and global quality of life than non-frail patients.

Materials and methods

Patients

Patients were consecutively recruited from January 2013 until April 2015 at eight Norwegian outpatient oncology clinics (two university hospitals and six local hospitals). Eligible patients were \geq 70 years and referred for systemic medical cancer treatment (chemotherapy, hormonal or targeted therapy) with a histologically confirmed solid tumour (newly diagnosed or first relapse after previous curative treatment). Patients provided written, informed consent.

Assessments

Oncologists reported cancer type (10th revision of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD-10)), stage of disease,

Area	Assessment method	Scores	Performer	Cut-off value above which patients were defined as frail
Activities of daily living	EORTC QLQ-C30 Q5		Patient	If reported yes, a little/quite a bit/very much on the question 'Do you need help with eating, dressing, washing yourself or using the toilet'
Comorbidity	OARS	0–15 (higher score indicates more comorbidities)	Patient	>3 points
Medications and polypharmacy	ATC	0–13	Nurse/physician	>7 regular medications (ointments and common vitamins excluded)
Cognitive function	MMSE	0–30 (higher score indicates better function)	Nurse	<24 points
Depressive symptoms	GDS-15	0–15 (higher score indicates more symptoms)	Patient	≥7 points
Nutritional status	PG-SGA		Nurse/patient	Considered severely malnourished by nurse or self- reported weight loss ≥10% the last 6 months
Falls			Nurse	Patient reports ≥2 falls the last 6 months
Physical function	TUG		Nurse	>14 s

Table 1. The modified geriatric assessment^a.

EORTC QLQ-C30 Q5: European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality-of-Life Questionnaire; OARS: The Physical Health Section of the Older Americans' Resources and Services Questionnaire; ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification System; MMSE: Norwegian Revised Mini Mental State Examination; GDS-15: geriatric depression scale–15 items; PG-SGA: Patient-Generated Subjective Global Assessment; TUG: Timed Up and Go test.

^aPatients were classified as frail if having ≥ 1 of the criteria listed in the table.

planned treatment and the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) performance status. Data on administered treatment were retrieved from the patients' medical records. Physical functioning and global quality of life was assessed by the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality-of-Life Core Questionnaire (QLQ-C30)²⁵ at inclusion and after 2, 4, 6 and 12 months. QLQ-C30 consists of 30 questions comprising five functioning scales, nine symptom scales/items and a global quality of life scale. The functioning scales include physical, role, social, cognitive and emotional functioning. Symptoms include fatigue, pain, nausea/vomiting, sleep disturbances (insomnia), appetite loss, diarrhoea, dyspnoea and constipation and financial impact. The raw scores are transformed into scales from 0 to 100 points.²⁶ Higher scores on the functioning and global quality-of-life scales represent better functioning, whereas higher scores on symptom scales/items indicate a higher symptom burden.

Frailty was identified by a geriatric assessment which we have referred to as modified since it was not performed by an interdisciplinary team, but by trained oncology nurses and patients' self-report,²⁴ using well-known and validated instruments for each included domain^{27–31} (Table 1). Our frailty definition was predefined, and following the Balducci

criteria, patients were categorized as frail if they fulfilled at least one of the following: dependencies on activities of daily living, significant comorbidity or one or more geriatric syndromes (cognitive function, depression, malnutrition and falls). Similar to Kristjansson et al.,²² we included polypharmacy as a criterion and added impairment according to Timed Up and Go,²⁷ a sensitive and specific measure of frailty.³² Cut-off values for each domain were chosen in line with former reports and practice (Table 1).^{23,33–40} A detailed explanation is found in a previous paper.²⁴ To screen for deficits in activities of daily living, a question from the QLQ-C30 physical functioning scale ('Do you need help with eating, dressing, washing yourself or using the toilet?') was used.

Statistical analyses

Medical and sociodemographic factors were compared between frail and non-frail patients by independent samples *t*-tests or χ^2 -test. Our predefined main endpoints were changes in physical functioning during the first 2 months of follow-up (primary) and changes in physical functioning and global quality of life during 12 months (secondary). Changes during 12 months for the remaining QLQ-C30 scales and items were assessed by exploratory analyses using the same approach as for the main endpoints.

Differences between frail and non-frail patients in changes over time were assessed by linear mixed models. All models included random intercepts for cancer clinics and for patients nested within cancer clinics to account for intra-patient correlations due to repeated measurements and possible within-clinic cluster effect. The models also included fixed effects for frailty group, time (as second-order polynomial to account for non-linear trends in models assessing data on 12-month follow-up), and the interaction term between frailty group and time (frail \times time). A significant interaction term would imply that there were differences in change between frail and non-frail patients. Models adjusting for age, sex, cancer type, performance status, stage and treatment were also estimated. Treatment was classified as (1) curative treatment, that is, patients referred for neoadjuvant chemotherapy treatment, adjuvant chemotherapy and/or endocrine treatment after curative surgery or curative radiotherapy; (2) palliative chemotherapy; (3) other palliative systemic cancer treatment and (4) non-systemic palliative treatment the first 2 months after inclusion (i.e. radiotherapy, surgery or palliative care). Performance status was classified as 0–1 or 2–4 and stage as local, locally advanced or metastatic. The results were tabulated as regression coefficients with standard errors (SE) and p values for the primary and secondary analyses of physical functioning and global quality of life. The results from unadjusted models were also presented graphically as estimated mean values with 95% confidence intervals (CI) for all QLQ-C30 scales/items. Within- and between-group differences with the corresponding 95% CI and p values were calculated from the models. Significance level was set at 5%. A difference of \geq 10 points on the functional and symptom scales/items was considered a clinically significant change.41

Missing values in QLQ-C30 multi-item scales were imputed according to the official manual if at least half of the scale had been answered.²⁶ The study was approved by the Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics South East Norway 09.02.2012 (Reference number 2012/104) and registered at clinicaltrials.gov (NCT01742442).

Results

Patients

From January 2013 to April 2015, a total of 307 patients were included. One patient withdrew consent and 18 had missing baseline questionnaires and therefore incomplete geriatric assessments. Thus, 288 (94%) patients were eligible for the present frailty study. A total of 140 patients (49%) fulfilled one or more of the predefined criteria and were categorized as frail. The most frequent deficits were comorbidity (n = 82, 28%), malnutrition (n = 43, 15%), polypharmacy

(n = 37, 13%) and depressive symptoms (n = 35, 12%). In all, 40 patients (14%) had deficits in physical functional aspects: activities of daily living (12 patients), Timed Up and Go (18 patients) and number of falls (10 patients). Nine patients (3%) had cognitive impairment. Of the 140 patients categorized as frail, 67 (48%) patients had two or more registered deficits. Only one patient was classified frail based on the activities of daily living criterion alone, which was screened for by using question 5 from the physical functioning scale of QLQ-C30.

The patients' baseline characteristics are shown in Table 2. Mean age was 76.9 (5.1) years, 56% were male and the most common cancer types were colorectal (29%), lung (21%) and prostate cancer (19%). The majority of patients had distant metastases (56%), and overall, 68% received palliative treatment. A higher percentage of frail compared to non-frail patients had lung cancer, distant metastases, performance status 2–4 and received palliative chemotherapy.

At 2, 4, 6 and 12 months of follow-up, 13 (5%), 27 (9%), 52 (18%) and 93 (32%) patients of the overall cohort had died. Median overall survival was shorter among frail than non-frail patients (15 vs 29 months).²⁴ The first 12 months, 83 (59%) of frail and 112 (76%) of non-frail patients were alive, resulting in relative risk of death of 1.7 (95% CI: 1.2–2.4) for frail compared to non-frail patients. The proportion of completed questionnaires ranged between 89% and 95% for those alive at the various assessment points (Figure 1). The mean proportion of missing items ranged from 0.51% to 0.96%.

Quality-of-life analyses

At baseline, frail patients reported poorer functioning and more symptoms than non-frail patients on all scales/ items (Table 2). Both frail and non-frail patients reported a statistically, but not clinically significant decline in physical functioning from baseline to 2 months. The decline was not significantly different between frail and non-frail patients (unadjusted model: p = 0.181, adjusted model: p = 0.218). According to the unadjusted linear mixed model, there were, however, statistically significant differences in physical functioning scores between the two groups in disfavour of frail patients, mean 18.2 (95% CI: 13.3-23.1) points at baseline and 15.0 (CI 9.9; 20.0) points at 2 months (p < 0.001; Figure 2, Table 3). The differences remained statistically significant when adjusting for age, gender, cancer type, stage, performance status and treatment (12.2 (95% CI: 7.5-16.9) points at baseline and 9.2 (95% CI: 4.4–14.1) at 2 months; *p* < 0.001; Figure 2, Table 3).

For our secondary endpoint, physical functioning during 12 months of follow-up, a statistically significant decline was found for non-frail patients from baseline to 6 months and for frail patients from baseline to both 6 and

Table 2.	Baseline patient	characteristics according to frailty status.	
	Basenne patient		

	All		Frail		Non-frail		p value
	N (288)	%	N (140)	%	N (148)	%	
Age, mean (SD)	76.9 (5.1)		77.5 (5.2)		76.2 (5.0)		0.032*
Gender							
Female	126	44	64	46	62	42	0.513**
Cancer type							
Colorectal	83	29	39	28	44	30	
Lung	59	21	35	25	24	16	0.045**
Prostate	56	19	22	16	34	23	
Other gastrointestinal	34	12	19	14	15	10	
Breast	30	10	9	6	21	14	
Other	26	9	16	11	10	7	
Stage							
Localized	73	25	30	21	43	29	0.091**
Locally advanced	55	19	23	16	32	22	
Distant metastasis	160	56	87	62	73	49	
ECOG performance status							
0–1	244	85	106	76	138	93	
2–4	43	15	33	24	10	7	<0.001**
Missing	1		1				
Treatment							
Curative ^a	91	32	31	22	60	41	
Palliative chemotherapy	126	44	75	54	51	35	0.002**
Other palliative systemic cancer treatment	51	18	22	16	29	20	
Non-systemic palliative treatment ^b	20	7	12	9	8	5	
	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	
Functioning scales and global health status							
Physical functioning	72.9	21.4	63.5	21.3	81.7	17.4	
Global quality of life	64.1	23.1	54.5	22.1	73.4	20.1	
Role functioning	65.5	32.1	52.0	31.7	78.4	26.8	
Emotional functioning	83.9	18.1	77.7	21.1	89.8	12.2	
Cognitive functioning	87.6	16.0	83.6	18.1	91.4	12.7	
Social functioning	76.0	25.9	68.3	28.5	83.2	20.9	
Symptom scales/items							
Fatigue	38.8	24.2	48.7	25.6	29.4	18.5	
Nausea and vomiting	6.8	14.8	10.6	18.7	3.3	8.6	
Pain	24.8	29.4	32.9	31.7	17.1	24.9	
Dyspnoea	25.7	31.4	33.3	34.1	18.5	26.8	
Insomnia	26.2	28.5	32.1	30.9	20.5	24.8	
Appetite loss	21.4	31.4	30.7	36.0	12.6	23.2	
Constipation	24.0	29.3	30.5	32.4	17.9	24.8	
Diarrhoea	15.2	22.4	17.1	24.2	13.2	20.5	

ECOG: Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; SD: standard deviation.

^aReferred for neoadjuvant treatment, adjuvant treatment after curative surgery or curative radiotherapy.

^bRadiotherapy, palliative surgery or palliative care.

*Independent samples t-test.

**Pearson chi-square.

12 months. Only frail patients had a clinically significant (\geq 10 points) decline. In unadjusted models, the decline in physical functioning for frail and non-frail patients was not significantly different (p = 0.089; Table 3, Figure 2). However, when adjusting for age, gender, cancer type, stage, performance status and treatment, the decline was

found to be significantly steeper for frail patients (p = 0.022; Table 3). Thus, the observed difference in scores in disfavour of frail patients during the first 2 months increased throughout the follow-up period and remained statistically and clinically significant, both according to unadjusted (Figure 2, Table 3) and adjusted models (Table 3; p < 0.001).



Figure 1. Flow diagram of patient enrolment and follow-up.

For global quality of life during 12 months of follow-up, there was no significant difference between frail and nonfrail patients in the course of changes (p = 0.369 in unadjusted models; p = 0.273 in adjusted models; Table 3). Both models demonstrated that frail patients had statistically and clinically significantly worse scores compared to non-frail patients at all assessment points (p < 0.001; Figure 2, Table 3).

Unadjusted trajectories for frail and non-frail patients for the remaining functioning and symptom scales are shown in Figures 2 and 3. Differences that were both statistically and clinically significant according to unadjusted and adjusted analyses are indicated. In the adjusted model, frail patients had a clinically and statistically significant decline in role functioning from baseline to 6 months (p < 0.001). None of the other scales showed any clinically significant changes from baseline in the adjusted models, neither in frail nor non-frail groups. Except for diarrhoea (adjusted model, p = 0.023), with a statistically but not clinically significant increase in symptoms from baseline to 6 months for frail patients, the course of the trajectories was not significantly different between the groups. However, adjusted models showed that frail patients had statistically and clinically significant more constipation (p < 0.01) and worse role- (p < 0.001), social- (p < 0.01) and emotional functioning (p < 0.01) at



Figure 2. Global quality-of-life and function scores for frail and non-frail patients at baseline and at 2, 4, 6 and 12 months of followup, according to unadjusted mixed linear models.

*Clinically and statistically significant differences in unadjusted models.

*Clinically and statistically significant differences in adjusted models.

For these QLQ-C30 functioning scales, higher scores indicate better functioning.

all assessments. Accordingly, significant differences between the frailty groups were found at some but not all assessment points for dyspnoea, insomnia, appetite loss and fatigue (Figure 3).

Discussion

In this longitudinal study, older cancer patients were assessed by a modified geriatric assessment, and we identified a group of frail patients who in comparison to nonfrail patients had substantially poorer functioning and more symptoms. Independent of age, gender and major cancer-related prognostic factors, they reported significantly worse global quality of life; physical-, role-, social,and emotional functioning and more constipation during treatment and follow-up. They also reported a long-term decline in physical functioning that was clinically significant and significantly steeper than for non-frail patients.

To the best of our knowledge, this study is the first to report a longitudinal comparison of self-reported physical functioning between frail and non-frail older patients mainly receiving systemic cancer therapy and the first to suggest a more profound deterioration in this quality-oflife dimension among frail patients after adjusting for other relevant confounders. Our finding is supported by two former studies reporting frailty indicators to be predictive of observer-rated physical decline in older cancer patients receiving chemotherapy or neoadjuvant/adjuvant treatment.^{42,43} No such impact of frailty was found in studies of patients receiving surgery and radiochemotherapy, respectively.^{10,11} In the latter, however, specific assessments of physical functioning were reported only at 4 weeks after start of therapy, and as indicated by our results, a significant decline may take longer to develop. It is also likely that a protracted course of chemotherapy, which was the treatment received by most of our patients,

Variable	Unadjusted model			Adjusted model ^a		
	Coefficient	SE	p value	Coefficient	SE	p value
Physical functioning the first 2 months	b					
Intercept	81.86	1.73	<0.001	117.90	18.11	<0.001
Frailty (ref. non-frail) ^c	-18.20	2.48	<0.001	-12.21	2.40	<0.001
Time of 2 months (ref. baseline)	-7.02	1.69	<0.001	-7.36	1.67	<0.001
Frail $ imes$ time ^d	3.25	2.43	0.181	2.98	2.41	0.218
Physical functioning the first 12 month	IS ^b					
Intercept	80.41	1.61	<0.001	124.74	18.52	<0.001
Frailty (ref. non-frail) ^c	-16.80	2.23	<0.001	-10.44	2.31	<0.001
Time	-2.03	0.35	<0.001	-2.13	0.35	<0.001
Time ²	0.13	0.03	<0.001	0.14	0.03	<0.001
$Frail imes time^d$	-0.40	0.23	0.089	-0.49	0.21	0.022
Global quality of life the first 12 month	ıs ^b					
Intercept	71.62	1.65	<0.001	87.78	18.62	<0.001
Frailty (ref. non-frail) ^c	-15.27	2.24	<0.001	-12.59	2.37	<0.001
Time	-0.83	0.41	0.046	-0.91	0.41	0.029
Time ²	0.07	0.03	0.034	0.07	0.03	0.025
Frail $ imes$ time ^d	-0.23	0.25	0.369	-0.28	0.25	0.273

Table 3. Linear mixed models of the trajectories of physical functioning in frail versus non-frail patients during 2 months of followup and of physical functioning and global quality of life during the first 12 months of follow-up.

SE: standard error.

^aAdjusted for age, gender, cancer type, stage, performance status and treatment.

^bPhysical functioning and global quality of life from the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core Questionnaire.

^cFrailty (ref. non-frail) refers to estimates of the difference in score between frail and non-frail patients.

^dFrail × time refers to the interaction term between the frail group and time. A significant interaction term implies significant differences in changes over time between frail and non-frail patients.

Bold numbers are statistically significant.

may have a larger impact on frail patients' physical functioning than surgery.

The results of the few previous studies that have investigated how frail older cancer patients perceive their quality of life are largely consistent with our remaining findings. Frail patients seem to be at a considerable disadvantage throughout the disease trajectory, reporting a substantial symptom burden and poor functioning compared to non-frail patients.^{10,11,44} In line with the findings for most quality-of-life aspects in our cohort, others have also found that although quality of life is poorer, changes mainly follow a similar course in frail and non-frail cancer patients. Increased risks of long-term deterioration has, however, been suggested.^{13,44} How an observed similarity of changes in quality-of-life trajectories of frail and nonfrail patients should be interpreted is not obvious. One might argue that this indicates that frail patients tolerate cancer therapy equally to non-frail patients. However, as frail patients are worse off from the start, changes in the same magnitude may affect these patients more profoundly than those who are non-frail.

Our study has several strengths, that is, a fairly large patient cohort, 12 months follow-up, use of a well-validated quality-of-life questionnaire, high completion rate and statistics controlling for major factors that may affect quality of life. Still, the results should be interpreted with some caution. First, the population was heterogeneous, details of the chemotherapy regimens were not accounted for and we cannot rule out that frail patients received modified or less aggressive regimens than those who were non-frail. This is, however, unlikely as the physicians were blinded for the results of the modified geriatric assessment. Also, as formerly reported, there was only a fair agreement between the frailty classification based on this assessment and physician-rated frailty.²⁴ Second, we were not able to accurately register the number of potentially eligible patients who were not included at the various participating clinics. According to the project nurses, however, non-inclusion mainly occurred by random due to lack of time to identify and include patients among their routine clinical tasks. Still, there is some risk that the frailest patients with the poorest overall health more often declined participation or were less frequently invited to participate due to concerns of the additional burden the study tests represented. Third, due to a higher death rate among frail patients, attrition bias may have resulted in underestimation of differences between frail and non-frail patients.⁴⁵ Fourth, physical function, as assessed by Timed Up and Go, number of falls and one item from the physical functioning scale of the EORTC QLQ-C30, is a key component of a geriatric assessment and frailty definition and can probably explain some of



Figure 3. Symptom scores for frail and non-frail patients at baseline and at 2, 4, 6 and 12 months of follow-up, according to unadjusted mixed linear models.

*Clinically and statistically significant differences in unadjusted models.

*Clinically and statistically significant differences in adjusted models.

For these QLQ-C30 symptom scales/items, higher scores indicate more symptoms.

the baseline difference we found in functioning between frail and non-frail patients. However, it is not inherent in our frailty definition that frail patients experience a steeper decline in physical functioning compared to nonfrail. Moreover, only a minority of the patients fulfilled these criteria, and the main point to be noted is the overall burden of problems among these frail patients. An additional point of consideration is that we used one question from the QLQ-C30 physical functioning scale, which was also our main endpoint, to identify frailty. Only one patient was classified as frail based on this criterion alone; hence, we believe that this did not affect our results. Finally, as there is no consensus on how frailty should be identified, it may be discussed if our frailty definition captures the true concept. One may argue that it was too broad as only one criterion was needed to be classified as frail. A stricter definition might have resulted in larger discrepancies between frail and non-frail patients. However, our approach was adapted from the Balducci criteria, and a similar definition was found superior to the physical frailty phenotype in identifying postoperative complications in cancer patients.⁴⁶ There is a need for standardisations of cut-off-values for frailty;⁸ nevertheless, the consistency of findings across studies indicates that geriatric assessment can identify patients who need particular attention.

Our study shows that frailty as identified by a modified geriatric assessment has a severe impact on the patients' quality of life throughout the disease trajectory, independent of cancer-related factors. Thus, by introducing geriatric assessment into clinical work, a more correct individualization of treatment can be achieved.47 Furthermore, targeted interventions to improve quality of life and maintain functioning may be initiated. Early introduction of palliative care has been shown to improve quality of life, reduce aggressiveness of treatment and improve survival.48 Similar studies in frail old cancer patients are needed to examine whether improvement of quality of life can be obtained. Ideally, these studies should include interventions on geriatric deficits and measure their effect on quality of life. Particular attention should be paid on avoiding physical decline, which may considerably increase the risk of dependency, a predominant fear among older patients.^{3,4} As indicated by the findings in our study, frail patients report significantly poorer physical functioning than those who are non-frail, meaning that any decline is likely to have more serious consequences.

In conclusion, introducing geriatric assessment into routine clinical practice may help oncologists identify patients with significantly worse quality of life and enable better individualization of treatment. This may also facilitate early and correctly targeted interventions. Future research is, however, needed to explore whether intervening on frailty domains can improve functional status, global quality of life, symptom burden or tolerance to cancer therapy.

Acknowledgements

We want to thank all the patients for their dedicated participation in our project. We also want to thank the following nurses for their contribution in the assessment and follow-up of the patients: Signe Eldevik, Toril Nistad, Anne Mari Hanstad, Gunvor Hjelle, Bjørg Baklien, Gunhild Evenrud, Anne Glorvigen Hanstad, Astrid Rusten, Marit Opheim Auning, Eva Iren Haugen, Kathrine Engdal Horn and Unn-Cathrin Buvarp and an addition thanks to the local investigators Morten Brændengen, Oslo University Hospital and Olav Yri at Akershus University Hospital.

Declaration of conflicting interests

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship and/or publication of this article.

Funding

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship and/or publication of this article: This study was publicly funded by Innlandet Hospital Trust.

ORCID iD

Lene Kirkhus (D) https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9271-5393

References

- Yellen SC, Cella DF and Leslie WT. Age and clinical decision making in oncology patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 1994; 86(23): 1766–1770.
- De Angelis R, Sant M, Coleman MP, et al. Cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007 by country and age: results of EUROCARE-5 a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol* 2014; 15(1): 23–34.
- Fried TR, Bradley EH, Towle VR, et al. Understanding the treatment preferences of seriously ill patients. N Engl J Med 2002; 346(14): 1061–1066.
- Salkeld G, Cameron ID, Cumming RG, et al. Quality of life related to fear of falling and hip fracture in older women: a time trade off study. *BMJ* 2000; 320(7231): 341–346.
- Molzahn A, Skevington SM, Kalfoss M, et al. The importance of facets of quality of life to older adults: an international investigation. *Qual Life Res* 2010; 19(2): 293–298.
- Rizzoli R, Reginster JY, Arnal JF, et al. Quality of life in sarcopenia and frailty. *Calcif Tissue Int* 2013; 93(2): 101–120.
- Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, et al. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet 2013; 381: 752–762.
- Handforth C, Clegg A, Young C, et al. The prevalence and outcomes of frailty in older cancer patients: a systematic review. *Ann Oncol* 2015; 26(6): 1091–1101.
- Vermeiren S, Vella-Azzopardi R, Beckwee D, et al. Frailty and the prediction of negative health outcomes: a meta-analysis. *J Am Med Dir Assoc* 2016; 17(12): 1163.e1–1163.e17.
- Pottel L, Lycke M, Boterberg T, et al. Serial comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly head and neck cancer patients undergoing curative radiotherapy identifies evolution of multidimensional health problems and is indicative of quality of life. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)* 2014; 23(3): 401–412.
- Ronning B, Wyller TB, Nesbakken A, et al. Quality of life in older and frail patients after surgery for colorectal cancer – a follow-up study. *J Geriatr Oncol* 2016; 7(3): 195–200.
- Kim YJ, Kim JH, Park MS, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment in Korean elderly cancer patients receiving chemotherapy. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol 2011; 137(5): 839–847.
- Mandelblatt JS, Clapp JD, Luta G, et al. Long-term trajectories of self-reported cognitive function in a cohort of older survivors of breast cancer: CALGB 369901 (Alliance). *Cancer* 2016; 122(22): 3555–3563.
- Huisingh-Scheetz M and Walston J. How should older adults with cancer be evaluated for frailty. J Geriatr Oncol 2017; 8(1): 8–15.
- Ethun CG, Bilen MA, Jani AB, et al. Frailty and cancer: implications for oncology surgery, medical oncology, and radiation oncology. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2017; 67(5): 362–377.
- Wildiers H, Heeren P, Puts M, et al. International Society of Geriatric Oncology consensus on geriatric assessment in older patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol 2014; 32(24): 2595–2603.
- 17. Hamaker ME, Jonker JM, de Rooij SE, et al. Frailty screening methods for predicting outcome of a comprehensive geriatric assessment in elderly patients with cancer: a systematic review. *Lancet Oncol* 2012; 13(10): e437–e444.
- Decoster L, Van Puyvelde K, Mohile S, et al. Screening tools for multidimensional health problems warranting a geriatric assessment in older cancer patients: an update on SIOG recommendations dagger. *Ann Oncol* 2015; 26(2): 288–300.

- Balducci L and Extermann M. Management of the frail person with advanced cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 2000; 33(2): 143–148.
- Mohile SG, Xian Y, Dale W, et al. Association of a cancer diagnosis with vulnerability and frailty in older Medicare beneficiaries. J Natl Cancer Inst 2009; 101(17): 1206–1215.
- Biganzoli L, Mislang AR, Di Donato S, et al. Screening for frailty in older patients with early-stage solid tumors: a prospective longitudinal evaluation of three different geriatric tools. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2017; 72(7): 922–928.
- 22. Kristjansson SR, Nesbakken A, Jordhoy MS, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment can predict complications in elderly patients after elective surgery for colorectal cancer: a prospective observational cohort study. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 2010; 76(3): 208–217.
- Ommundsen N, Wyller TB, Nesbakken A, et al. Frailty is an independent predictor of survival in older patients with colorectal cancer. *Oncologist* 2014; 19(12): 1268–1275.
- Kirkhus L, Saltyte Benth J, Rostoft S, et al. Geriatric assessment is superior to oncologists' clinical judgement in identifying frailty. *Br J Cancer* 2017; 117(4): 470–477.
- Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst 1993; 85(5): 365–376.
- Fayers P, Aaronson NK, Bjordal K, et al. *The EORTC QLQ-C30* scoring manual, 3rd ed. Brussels: European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer, 2001.
- Podsiadlo D and Richardson S. The timed 'Up & Go': a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 1991; 39: 142–148.
- Folstein MF, Folstein SE and McHugh PR. 'Mini-mental state' – a practical method for grading the cognitive state of patients for the clinician. J Psychiatr Res 1975; 12(3): 189–198.
- Ottery FD. Definition of standardized nutritional assessment and interventional pathways in oncology. *Nutrition* 1996; 12(1 Suppl.): S15–S19.
- Yesavage JA, Brink TL, Rose TL, et al. Development and validation of a geriatric depression screening scale: a preliminary report. J Psychiatr Res 1982; 17(1): 37–49.
- Fillenbaum GG and Smyer MA. The development, validity, and reliability of the OARS multidimensional functional assessment questionnaire. J Gerontol 1981; 36(4): 428–434.
- Savva GM, Donoghue OA, Horgan F, et al. Using timed upand-go to identify frail members of the older population. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2013; 68(4): 441–446.
- Balducci L and Extermann M. Management of cancer in the older person: a practical approach. *Oncologist* 2000; 5(3): 224–237.
- Nitenberg G and Raynard B. Nutritional support of the cancer patient: issues and dilemmas. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol* 2000; 34(3): 137–168.

- 35. Williams GR, Deal AM, Nyrop KA, et al. Geriatric assessment as an aide to understanding falls in older adults with cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 2015; 23(8): 2273–2280.
- Owusu C, Koroukian SM, Schluchter M, et al. Screening older cancer patients for a Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment: a comparison of three instruments. J Geriatr Oncol 2011; 2(2): 121–129.
- Cullum S, Tucker S, Todd C, et al. Screening for depression in older medical inpatients. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* 2006; 21(5): 469–476.
- Friedman B, Heisel MJ and Delavan RL. Psychometric properties of the 15-item geriatric depression scale in functionally impaired, cognitively intact, community-dwelling elderly primary care patients. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005; 53(9): 1570–1576.
- Klepin HD, Pitcher BN, Ballman KV, et al. Comorbidity, chemotherapy toxicity, and outcomes among older women receiving adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer on a clinical trial: CALGB 49907 and CALGB 361004 (Alliance). J Oncol Pract 2014; 10(5): e285–e292.
- Jolly TA, Deal AM, Nyrop KA, et al. Geriatric assessmentidentified deficits in older cancer patients with normal performance status. *Oncologist* 2015; 20(4): 379–385.
- 41. Osoba D, Rodrigues G, Myles J, et al. Interpreting the significance of changes in health-related quality-of-life scores. *J Clin Oncol* 1998; 16(1): 139–144.
- 42. Hoppe S, Rainfray M, Fonck M, et al. Functional decline in older patients with cancer receiving first-line chemotherapy. *J Clin Oncol* 2013; 31(31): 3877–3882.
- Owusu C, Margevicius S, Schluchter M, et al. Vulnerable elders survey and socioeconomic status predict functional decline and death among older women with newly diagnosed nonmetastatic breast cancer. *Cancer* 2016; 122(16): 2579–2586.
- 44. Pottel L, Lycke M, Boterberg T, et al. G-8 indicates overall and quality-adjusted survival in older head and neck cancer patients treated with curative radiochemotherapy. *BMC Cancer* 2015; 15: 875.
- Elmqvist MA, Jordhoy MS, Bjordal K, et al. Health-related quality of life during the last three months of life in patients with advanced cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 2009; 17(2): 191–198.
- Kristjansson SR, Rønning B, Hurria A, et al. A comparison of two pre-operative frailty measures in older surgical cancer patients. *J Geriatr Oncol* 2012; 3: 1–7.
- 47. Corre R, Greillier L, Le Caer H, et al. Use of a comprehensive geriatric assessment for the management of elderly patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: the phase III randomized ESOGIA-GFPC-GECP 08-02 study. J Clin Oncol 2016; 34(13): 1476–1483.
- Temel JS, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med 2010; 363(8): 733–742.